
West Devon Hub 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Time: 2.00 pm

Venue: Teams

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Jory
Vice Chairman Cllr Samuel

Members: Cllr Edmonds
Cllr Mott
Cllr Leech
Cllr Cheadle

Cllr Moody
Cllr Pearce
Cllr Sellis

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such interests 
they may have in any items to be considered at this meeting.

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination, bias 
or interests in items on this Agenda, then please contact the 
Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention

To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any)

4.  Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 6

Minutes of meeting held 2nd February 2021

5.  Public Questions - a period of up to 15 minutes is available 
to deal with issues raised by the public 

6.  Hub Committee Forward Plan 7 - 10

7.  Lead Hub Committee Member Update - Cllr Jory 

8.  "Better Homes, Better Lives" adoption of South Hams & 
West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026 

11 - 122

9.  Community Housing - Brentor & Lamerton 123 - 138

10.  Month 10 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2020/2021 (to the 
end of January 2021) 

139 - 156

11.  Capital Budget Monitoring 2020/2021 157 - 172

12.  Dog Control Orders 173 - 192

13.  Recommendations arising from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Meeting held on 2 March 2021:

193 - 216

a. Consultation & Engagement Task and Finish 
Group; and



Page No

b. Localities Task and Finish Group.

14.  Deed of Variation in relation to Tamar Valley Mining 
Heritage Project 

217 - 224



This page is intentionally left blank



At a Meeting of the HUB COMMITTEE held via TEAMS on TUESDAY  

the 2nd day of February 2021 at 2:00 pm 

 
 

Present:    Cllr N Jory – Chairman 
    Cllr L Samuel – Vice Chairman 
 

 Cllr R Cheadle    Cllr C Edmonds 
 Cllr A F Leech   Cllr J Moody 
 Cllr C Mott   Cllr T G Pearce
 Cllr D K A Sellis    
 

In attendance:        Chief Executive 
Director of Place and Enterprise 
Section 151 Officer 
Director of Governance & Assurance 
Head of Democratic Services  
Monitoring Officer 
Head of Strategy and Projects 
Head of Housing, Revenues, and Benefits 
Senior Specialist, Accountant Business Partner 
Senior Specialist, Place Making 
Senior Case Manager, Democratic Services 
Specialist, Affordable Housing 
Specialist Democratic Services 
Specialist, Application Support and Training 
Corporate Procurement Officer 
 
Other Members in attendance: 
Cllrs Crozier, Daniel, Ewings, Heyworth, Kemp, 
Musgrave, Ratcliffe, Renders, Southcott, Spettigue, 
Wood and Yelland 
 
 

*HC 50  APOLOGIES 
 No apologies were received.   
 
 
*HC 51 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed and these were recorded as follows: 
 
Cllr M Ewings declared a personal interest in agenda item 7: ‘Revenue Budget 
Proposals for 2021/22’ (Minute HC 55 below refers) and specifically 
recommendation 6 by virtue of being the Chairman of Tavistock Youth Café 
and remained in the meeting during the debate and vote on this item.   
 
 

*HC 52         MINUTES 
The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 8 December 2020 were 
confirmed as a correct record.  

 
 
*HC 53 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 There were no questions submitted by the Public 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
 
*HC 54          HUB COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 

Members were presented with the Hub Committee Forward Plan setting out 
items on the agenda for Hub Committee meetings for the next four months.   
 
The contents of the Forward Plan were agreed, with the addition of the Public 
Space Protection Order report to be brought to the Hub Committee meeting 
on 16 March 2021. 

 
 
HC 55 REVENUE BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2021/22 
 

The Leader presented Members with a report that set out the latest budget 
position for the Revenue Budget for 2021/22 and highlighted specific points 
for consideration, including the pressures inherent on the Council due to the 
Covid Pandemic; that Revenue Support Grant from Central Government was 
now nil; and that the receipt of £70,000 Lower Tier Service Grant had helped 
the Council to present a balanced budget for 2021/22.   
 
Following the Leader’s request for Members to input into the Report on the 
Business Case for providing additional funding to the Community Safety 
Partnership (Appendix F of the attendant report), there followed a full 
discussion, with the resultant alternative recommendation to part iv) of this 
item.  Following proposal, and seconding, this alternative proposal was 
approved. 
 
It was then RESOLVED that the Hub Committee RECOMMENDED to Council:  
 
i) The increase in Council Tax for 2021/22 of £5 (Band D of £241.63 for 

2021/22 – an increase of 10 pence per week or £5 per year – equates 
to a 2.11% increase);  
 

ii) The financial pressures shown in Appendix A of £434,000;  
 

iii) The net contributions to/(from) Earmarked Reserves of £42,500 as 
shown in Appendix A;  

 
iv) The proposed use of £192,772 of New Homes Bonus funding to fund 

the 2021/22 Revenue Budget as set out in 4.24 of the report;  
 

v) The savings of £344,200 as shown in Appendix A;  
 

vi) To request that officers undertake further research before a final 
decision is taken for additional funding to be allocated to the Community 
Safety Partnership, with this research being reported back to Members 
as soon as is practically possible; 

 
vii) That the Total Net Expenditure of the Council is £7,301,695 for 2021/22;  

 
viii) To transfer £281,404 (the fifth tranche of COVID funding as set out in 

11.2 and 1.11 of the report), into a COVID Earmarked Reserve, to 
protect against future COVID losses in 2021/22; 

 
 Page 2



ix) That the level of reserves as set out within this report and the 
assessment of their adequacy and the robustness of budget estimates 
be noted. (NOTE. this is a requirement of Part 2 of the Local 
Government Act 2003).  

 
x) The Environmental Health charges in Appendix D, with no proposed 

increases for 2021/22; 
 

xi) The level of fees and charges set out for Planning Applications and 
Enforcement in Appendix E, with no proposed increases for 2021/22;  

 
xii) The proposed fees and charges for Street Naming as set out at the end 

of Appendix E; 
 

xiii) The proposed Section 106 Monitoring fee shown at the end of Appendix 
E; 

 
xiv) That delegated authority is given to the Section 151 Officer in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder to set the Local Land Charges as 
appropriate for cost recovery; and 

 
xv) That delegated authority is given to the relevant Head of Practice in 

consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to adjust Fees and 
Charges within their service area by inflation at suitable periodic 
intervals, reporting to the Hub Committee as deemed appropriate. 

 
 

HC 56          CAPITAL BUDGET PROPOSALS 2021/22 
 

The Leader presented Members with a report that set out the Capital 
Programme proposals for 2021/22 and highlighted the £100,000 for 
replacement of IT hardware and a payroll and Human Resource software, both 
of which were confirmed as a 50:50 cost split with South Hams District Council.   
 
It was then RESOLVED that the Hub Committee RECOMMEND to Council:  
 
a) The Capital Programme for 2021/22, which totals £1,075,000 

(Appendix A); and 
 

b)  The funding of the 2020/21 Capital Programme of £1,075,000 from the 
funding sources set out in Section 4. 

 
 

*HC 57 CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2020/21 
 
The Lead Member for Performance and Resources presented Members 
with a report that outlined the financial position as at 30th November 2020 
for the purposes of budget monitoring.  The meeting noted that all capital 
projects were within the individual capital budgets approved by Members.   
 
Members’ attention was drawn to a new table in Appendix C of the 
attendant report which highlighted Section 106 deposits showing list and 
expiry dates.  Section 106 training would been arranged for Members in the 
near future, which would include a presentation on a proposed new process 
that would involve local Members being informed on the receipt of Section 
106 monies, and give working examples. 

Page 3



The new process was intended to increase Members’ awareness of 
projects in hand and ensure these projects were completed in a timely 
manner.  The training would also look at the involvement of Devon County 
Council in relation to the Section 106 element for education and transport.  
 
Following the training, officers agreed to bring a report back to Members 
outlining Section 106 monies due to be spent in the next three years. 
 
It was then RESOLVED that the contents of the report be endorsed. 

 
 
HC 58 DEVON DISTRICTS PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 
 

The Leader presented the Hub with a report that outlined the draft Devon 
Districts’ Procurement Strategy. 
 
Following a question from a Member regarding some missing information in 
Column 4 of the table on page 89 of the agenda papers, the lead officer 
confirmed this information would be added and the updated report would be 
made available to the public. 
 
During the questions, it was confirmed that collaboration with Devon County 
Council and Plymouth City Council was already in operation and opportunities 
for future collaboration on projects such as energy were being explored.  
These were noted as being relevant to part 2) of the recommendations. 
 
The Leader confirmed that officers were currently reviewing what procurement 
could be achieved locally and would then set stretch targets for increased local 
buying to be achieved.  Following the request from one Member, officers 
agreed to analyse the top five categories of spend and would bring this 
information back to the Financial Stability Review Group within the next few 
months.   
 
It was then RESOLVED that the Hub Committee: 
 

1.  Note the progress made in delivery of the previous Devon Districts 
Procurement Strategy 2014-2018; 

 
2.  Consider any West Devon specific priorities or objectives which we 

should explore to be incorporated into the strategy delivery plan; 
and 

 
3.  RECOMMEND to Council to adopt the Devon Districts Procurement 

Strategy 2019-2022 (including the objectives set out in 
recommendation 2).   

 
 
*HC 59 MINUTES OF OTHER BODIES – OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE MEETING – 10 November 2020 
 
Following a review of the Minutes arising from the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee meeting held on 10 November 2020:  
 
 
 
 

Page 4



Minute O&S 43: Safeguarding: Annual Update 
 
It was RESOLVED: 

That the Hub Committee ADOPT the revised Safeguarding Policy (as attached 
at Appendix A of the presented agenda report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Meeting). 

 

(The meeting terminated at 3:34 pm) 

_____________ 
Chairman 

 
 
(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF MINUTES HC 55, HC 56, AND 
HC 58 PART 3, WHICH ARE RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE FULL COUNCIL MEETING 
ON 16 FEBRUARY 2021, WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM WEDNESDAY 10 
FEBRUARY 2021 UNLESS CALLED IN, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY 
PROCEDURE RULE 18)
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL: HUB COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN  
This is the provisional forward plan for at least four months starting April 2021.  It provides an indicative date for matters to be considered by 
the Hub Committee.   Where possible, the Hub Committee will keep to the dates shown in the plan.  However, it may be necessary for some 
items to be rescheduled and other items added.  
  

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Hub Committee and all Councillors, the public, 
and other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee in planning their contribution to policy development 
and holding the Hub Committee to account.   
The Plan is published on the Council’s website (www.westdevon.gov.uk)   
 
The Hub Committee consists of nine Councillors.  Each has responsibility for a particular area of the Council’s work.   
Leader – Cllr Neil Jory 

Deputy Leader – Cllr Lois Samuel 
Lead Member for Environment – Cllr Caroline Mott 

Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing – Cllr Tony Leech 
Lead Member for Enterprise – Cllr Ric Cheadle  
Lead Member for Communities – Cllr Terry Pearce 
Lead Member for Customer First – Cllr Jeff Moody   
Lead Member for Resources and Performance – Cllr Chris Edmonds  
Lead Member for Homes – Cllr Debo Sellis 

 
Further information on the workings of the Hub Committee, including latest information on agenda items, can be obtained by contacting the  
Democratic Services Section by e-mail to democratic.services@westdevon.gov.uk   
 
All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise indicated  

 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 6



 

Portfolio Area 
 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer  

Documents to be 
considered in making 
decision 

Date of 
Meeting 

Consultees and 
means of 
consultation 

Customer First Title: Future Localities Service  
Purpose: To consider a report that 
implements the recommendations following 
on from the Locality and Clusters Task and 
Finish Group. 

Cllr Moody/ 
Sarah Moody 

Report of the Business 
Manager – Case 
Management  

27 April 
2021 

 

Council Title: Write Off Report 
Purpose of report: The Council is 
responsible for the collection of: Housing 
Rents, Sundry Debts including Housing 
Benefit Overpayments, Council Tax and 
National Non-Domestic Rates. The report 
informs members of the debt written off for 
these revenue streams. 

Cllr Edmonds 
/ Lisa Buckle 

Report of S151 Officer 27 April 
2021 

 

Environment Title:  Three Weekly Waste Update 
Purpose:  To provide Members with an 
outcome report on the 3 weekly waste trial 

Cllr Mott / 
Jane Savage  

Report of Head of 
Contracts and 
Commissioning  

27 April 
2021 

 

Homes Title:  Homelessness Strategy – Annual 
Action Plan 
Purpose:  To consider a report that presents 
the Annual Action Plan that underpins the 
Council’s Homelessness Strategy. 

Cllr Sellis / 
Issy Blake 

Report of the Head of 
Housing, Revenues, and 
Benefits 

8 June 
2021 

 

Council Title:  Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Strategy Update 
Purpose:  Update on progress against 
delivery of the Climate Change and 
Biodiversity Strategy 

Cllrs Jory & 
Davis / Drew 
Powell 

Report of Director of 
Governance and 
Assurance 

8 June 
2021 

 

P
age 8



 

Portfolio Area 
 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer  

Documents to be 
considered in making 
decision 

Date of 
Meeting 

Consultees and 
means of 
consultation 

Homes Title: Springhill Project Update 
Purpose: To provide an update of the 
project and seek approval to submit a 
planning application for the scheme 

Cllr Sellis / 
Issy Blake / 
Laura Wotton 

Report of Head of 
Housing & Head of 
Assets 

8 June 
2021 

 

    July 2021  
 
 

P
age 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 16 March 2021 

Title: “Better Homes, Better Lives” adoption of 
South Hams & West Devon Housing 
Strategy 2021-2026 

Portfolio Area: Homes – Cllr Debo Sellis 

  

Wards Affected: All 

 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: Following the 
Council meeting to be held on 30 March 2021 
 

 

Author: Isabel Blake Role: Head of Housing, 
Revenues & Benefits 
Practice 

Contact: 01822 813551/Isabel.blake@swdevon.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

Recommendations: 

That the Hub Committee:   

1.  RECOMMEND to Council the adoption of “Better Homes, 
Better Lives” – the South Hams & West Devon Housing 
Strategy 2021-2026 appended as Appendix 1 to this report; 
and 

2.  agree the Delivery Plan for 2021 that supports the South 
Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026 and 
appended as Appendix 2 to this report. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 
 
1. Executive summary  
1) The Council has been developing its joint Housing Strategy with South 

Hams for much of the last 12 months. The final draft is attached at 
Appendix 1. “Better Homes, Better Lives”, is the name given to the 
Housing Strategy, this sets out the long term vision of the Councils’ 
aspirations to meet local need over the next 5 years. 
 

2) Whilst engagement has been more challenging than usual because of 
the restrictions of Covid-19, the strategy has been shaped around 
Member priorities. These were established through a questionnaire and 
a workshop session in autumn 2020. Following on from this there was a 
engagement with our partners before seeking agreement from 
Members to release a draft of the strategy document for public and 
partner consultation, which ran from December 2020- February 2021. 
There was a good response to the public consultation with general 
agreement to the themes and priorities chosen, however there were a 
number of useful comments received which have been incorporated into 
changes made to the final draft attached to this report 
 

3) The strategy document sets out the vision and priorities which will 
guide the approach taken over the next 5 years and then detailed in 
annual delivery plans. (Appendix 2). The delivery plan will be subject to 
an annual review of progress and a refresh of actions for the following 
year. Some of these will be achieved within the year, others will take 
the 5 year life of the strategy and beyond to complete. The delivery 
plan will be reliant on partnership working and much of the first year 
will be on ensuring there is good evidence and strong data to ensure we 
are targeting resources where they can be most effective. The following 
months also may see a changing landscape as we start to emerge from 
the pandemic. Whilst our key themes and priorities are unlikely to 
change we must be ready to adapt our delivery plan to respond to the 
needs of our residents and capacity of our partners. 
 

4) Whilst the Hub Committee is asked to recommend to Council the 
adoption of the Housing Strategy, there is also a reliance that the 
Executive of South Hams District Council also making the same 
recommendation, and that both Councils ultimately adopting the 
strategy. 

 
2. Background  
1) The Council currently does not have an up to date Housing Strategy. 

Although this is not unlawful, the Council lists “Homes” as one of its 
strategic priorities. It is therefore important to have a plan that 
identifies the direction of travel and the issues locally that are 
important to our residents and communities.   
 

2) The Housing Strategy is not a replacement for the Joint Local Plan. Its 
focus is jointly on the existing housing already built and making the 
best use of it, and ensuring the homes we build meet the specific needs 
of residents. The Joint Local Plan and the emerging Dartmoor National 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

Park Local Plan are both important documents in relation to the Housing 
Strategy and reviews of either are required to have input from each 
other. Sitting underneath the Housing Strategy will be the Homeless, 
Private Sector Renewal, Community Housing & Tenancy strategies 
which will influence the Council’s delivery under the priorities.   

 
3) There is no doubt that developing the strategy against a backdrop of 

uncertainty, brought on by a global pandemic and Brexit has been 
challenging. Any plan developed needs to be flexible enough to respond 
to emerging needs whilst still delivering on the priorities agreed. Whilst 
the draft strategy was out for consultation both councils have adopted a 
climate change and biodiversity strategy, The Housing Strategy has an 
important part to play in delivering against the priorities of climate 
change.  

 
4) The results of the public and stakeholder consultation responses have 

resulted in changes being made to the final draft document presented 
as part of this report, and the results of the consultation are found at 
Appendix 3. The public consultation was promoted through press 
releases, a social media campaign, e-bulletins, mail outs to Town and 
Parishes Councils, local Members of Parliament and regular requests to 
District Members to encourage responses. Whilst not as inclusive as 
formal engagement and consultation has previously been, because of 
the challenges of the pandemic and the relating lockdowns, the 
response rate is however very good compared to other Local Authorities 
(many authorities 2-3 times our size received a great deal fewer 
responses). We will continue to engage with residents and stakeholders 
to inform our annual delivery plan and through the lifetime of this 
strategy and regularly conduct robust equality impact assessments.  

 
5) Our public consultation received 75 responses from the public with a 

further 192 responses completed through the South Hams survey. 
Questions were broadly answered similarly and a number of the 
comments were on the same themes.  

 
6) Our partner consultation received 30 responses, the majority of which 

worked in services in West Devon. We received 5 email submissions, 2 
of which were after the deadline but we have been able to consider 
them for this report.  

 
7) As a result of the consultation we have streamlined the priorities and 

added greater clarity to the document, reducing the number of 
priorities to 2 under each theme. This reduced duplication (but not 
ambition) and the number of “back office functions” which were then 
removed from the delivery plan. 

 
8) The accompanying delivery plan sets out the work that will be 

completed annually (some actions will take longer than one year) and it 
is anticipated that much of this work will be done within existing 
budgets, working with partners and understanding better than ever the 

Page 13



 
 
 
 

local need through robust data and evidence. In order to undertake this 
work to a better standard a new staffing resource will be required. It is 
anticipated that this will be funded, through existing homeless, 
strategic housing and better care funding for a period of 12 months 
before assessing the value for money and recommending for 
establishment budget consideration. The Strategy will return to 
Committee annually to report on progress against the priorities and to 
agree a new delivery plan 

 
9) Individual capital projects or priorities which require significant 

investment will be subject to reports to Members for decisions or other 
Governance arrangements at appropriate times 

 
 
3. Outcomes/outputs  
1) The strategy sets out the key objectives and the priorities for the 

Council and the delivery plan offers the practical detail on how we will 
achieve these and when. The annual review of this action plan will be 
an important milestone in measuring the success of the Housing 
Strategy.  
 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  
1) Whilst not a legal requirement, a new Housing Strategy that reflects the 

priorities of Residents, Partners & Members is highly desirable for a 
Council which has homes as a priority theme. Without one there is a 
risk that opportunity to meet those residents needs will not be fully 
met. 
 

5.  Proposed Way Forward  
1) That the Hub recommend to Council the adoption of “Better Homes, 

Better Lives” 2021-2026 Housing Strategy for South Hams & West 
Devon.  

6. Implications  
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y It is not a legal requirement to have a Housing 
Strategy.  

Financial 
 

Y  The delivery plan sets out the funding 
implications where possible and much of the 
proposed actions can be completed within 
existing budgets. 

 There will be an additional staff resource 
required for research and data analysis. This 
will be a 12 month post, funded through 
homelessness grant budget, housing 
enabling and Better care funding. If the post 
proves value for money a request will be 

Page 14



 
 
 
 

made in the budget reports for 2022/23 to 
make this a permanent establishment post. 

 Capital projects or projects requiring a high 
level of investment will be subject to 
individual reports to Members for decision 
making or other Governance arrangements 

 
Risk  The high level of public responses to the 

consultation indicates healthy interest in housing. 
It will be important to ensure delivery against the 
action plan and robust monitoring arrangements at 
both officer and member level. 
  
 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

Y An Equality Impact Assessment is attached at 
Appendix 4.   

Safeguarding 
 

Y The Council’s housing role plays a fundamental role 
in protecting the welfare of vulnerable adults and 
families with children  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 
 

Y The Councils housing role plays a part in 
community safety particularly around anti-social 
behaviour in neighbourhoods. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Y Housing has a fundamental influence on our 
resident’s health and wellbeing. Actions around 
quality and supply will no doubt benefit this. 

Other 
implications 

  
 

 
 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Better Homes, Better Lives South Hams & West Devon 
Housing Strategy 2021- 2026 
Appendix 2 – Year 1 (2021/22) Delivery Plan 
Appendix 3 – Results of the consultation  
Appendix 4 – Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

South Hams & West Devon

Better Homes, Better Lives
Housing Strategy 2021-2026

www.southhams.gov.uk
www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 17



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

2

Contents Page
Foreword 3

A Housing Strategy for  
South Hams and West Devon

4

Introduction 6

People 8

Place 9

Policy & Context 11

National Housing Context 11

Local Priorities 12

Adopted Local Plans 12

Corporate Strategy 13

Climate Emergency 14

Other related policies and strategies 14

The Evidence Base 15

Better Homes, Better Lives 19

Theme 1 - Housing for Place 20

Place Priority 1 21

Place Priority 2 22

Theme 2 - Housing for People 23

People Priority 1 24

People Priority 2 24

Resources 26

How the Strategy was developed 27

Monitoring of this housing strategy 27

Annual Delivery Plan 28

Glossary 28

P
age 18



3

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Foreword

We are pleased to introduce the Joint 
Housing Strategy of South Hams and  
West Devon Councils, which sets out 
our housing priorities for the next 
five years.

This strategy comes at a time of great uncertainty 
for our Country following a year of restrictions and 
lockdowns as a result of the Global Coronavirus 
pandemic. A time when “home” has taken on a 
stronger meaning. 

As our areas start to emerge and recover from 
the pandemic, it is important that we "build 
back better", revisit our priorities and make 
commitments to change. That’s why we have 
called our strategy Better Homes, Better Lives. 

Under our themes of Housing for Place and 
Housing for People we have listed our key 
priorities for the next five years. These are: 

Housing for Place

 ¥ Promote balanced and sustainable 
communities 

 ¥ Ensuring that homes support the  
health and wellbeing of the area 

Housing for People

 ¥ Homes that support the  
Health & wellbeing of our residents 

 ¥ Make the best use and improve quality  
of existing housing 

We want to deliver on these key commitments 
to ensure all our residents, current and future 
benefit from a strategy that makes the best of our 
beautiful natural environment, but also delivers  
for those who need it the most.

Both our Councils have declared a climate 
emergency and are committed to supporting 

initiatives that deliver on carbon reduction and 
green energy. Improving homes in a sustainable 
way is a key aspect of this strategy and we are 
committed to delivering this to our residents and 
communities.

It goes without saying that the objectives of this 
strategy would not begin to be met without 
working in partnership with a great number of 
statutory and voluntary agencies. So we would like 
to extend our thanks to our partners for the part 
they play in the outcomes for our area.

We believe that through this strategy and the annual 
delivery plans we have made clear our ambition for 
the next five years and how we will meet our future 
challenges, to ensure that both South Hams and 
West Devon continue to be great places to live.

Cllr Hilary Bastone, South Hams District Council,
Cllr Debo Sellis, West Devon Borough Council,
Lead Members for Homes

Cllr Hilary Bastone Cllr Debo Sellis

P
age 19



4

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

A Housing Strategy for 
South Hams & West Devon

In recent years the issue of 
housing has become the subject 
of election promises and central 
government statistics. 

In the race to meet national targets for housing 
supply, it is easy to forget that each house should 
be a home first, and a statistic second. The South 
Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy seeks to 
identify how quality can be added to quantity to 
ensure that the houses, new and old, in our area 
are homes to be proud of, homes to be healthy in, 
and homes that combine to make communities 
that we want to live in.

The Housing Strategy identifies the challenges we 
know that we need to address in order to make 
access to housing more equitable, to make our homes 
healthier and our communities happier. The Housing 
Strategy identifies actions that we can seek to achieve, 
that will help address some of these challenges. 
Some of the challenges cannot be met on our own; 
many require support from our partners and some 
require changes to national policy and strategy.

In order to appreciate the purpose of this 
document, it is important to understand 
that there are a few things that the Housing 
Strategy cannot be:

 ¥ Identify land for development: This is 
not a planning document. The Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan (JLP) is the 
adopted development plan for the area, and 
both identifies land, and sets standards for 
new homes and communities.

 ¥ Require higher building standards than 
those required by Building Regulations:  
Although, the basic standard of new homes 
is set to increase in 2021 as part of the Future 
Homes Standard. The JLP also has an adopted 
policy that already requires new homes to 
perform to a level that exceeds building 
regulations by an equivalent of 20%.

P
age 20



5

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

 ¥ Restrict second home ownership and 
holiday lets: Neighbourhood Plans (NPs) 
can do this, under the right circumstances, 
and many NPs have adopted principle 
residence policies for new homes. There is no 
mechanism for controlling who can purchase 
an existing home within South Hams and 
West Devon.

We also continue to lobby the Government to 
close the current business rates tax loophole 
which allows second homeowners to avoid 
paying any council tax or business rates on 
their properties. Currently, owners of second 
homes can apply to the Valuation Office to 
register their domestic properties for business 
rates if their property is available to let for a 
minimum of 140 days per year. If registered 
for business rates, a large proportion of 
these properties qualify for small business 
rates relief and are eligible for 100% relief 
and this in turn means they have neither 

council tax nor business rates to pay.  The 
Government consulted on tightening the 
rules in November 2018 but no action has yet 
been taken on this. The Council believe the 
Government consultation could go further 
and that domestic properties should be 
treated as council tax payers and pay council 
tax, irrespective of whether they are let for 
part of the year or not, unless it can be shown 
that the property is genuinely operating as a 
business. We are asking the Government to 
address this in their Business Rates Reform 
due later in 2021

 ¥ Require infrastructure to be built before any 
new homes: The infrastructure needs of South 
Hams and West Devon were considered as part 
of the Examination in Public of the JLP, and the 
appointed Inspectors were content that the 
level of new infrastructure proposed as part of 
the JLP was proportionate and consistent with 
the amount of new housing proposed.

 ¥ Demand that brownfield land is built 
on before greenfield land: The Housing 
Strategy, and the Councils, have little control 
over independent landowners bring their land 
forward for development. The JLP and National 
Planning Policy Framework have policies that 
support the development of brownfield land, 
but we cannot make owners of brownfield 
sites submit planning applications, in the same 
way that we cannot stop owners of greenfield 
sites submitting planning applications. The 
spatial strategy of the JLP already directs the 
vast majority of new development towards 
named sustainable settlements.

P
age 21



6

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Introduction

South Hams and West Devon 
occupy the south west corner 
of Devon and comprise a mix of 
traditional rural settlements and 
rolling agricultural landscapes. 
Between them the two local 
authority areas boast two Areas 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
a National Park and a World 
Heritage Site. It is little surprise 
that both South Hams and  
West Devon boast enduring 
appeal for visitors, and the 
tourism industry remains an 
important element of the  
local economy.

However, this ongoing attraction of visitors 
has also sustained a high proportion of 
homes in South Hams and West Devon 
being purchased as second homes, or as 
investments as holiday lets.  This in turn has 
increased the value of homes in the area, 
and reduced the choice of homes for people 
earning local wages.

The natural beauty of the landscape,  
combined with the charm and character of 
the built environment make the South 
Hams and West Devon a popular 
place to live; it is well suited 
to parents who want to 
bring their children up in a 
rural area that benefits 
from good schools and 
facilities, perfect for 
leisure and 

SOUTH 
HAMS
906 km2

WEST 
DEVON
1160 km2 Teignbridge

East Devon

Mid Devon

Torbay
Plymouth

North Devon

Torridge

Exeter

P
age 22



7

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

recreation, well connected to larger urban areas 
both in Devon and the wider South west region 
and in more recent times, a marvellous place to 
work from home and stay safe whilst benefiting 
from access to local countryside.

This popularity has over a number of years had an 
impact on the affordability levels of housing for 
local people. Average house prices have continued 
to rise well beyond the rise in the average local 
wage, making home ownership currently an 
unrealistic aspiration for many people living and 
working the area today. Most recent estimates 
show the average house costing 11.6 times the 
average wage in South Hams, and 10.6 times in 
West Devon.

The sensitive natural landscape present challenges 
in terms of building large numbers of new homes, 
and most of the towns and villages are ill-equipped 
to adapt to the addition of large scale housing 
development, with local infrastructure, particularly 
transport networks in town centres, unable to be 
adapted to accommodate significantly greater usage.

South Hams and West Devon are non-stock 
holding authorities, having transferred their 
housing stock in 1999 to Tor Homes and West 
Devon Homes (now LiveWest). The Councils have 
retained their strategic housing responsibilities 
and continue to act as the enabler of affordable 
housing. We also deliver a range of vital services 
including housing allocations and homelessness 
support, aids and adaptations and ensuring decent 
housing standards.

11.6 x 
average 
annual 
income

South Hams

10.6 x 
average 
annual 
income

West Devon

FOR 
SALE

Understanding the key characteristics of a place 
can help to devise plans for the future that will 
deliver healthy and well-balanced communities 
that are resilient to change. In order to create a 
housing strategy for South Hams and West Devon, 
it was important to know what issues needed to be 
addressed. Whilst the affordability challenges are 
well understood, the implications of this are less 
well known, for both the built environment and the 
people that live in South Hams and West Devon.

P
age 23



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

8

People
Local people continue to feel that both home 
ownership, and to a lesser extent the rental 
market, is out of reach for many of them because 
of ever increasing house prices. These are felt 
most strongly in rural and coastal areas where 
local house prices extend far beyond local wages. 
Both South Hams & West Devon have an older 
than average median age demographic which 
in turn can put pressure on local services such as 
health and social care, whilst undermining the 
viability of other services required by younger 
age groups like schools and further education 
facilities. We are yet to fully understand the impact 
of the Covid-19 pandemic, and what this means for 
people settling in less urban areas, as challenges 
around commutes and the ability to work remotely 
cease to exist. No doubt this will only add to the 
difficulties we face with second homes and holiday 
lets as well as the lack of properties available, 
particularly for first time buyers and young people. 

We often have examples about local people being 
priced out of the housing market and having to 
move away from their family and friends, who 
provide help for childcare and social support. This 
is across all types of housing. It is essential that we 
provide a mix of house types from rentals to home 
ownership whether this is buying on the open 
market, at a discounted market rate or through 
shared ownership and to ensure we work with our 
communities to help to deliver what is right for 
them. 

To maintain the ‘local’ element, in so far as 
legally possible, we can restrict the occupation 
of our affordable housing stock through legal 
agreements and local lettings plans. We have our 
Local Allocations Policy which is applied to our 
existing housing association stock. These tools 
help us to maintain housing for some of the more 
vulnerable people in our communities.

This strategy will focus not just on plans for new 
housing, but perhaps more importantly how we 
make the best use of our existing housing – after 
all this is the majority of our homes. It is essential 
that people are supported to remain in a home 
that can be adapted for their needs or helped to 
move somewhere more appropriate and of their 
choosing, whilst still being able to access their 
network of support. It is imperative that we work 
with our colleagues at Devon County Council to 
ensure vulnerable people are given access to a 
good range of housing options and control over 
their housing choices in areas they wish to live and 
that care can be provided locally because their 
carers are able to afford to live nearby. 

South Hams

50.9yrs 
Median age

50.4yrs 
Median age

40.1yrs 
Median age

West Devon UK

P
age 24



9

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

In looking after our stock, together with our 
Registered Provider partners and supporting 
our private landlords with advice and access 
to funding we can help to address the health 
inequalities that come from living in poor housing. 
We can also have a positive impact on our climate 
change agenda as the homes we live in become 
greener and more energy efficient.

The longer term effects of the pandemic, both 
in terms of peoples health and with regards the 
economic challenges collectively and individually 
we may face are not yet apparent. The recovery 
process no doubt will see people having to make 
difficult decisions about their housing and what 
it means to them. It may mean that people need 
a different type of housing to enable them to 
continue working from home as there is no longer 
an office base. It may mean that people have 
to downsize to more affordable alternatives. As 
council’s, through the life of this strategy, we will 
seek to develop further options that offer a safety 
net to people within our communities, ensure 
where possible we minimise negative impacts and 
continue to meet their needs and aspirations.

Place
The way we live our lives, and the places that 
we visit on a regular basis, have changed over 
a number of years. It is no longer assumed that 
we will work in the same place that we live, and 
we have more freedom to visit an ever widening 
range of destinations for leisure and recreation 
than any generation before us.

Towns and cities used to be crammed full of small 
homes accommodating the working population, 
whilst the countryside was the preserve of larger 
homes, agricultural activity and a more sedate 
way of life. But what happens to these places 
when our behaviours change? What happens 
when the majority of our homes have been built 
for large families when our average household 
size is getting smaller by the year? What happens 
when we no longer need to live in a city to benefit 

4 and 
5 bed

27%

South Hams and 
West Devon

1 and 
2 bed

34%

South Hams and 
West Devon

40%

England

1 and 
2 bed

19%

England

4 and 
5 bed46%

34%

Under-occupied

Under-occupied

from the well-paid city job? What happens when 
people who have grown up in quiet coastal 
communities find that the average house price 
has tripled in the last 20 years, but their income 
has remained the same?

The most recent census data shows that the mix of 
homes in South Hams and West Devon is distinctly 
different from the national average. Both areas 
have far fewer one and two bed homes, (34%) than 
the national average for England (40%). The same 
is true at the other end of the spectrum, with both 
South Hams and West Devon having many more 
four and five bed homes (27%) compared to the 
national average (19%). This may not be as big a 
problem if it weren't for the inflated house prices, 
meaning that bigger houses cost even more than 
they would elsewhere, which makes them more 
attractive for developers to build than the small 
homes that are needed.

P
age 25



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Household sizes, the number of people per home, 
have been getting smaller for years, and this is 
forecast to continue well into the medium term, 
for both rural and urban areas. 

The difficulty this creates is that with every passing 
year the existing houses of South Hams and West 
Devon are becoming less suited to the housing 
needs of the people that live in these areas. Of 
course most people would like to under-occupy 
their homes; have a spare room, or a home office, 
but extra space costs extra money, and that is not 
something that local incomes can stretch to.

The number of homes that are 'significantly under-
occupied' (at least two empty bedrooms) in South 
Hams and West Devon (46%) however is also well 
above the national average (34%). It may be that 
the home owners do not wish to live in smaller 
accommodation, but the evidence suggests 
that many of these homes are occupied by older 
people, who simply cannot move to more suitable 
accommodation in the same area, because there 
are so few suitable smaller homes - and developers 
don't want to build small homes because they sell 
for less than bigger homes.

Our adopted planning policies are seeking to 
correct some of this imbalance, but it will take 
time to re-adjust. We are also developing some 
mechanisms that give priority access to new 
homes to local people - and not just for traditional 
'affordable housing' homes, but open market 
homes too. This is not something that many 
planning authorities have tried to do, and we 
intend to make the policies stronger over time, 
once they have been tested. This will create an 

'intermediate' open market housing product that 
bridges the gap between affordable housing and 
the unrestricted open market homes that are 
beyond anyone earning local wages.

There are also pockets of poor quality housing 
located in South Hams and West Devon that 
feature both disrepair and overcrowding. The 
quality of housing has a direct impact upon the 
health and wellbeing of its occupants. Housing 
conditions can influence our physical health; for 
example a warm and dry house can improve 
general health outcomes and specifically reduce 
respiratory conditions. Housing also has a huge 
influence on our mental health and wellbeing – 
for example children living in crowded homes are 
more likely be stressed, anxious and depressed, 
have poorer physical health, and attain less well at 
school. (Reference; The Health Foundation 2017)

Equality of opportunity is an ambition that both 
South Hams and West Devon Councils aspire to 
deliver for our communities. South Hams and  
West Devon Councils have created a housing 
strategy that responds to the challenges faced by 
certain sectors of our community, by:

 ¥ Driving the delivery of new homes  
that people can afford and meeting the 
different needs of our communities 

 ¥ Ensure the best use and improved  
quality of existing housing 

Success for the South Hams and West Devon 
Housing Strategy will be measured in how  
we respond to these priorities and deliver  
“Better homes, Better lives”.

10

P
age 26



11

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Policy & 
Context

The South Hams & West Devon 
Housing Strategy 2021-2026 has been 
developed against a backdrop of 
Covid-19 and also the UK leaving the 
European Union. Both of these are 
likely to have consequences for the 
local housing market in relation to 
the economy and health & wellbeing.
The strategy has been designed with 
flexibility for us to continue to strive 
to meet our priorities.

This strategy in its development has had regard 
to both local and national policy and a number 
of complex legal duties and powers. For it to be 
successful it must integrate across the Council, its 
corporate plan and priorities and should be read 
within the context of all the Council’s strategies.

National Housing Context
Housing remains a key element of political debate, 
with interdependencies on a number of other 
areas including health, wellbeing, welfare reform 
and economics. It is likely to remain this way for 
some considerable time.

Some of the national priorities include:

 ¥ Building more housing to meet demand

 ¥ Delivering more affordable housing 

 ¥ Welfare Reform

 ¥ The Planning white paper Planning for the 
Future: Planning Policy changes in England  
in 2020

 ¥ Preventing Homelessness

 ¥ A Government commitment to halving rough 
sleeping by 2022 and ending it by 2027.

 ¥ Improving standards in the Private  
Rented Sector

 ¥ Health & Safety in the social housing sector 
(Following the Grenfell Tower disaster)

 ¥ Support for first time buyers

Furthermore Homes England – the Government 
sponsored national agency for housing acceleration 
has 6 key objectives to assist in housing delivery 
through grant funding and expertise assistance which 
have been published in their Strategic Plan 2018/19- 
2022/23. South Hams District Council has secured 
Investment Partner status with Homes England in 
order to directly draw down grant funding.

P
age 27



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Litter

3300

Litter

SSTTOOPP

PPUUBB

Food

Food
Inspector

Devon Street 96

BOTTLE

TTaaxxii

PLYMOUTH &
SOUTH WEST
DEVON JOINT
LOCAL PLAN

2014-2034

Local Priorities

Adopted Local Plans

The local authority areas of South Hams and West 
Devon include large parts of Dartmoor National 
Park, where Dartmoor National Park Authority 
(DNPA) is the local planning authority, with an 
adopted Local Plan, and an emerging new Local 
Plan for the National Park. Outside Dartmoor, 
South Hams and West Devon, together with 
Plymouth published their Joint Local Plan (JLP)
in 2019 which sets out the shared direction of 
travel for the area up to 2034, bringing together 
the vision for the growth and transformation 
of Plymouth with the approach of fostering 
sustainable thriving towns and villages in the 
surrounding rural areas. 

Vision for Plymouth and South West Devon

Plymouth and South West Devon will be a 
highly successful sub-region, whose people and 
businesses benefit greatly from having both a 

major city and a network of high quality market 
towns and sustainable rural settlements, set within 
beautiful and natural environments. It will have 
made the most of its economic, social, cultural, 
heritage and natural assets, and its settlements 
will play complementary and mutually beneficial 
roles for the urban and rural economy.

Development will be delivered proactively, 
meeting the needs of its people for new homes, 
jobs and services, and will recognise the diversity 
in characteristics between our urban, sub-urban 
and rural areas. We will be a good neighbour to 
neighbouring areas and play a key economic and 
social role both in the region and beyond.

South West Devon’s Thriving Towns and Villages 
will be thriving rural communities where the 
following outcomes have been met:

 ¥ Residents are empowered to create strong 
communities.

 ¥ Places are created for enterprise to thrive and 
business to grow.

 ¥ Homes have been built to meet local needs.

 ¥ The services and facilities which meet the 
needs of our communities have been secured.

 ¥ The built and natural environment has been 
protected, conserved and enhanced.

 ¥ The past is celebrated and our heritage for the 
future is protected.

12

P
age 28



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Dartmoor National Park

Dartmoor National Park Authority (DNPA) is in the 
process of adopting a new Local Plan. The Local 
Plan for Dartmoor reflects that National Parks 
were created with two purposes. These shape 
what the National Parks are, the reason for their 
designation and how they should be managed. 
There is also a socio-economic duty upon the 
Authorities themselves. 

 ¥ First Purpose: To conserve and enhance the 
natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage 
of the area. 

 ¥ Second Purpose: To promote opportunities 
for the understanding and enjoyment of the 
Special Qualities of the National Park by the 
public.

 ¥ Duty: To seek to foster the economic and 
social wellbeing of the local communities 
within the National Park.

All relevant authorities, including South Hams and 
West Devon Councils, are required by law to have 
regard to National Park purposes.

Dartmoor National Park has a strong focus upon 
sustainable development, with affordable housing 
to meet local needs a key priority. Its Vision 
includes:

 ¥ Decent Homes: There is access to well-
designed, energy efficient and affordable 
housing for those who contribute to 
Dartmoor’s thriving communities.

 ¥ A place to do business: Businesses which 
respect, value and contribute to Dartmoor’s 
Special Qualities have the opportunity to 
thrive and innovate.

 ¥ Prosperous and vibrant communities: 
Dartmoor’s towns and villages provide 
opportunities for communities to thrive.

 ¥ Exemplars for outstanding development: 
All new development has a character which 
respects local distinctiveness, vernacular and 
materials, and leads the way on sustainable 
building.

Corporate Strategy

Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic has caused 
both Councils to consider its priorities and is 
in the developmental stages of introducing a 
new corporate plan with a new set of priorities. 
This may adjust the delivery plan of the Housing 
Strategy but it is not anticipated it will change the 
priorities. Indeed the existing priority for Homes 
is “enabling the homes that meet the needs of all” 
through the Covid 19 recovery planning it was 
clear that Members wished to be more ambitious 
with their aim which has been changed to “Better 
Homes, Better Lives”.

13

P
age 29



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Climate Emergency

Both South Hams & West Devon declared a climate 
emergency in 2019 and adopted a climate change 
and biodiversity strategy in December 2020. 

The following commitments have been made:

 ¥ That the Councils aim to reduce its 
organisational carbon emissions to net-zero  
by 2030;

 ¥ That the Councils commit to working 
with partners through the Devon Climate 
Emergency Response Group to aim to reduce 
both councils carbon emissions to net zero by 
2050 at the latest;

 ¥ That the Councils aim for a 10% Biodiversity 
Net Gain in the habitat value of its green and 
wooded public open space by 2025;

Dartmoor National Park Authority declared a 
climate emergency in July 2019, and have adopted 
an action plan that is intended to ensure the 
organisation is net zero carbon by 2025. DNPA 
are also active participants in the Devon Climate 
Emergency Response Group.

The aims of the Housing Strategy must 
wherever possible, contribute positively to these 
commitments, and in doing so also seek to address 
fuel poverty, the cost of home ownership and 
other key housing outcomes.

Other related policies and strategies

This is a list of policies that have been used in the 
formation of this strategy which can all be found  
on our websites www.westdevon.gov.uk and 
www.southhams.gov.uk. Whilst they all have  
their own set of priorities, it is our intention to  
revisit them and ensure they help to deliver the 
priorities set by this strategy:

 ¥ Devon Carbon Plan

 ¥ Community Housing Strategy

 ¥ South Hams & West Devon Investment Strategies

 ¥ Asset Management Strategy

 ¥ Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2022

 ¥ Rough Sleeper Strategy 

 ¥ Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy

 ¥ Tenancy Strategy

 ¥ Devon Home Choice Policy

 ¥ South Hams & West Devon Allocation Policies

 ¥ Safeguarding Policy

 ¥ The Tenants Incentive Scheme

 ¥ Devon County Councils Housing  
and Accommodation Strategy

 ¥ Local letting policies

 ¥ Neighbourhood Plans

 

Reducing our Carbon Footprint 
and increasing Biodiversity

The Housing Strategy 2021-2026 will rely on a 
number of key partnership arrangements to 
deliver the priorities, which in turn will deliver 
positive outcomes for a range of different 
organisations and their priorities. It is both 
Councils ambitions to strengthen partnership 
relationships. Working together is key to make a 
success of this strategy and to deliver  
“Better Homes, Better Lives”.

14

P
age 30



15

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

The Evidence Base

The Council has gathered evidence from a number 
of different sources to inform the Housing Strategy. 
The key headlines arising include:

 ¥ Demographic projections suggest a 5% 
increase in population in the next 5 years  
in the South Hams and 4% increase in  
West Devon. 20% of the current population 
in South Hams and West Devon are aged 
70 plus and this is set to increase over the 
next 20 years. (Census 2011 & NOMIS).

 ¥ 63% of residents in South Hams and West 
Devon are economically active with median 
earnings of £25,104 and £23,083 respectively. 
This represents a lower level than the South 
West regional average of £26,946 and the 
national median of £30,800. (ONS).

 ¥ House prices have been increasing in the 
area with a 27% increase in house prices in 
West Devon in the last 5 years and a 17% 
increase in the average house price in  
South Hams. The ratio of lower quartile 
house price to lower quartile gross earnings 
has correspondingly increased such that it  
is now 11 times the average earnings in 
South Hams and 10.42 in West Devon. (ONS).

Population increase

5% 4%

SH

WD

South Hams West Devon

11.6 x 
average 
annual 
income

10.6 x 
average 
annual 
income

FOR 
SALE

House 
prices 17% 27%

25.1k 23k 26.9k 30.8k
South Hams West Devon South West National

63% 63%

P
age 31



16

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

 ¥ Since 2016/17, South Hams has enabled  
483 units of new affordable housing and  
West Devon 95 units. 

 ¥ 8.2% of the total dwellings in the South Hams 
are second homes with up to 50% in some 
areas. In West Devon the figure is 2.1%. The 
availability of housing is further restricted 
by many otherwise available homes being 
registered as a holiday homes business.

 ¥ There are 213 households on the  
Help to Buy Register in the South Hams  
and 129 households in West Devon. 
(Help to Buy South).

 ¥ The average customer 
seeking shared ownership in 
South Hams and West Devon 
is 42 years old, earns £27,891, 
and has savings of £25,818. 
(Help to Buy South).

 ¥ The Council’s Housing Register has approximately 
2,000 households registered, and 70% of those earn 
less than £20,000 per annum. (Devon Home Choice).

Waiting list 
Need by 
property

South 
Hams

West 
Devon

1 bed 57% 50%
2 bed 28% 28%
3 bed 12% 16%
4+ bed 4% 6%

The Council’s Housing Register South Hams West Devon
Active applications 1261 810
% of households with income < £25,000 (includes ‘0’ answers) 83% 79%
No. of active applications where at least one household member is under 65 1038 699
% of above households where main applicant is in work 45% 40%
% of above households where at least one household member is in work 49% 47%

2,000

70%
earn less than 

£20k

h
ouseholds on H ousing Regis

te
r

Affordable housing units

483

95

Help to Buy Register

213
households

129
households

42yrs

28k
Annual

26k
Saved

2.1%8.2%

2nd 2nd

1st1st

50%

P
age 32



17

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

 ¥ On average, over the last 5 years,  
South Hams and West Devon nominated 
400 households from the Housing Register 
to housing association homes per annum. 
(Devon Home Choice).

 ¥ Over the past 2 years, The tenants Incentive 
scheme has supported 16 households in 
South Hams and 5 households in West Devon 
to downsize to smaller accommodation. This 
has resulted in those larger size social housing 
properties becoming available for use by families 
who need them, via the housing register.

 ¥ The local rented housing market has become increasingly expensive, including the 
social housing sector, and the proportion of net income required to cover housing costs 
for low income households has increased.

Private 
Rentals

Average 
Rental Per 
Month

Max Local Housing 
Allowance - renting from a 
private landlord

Average 
Rental Per 
Month

Max Local Housing 
Allowance - renting from a 
private landlord

1 bed £538 £449 £468 £449
2 bed £650 £599 £595 £585
3 bed £825 £730 £750 £695
4+ bed £1,120 £899 £995 £850

 ¥ Levels of fuel poverty in the District and 
Borough are above the national average, 
affecting occupants of existing housing 
stock. The national average proportion of 
households in fuel poverty in 2017 was  
10.9% compared to West Devon 12.6% and 
South Hams 11.2%.

 ¥ To reduce fuel poverty the Council has been 
active in ECO funding and Warm Front funding 
as part of the Central government’s Energy 
Company Obligation scheme. It successfully 
brought in over £1.2 million in SH and WD in 
2019/20.

516
Downsizing (over past 2 years)

1.2m

Per annum over the last 5 years

Housing 
Register

400
households

Housing 
Association

South Hams West Devon National

11.2% 12.6% 10.9%

P
age 33



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

18

 ¥ The ability of a person to remain healthy in 
their own home is greatly improved by the 
provision of a disabled facilities grant (DFG). 
75 DFGs were made in West Devon and 104 in 
SHDC in 2019/20. 

 ¥ In 2019 there were 67 properties identified 
as being long term empty properties in 
South Hams and 27 in West Devon. This is 
0.14% of the total housing stock in South 
Hams and 0.10% of the total housing stock 
in West Devon.

 ¥ In 2019/20 228 Households in West Devon 
saw their homelessness prevented following 
an intervention from the Council. This was 
348 households in South Hams.

 ¥ The Councils are reimbursed for their Housing 
Benefit expenditure by central Government. 
This figure for 2019/20 includes all tenure 
types i.e. social housing, supported housing 
and private rented sector housing.

67 27

228348

75104

SHDC
£16,903,273

WD
£ 9,952,798

P
age 34



19

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Better Homes, Better Lives

Our Themes

Housing for Place
Driving the delivery of new homes that people can afford  

and meeting the different needs of our communities

Housing for People
Ensure the best use and improved quality of  

existing housing

Reducing our 
Carbon Footprint 

and increasing 
Biodiversity

Working 
with 

partners

Easy access 
to advice and 

assistance

Making  
best use of 

the evidence

P
age 35



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Theme 1

Housing for Place
Driving the delivery of new homes that people can afford 
and meeting the different needs of our communities.

Under this theme we have three headline priorities:

Place Priority 1

Promote balanced and 
sustainable communities

Place Priority 2

Ensuring that homes support  
the health and wellbeing of  

the area

20

P
age 36



21

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Place Priority 1:  
Promote Balanced and  
Sustainable communities 
The long term resilience of rural communities depends 
upon having a diverse housing stock that can meet the 
needs of a wide range of households. By ensuing that new 
development adds diversity to the housing stock we can 
help ensure our communities are inclusive and equitable 
places to live, and that can create communities that are well 
prepared to respond to change.

How we will deliver 

 ¥ Use strategic planning policy to ensure sustainable housing growth.

 Î Through the JLP deliver 7,000 high quality, sustainable and  
affordable housing during the lifetime of the plan across  
South Hams and West Devon.

 Î Continue to drive the JLP affordable homes agenda.

 Î Support the application of DNPA sustainable development  
policies that require new housing to meet identified local  
housing needs.

 ¥ Explore the concepts of the Council as a developer and landlord  
of new housing.

 ¥ Purchase land directly from landowners to support strategic housing 
delivery

 ¥ Support alternative ways to deliver affordable housing and manage local 
housing needs, such as co-operatives and community land trusts.

 ¥ Encourage provision of a wide range of housing options including social 
housing, managed shared accommodation and managed intermediate 
assured short hold private rental, part ownership and market sale.

 ¥ Work creatively with Devon County Council to provide quality specialist 
adapted housing and housing for people requiring support to live 
independently, to be managed by SeaMoor Lettings.

 ¥ Redevelop existing homeless provision in West Devon to ensure good 
quality accommodation for people when they need it the most.

 ¥ Build genuinely affordable high quality housing for our communities 
through a cost efficient standardised model.

 ¥ Achieve high quality environmental standards (for affordable housing at 
the right price) - utilising modern energy efficient methods of construction 
(modular construction, using recycled materials where possible to reduce 
the embodied carbon in their construction and securing new tree planting 
to aid carbon sequestration where possible.

 ¥ Encourage opportunities for people interested in custom build / self-
build development, both within community housing schemes and wider 
housing delivery.

 ¥ Work creatively with RPs and Homes England and other joint venture 
partners to draw down investment to deliver more affordable housing 
including more social rented homes.

 ¥ Utilise Section 106 Affordable Housing Contributions and other funding 
available to the Council’s in the most effective way.

 ¥ Work collaboratively with communities in the formation of Neighbourhood 
Plans to deliver the right development available to meet local needs.

 ¥ Actively encourage housing developments that reduce carbon footprint, 
fuel poverty and will be resilient to future changes in our climate.

 ¥ Ensure developments contribute to biodiversity net gain wherever possible.

 ¥ Innovate the delivery of key worker housing to meet localised need.

 ¥ Promote effective partnership working to meet the needs of Gypsy and 
Travellers.

P
age 37



22

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Place Priority 2:  
Ensuring that homes support the  
Health and Wellbeing of the area 
The Council wants to meet the housing needs of all 
communities and the challenges of an ageing population. 
This Strategy aims to promote the best use of current 
housing stock, whatever the tenure, and enable new 
housing that is built to a standard that will enhance the 
health and wellbeing of future occupants. 

How we will deliver 

 ¥ Plan for future health needs.

 ¥ Work collaboratively with providers to respond to a need for an extra care 
facility in West Devon.

 ¥ Ensure new affordable housing for older people adequately meets  
future needs (including mobility needs and issues such as dementia), 
in locations close to local amenities and of a design and type that is 
attractive to older people. 

 ¥ Encourage the development of energy efficient affordable homes to 
reduce carbon emissions and reduce household heating costs.

 ¥ Enable wheelchair standard accommodation on new housing 
developments in line with adopted planning policy requirements to 
actively increase the stock of this type of affordable housing.

 ¥ Promote housing development to include adequate natural spaces and 
tree planting

P
age 38



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

23

Theme 2

Housing for People
Ensure the best use and improved  
quality of existing housing

Under this theme we have three headline priorities:

Priority 1

Homes that support the Health 
and Wellbeing of our residents

Priority 2

Make the best use and improve 
the quality of existing housing

P
age 39



24

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

People Priority 1:  
Homes that support the Health and 
Wellbeing of our residents 
The Councils are compelled to addressing hardship, deprivation, 
ill health and inequalities that exist within our areas. 

How we will deliver 

 ¥ Promote and support energy efficiency in homes.

 ¥ Ensure the Private rented sector  meets the requirements of The Domestic 
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES) Regulations.

 ¥ Proactively support independent living and also support people with 
disabilities to remain in their homes through disabled facility grants and 
make effective use of the better care fund.

 ¥ Optimise matching of adapted housing stock to those most in need 
through a Disabled Adapted Needs Panel. 

 ¥ Develop a Fuel Poverty Action Plan; that will incorporate closer working 
with partner organisations, that Pool knowledge and resources to ensure 
that fuel poor residents receive support; Target wards which have higher 
fuel poverty rates than the regional average. Target all F & G energy 
performance rated properties.

 ¥ Assist self-funders of disabled adaptations to make informed choices and 
support them with trusted contractors at a fair price. 

People Priority 2:   
Make the best use and improve the 
quality of existing housing
The Council are committed to making better use of already 
existing housing to meet the needs of residents. 

How we will deliver 

 ¥ Seek to expand our own in-house private lettings service Seamoor 
Lettings.

 ¥ Encourage long-term empty homes back into use.

 ¥ Develop proactive relationships and work collaboratively with Registered 
Providers for mutual benefit and to improve standards in Registered 
Provider housing stock.

 ¥ Embed and implement a new Tenancy Strategy to supersede the current 
out of date version.

 ¥ Address under occupation & overcrowding within social housing stock and 
by doing so reduce length of time on the housing register.

 ¥ Promote the Tenants Incentive Scheme to encourage and incentivise 
tenants in social housing to downsize. 

 ¥ Work with our partners to seek re-development opportunities to enhance 
the current housing stock and to meet the needs of residents.

 ¥ Work with our Registered Provider partners to identify and improve issues 
in their stock.

 ¥ Work with Registered Providers to deliver low cost aids and adaptations in 
their housing stock to support their tenants and develop improvements 
in the recording and identification of adapted units within the existing 
affordable housing stock. 

P
age 40



25

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

 ¥ Develop and promote an intermediate housing register specifically for key 
workers with supply from the private rented sector through Seamoor and 
property developed by the Councils.

 ¥ Monitor and actively promote high standards in the rented sector and take 
appropriate action where standards are not being met, to tackle disrepair, 
poor housing conditions and criminal landlords. 

 ¥ Support and encourage new, high quality and well managed, Houses in 
Multiple Occupation in the local area, including offering a management 
service ourselves, whilst licensing all HMOs that are subject to mandatory 
licensing. 

 ¥ Deliver Private Rented Sector Landlords’ & Letting Agents’ Forums and 
other networking opportunities for private landlords; promoting the 
events widely and using them to consult the Private Rented Sector on the 
issues that are affecting them.

 ¥ Meet the priorities of our standalone Homeless Strategy and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy.

 ¥ Promote, deliver and review the Council’s private sector renewal policy 
and home adaptation policy to ensure it makes a positive difference to 
people’s lives and meeting locally identified need.

 ¥ Support Tenants and stand firm in situations where Landlords attempt 
retaliatory evictions.

 ¥ Work with partners to reduce anti-social behaviour in our neighbourhoods.

 ¥ Interrogate new Census data to predict future housing trends and needs.

 ¥ Regularly communicate with residents, agencies, partners and our 
Communities to ensure an up to date, two way, understanding of current 
needs and services. 

 ¥ Achieve Dementia Friendly Status as a Council and work towards 
becoming a dementia friendly district and borough.

 ¥ Work proactively with the data available in the DHC register to identify 
trends and potential solution on a local and individual level.

P
age 41



26

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Resources

The Councils has had its resources 
severely tested during the response 
to Covid-19 and the downturn in 
income from core finance streams 
such as car parking and licensing. 

By operating as a shared workforce on behalf of 
West Devon & South Hams, each Council saves 
around £3.9m in South Hams & £2.2m in West 
Devon in staffing costs. We have also reduced 
our workspace significantly in the last 5 years 
operating from a fraction of our existing offices, 
renting the majority of the building to tenants 
both in the private and public sector. Nevertheless 
the Council’s resources are limited.

This strategy is dependent on a partnership 
approach to deliver outcomes for our Residents. 
Our priorities are not ours alone and are shared by 
a great number of other services such as Health, 
Social Care, Criminal Justice, Community Safety 
Partnership as well as Registered Providers, house 
builders and developers.

Both South Hams & West Devon have declared a 
climate emergency. Therefore this strategy cannot 
be at odds with our priorities around reducing our 
carbon footprint and priorities for biodiversity This 
will prove challenging, particularly in relation to for 
example fuel poverty.

In terms of delivering on the priorities of this 
strategy, the Housing functions for the Council are 
funded through a mix of council tax, Government 
grant funding and a rebate from the Department 
of Work & Pensions for Housing Benefit and 
additional funding for both Councils discretionary 
housing payment fund.

The Council maintains a Capital Programme, a 
community housing programme and receives 
developer contributions in lieu of onsite affordable 
housing contributions. In South Hams there is 
also capital receipts from former Council Property 
(Which was transferred to Tor Homes, now 
Livewest in 1999) sold through the Right to Buy to 
tenants who were formally tenants of the Council. 
Whilst this still provides income at the moment 
this will decrease gradually over the next few years 
such is the length of time since the stock transfer 
and number of original tenants from that time. 
In West Devon the agreement was different and 
the minimum number of properties has not yet 
triggered any income to the Council.

Both Councils deliver a Disabled Facility Grant 
(DFG) programme using allocated Better Care 
Funding from Devon County Council. Devon 
County also provide a grant to assist with the 
homeless prevention of 16 & 17 year olds and 
children leaving care.

Whilst the current funding arrangements at 
the moment ensures we continue to receive a 
flexible homeless support grant, which was the 
replacement funding for replaced temporary 
accommodation subsidy in and additional 
homeless prevention grant to use on measures 
and activity to prevent people.

The Council continues to submit bids and access 
funding where possible from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) and Homes England.

Staffing and budgetary resources required to 
deliver the ambitions in the Strategy will be set out 
in detail in the Operational Delivery Plan.

P
age 42



27

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

How the Strategy was developed

This strategy was developed jointly by 
elected members of both South Hams 
and West Devon Councils, officers, 
local partners and stakeholders. 

A draft strategy was presented for public and 
partner consultation in December 2020, concluding 
on the 1st of February 2021. The Council received 
267 responses from the public and 35 from partner 

organisations and changes to the strategy have 
been made following comments made through 
this process.

Monitoring of this housing strategy

The Housing Strategy has a lifespan 
of 5 years.

Producing it during the covid-19 pandemic, which 
no doubt will have far reaching consequences 
into the future both economically and for health 
& wellbeing has proved to be challenging. 
New priorities may emerge and legislation may 
fundamentally change. However, It is likely that 
both Councils will want to continue the themes 
they seek to deliver through this strategy.

The Housing Strategy will be subject to an annual 
review, which seeks endorsement of our partners 
and our Elected Members. It is anticipated that 
we will make our updated delivery plan available 
annually in the spring with a progress report 
setting out our key challenges for the forthcoming 
year and achievements of the last.

5 year 
Strategy

P
age 43



28

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Annual Delivery Plan

This strategy document highlights 
the priorities for both Councils and 
high level plans to deliver them. 

An operational delivery plan will be developed 
annually with SMART (Specific, measurable, 
achievable, realistic and timely) actions which will 
be regularly monitored and reviewed.

It is anticipated that there will be a requirement to 
be flexible because of the current unprecedented 
times and the strategy, as a live document will be 
subject to change over its lifespan.

Glossary

Annual Delivery Plans
with SMART actions

Term Description

Affordable 
Housing

Affordable housing includes social rented, affordable 
rented and intermediate housing (including Low Cost 
Home Ownership options), provided to eligible households 
whose needs are not met by the market.

 ¥ Affordable rented housing - Rented housing let by 
Registered Providers to households who are eligible 
for social rented housing. Affordable rent is subject to 
rent controls that require a rent of no more than 80% 
of the local market rent.

 ¥ Intermediate rented housing - Housing at prices and 
rents above those of social rent but below market price 
or rents.

Term Description

Affordable 
Housing - 
continued

 ¥ Social rented housing - Rented housing owned 
and managed by Local Authorities and Registered 
Providers for which guideline target rents are 
determined through the national rent regime.

Allocations 
policy

The way in which homes owned by the local authority 
and registered providers are let. The scheme sets out who 
will be prioritised for these homes and how they will be 
allocated.

Balanced 
community

 A community in which the mix of housing types and 
tenures is appropriate to the size, character and function of 
the area and will therefore be different depending on the 
community in question.

P
age 44



29

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Term Description

Category 1 
Hazard

Housing Standards - A category 1 hazard is a hazard that 
poses a serious threat to the health or safety of people 
living in or visiting a home. Examples can include a leaking 
roof, mould on the walls / ceilings, excess cold, exposed 
wiring or overloaded electrical sockets, a dangerous or 
broken boiler etc. There is a scoring system to assess 
whether any hazard is ‘Category 1’. Councils must take 
action to remove or reduce Category 1 hazards.

Community 
Land Trust

Community Land Trusts are a form of community-led 
housing, set up and run by ordinary people to develop 
and manage homes as well as other assets. CLTs act as 
long-term stewards of housing, ensuring that it remains 
genuinely affordable, based on what people actually earn 
in their area, not just for now but for every future occupier 
(National Community Land Trust Network).

Custom 
build

Custom build homes are where an individual or a group 
works with a developer to help deliver a home. The 
developer may help to find a plot, manage the construction 
and arrange the finance for the new home. This is more 
of a hands-off approach compared to self-build but the 
home will be tailored to match the individuals/groups 
requirements.

Devon 
Homechoice

The Council’s Allocations Scheme

Decent 
Homes 
Standard

Quality standard for public sector housing designed to 
ensure minimum Standards for kitchens, bathrooms, 
heating and general repair.

Empty Home 
(long term)

A home that has been unoccupied for more than six months. 

Term Description

Fixed term 
and flexible 
tenancies

New types of tenancies for social or affordable housing 
which were introduced from April 2012 and which 
landlords have the option to use instead of the secure 
tenancies which have traditionally been used in the sector. 
Where a secure tenancy lasts indefinitely, a fi xed term or 
flexible tenancy will be reviewed after a set period of time 
and may not be renewed.

Fuel poverty Fuel poverty in England is measured using the Low Income 
High Costs (LIHC) indicator. Under the LIHC indicator, a 
household is considered to be fuel poor if:

 ¥ They have required fuel costs that are above the 
average (the national median level), and

 ¥ Were they to spend that amount they would be left 
with a residual income below the official poverty line

Help to Buy A government scheme offering mortgage guarantees or 
equity loans for people who want to buy a home.

Homes and  
Communities  
Agency  
(HCA)

A government agency with responsibility for housing 
and regeneration including providing investment for new 
housing development and acting as the regulator for social 
housing providers in England.

Homes 
England

Homes England is the non-departmental public body that 
funds new affordable housing in England. It was founded 
on 1 January 2018 to replace the Homes and Communities 
Agency.

Joint 
Ventures

Councils may partner with other stakeholders to work 
together both financially and strategically in a project. This 
could result in the scheme being owned and managed 
with an ongoing interest in the final project. Joint ventures, 
allow local authorities to have a higher input into the end 
result for our communities.

P
age 45



30

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Term Description

Local 
Housing 
Allowance

The type of Housing Benefit paid to people who rent their 
home from a private landlord. The rate is calculated based 
on how many bedrooms the household needs. It does not 
apply to people renting from a registered provider.

Local Plan The key document setting out the strategic policies upon 
which local planning decisions will be based with regard to 
new housing, community facilities, shops and employment.

New Homes 
Bonus

A grant paid to councils by the government for increasing 
the number of homes in their areas, including new builds, 
conversions and long-term empty properties which have 
been brought back into use.

Registered 
Provider

A term used to refer to any Registered Provider of Social 
Housing, previously known asRegistered Social Landlords 
(RSLs). The local authority, housing associations and

Rough 
sleepers

Homeless people who do not have anywhere to spent the 
night and end up sleeping rough. This could include urban 
streets, car parks etc., but in Devon also includes more remote 
and rural areas where people are less likely to be disturbed.

SHMNA – 
Strategic 
Housing 
Market 
Needs 
Assessment

The Government’s National Policy Planning Framework 
(NPPF) requires each Local Authority to undertake a 
SHMNA as part of the evidence base required to inform 
Local Plans. A SHMNA seeks to assess the long term need 
and affordability of housing in the area, and is based on 
demographic and economic trends. The latest SHMA for 
South Hams and West was published in 2017.

SHWD South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council

Term Description

Single-
room rate 
entitlement

The rate of Local Housing Allowance for single people with 
no dependents under the age of 35 who live in the private 
rented sector. It is based on the cost of renting a room in a 
shared house.

Social 
housing

A general term used to refer to any housing that is rented 
from the local authority, a housing association or other 
registered provider at a social or affordable rent.

Universal 
Credit

A new benefi t being introduced to replace Jobseeker’s 
Allowance; Employment and Support Allowance; Income 
Support; Housing Benefit and Tax Credits.

Welfare 
reform

A term used to refer to a series of changes to the benefit t 
system introduced by the government since 2012 including 
high profile changes such as the ‘bedroom tax’ and 
Universal Credit among many others.

P
age 46



31

 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

P
age 47



 South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026

Better Homes, 
Better Lives www.southhams.gov.uk www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 48



Place Priority 1 - 
Promote Balanced and 
Sustainable 
communities

What we will do
When will we do 
it?

Who will deliver 
this

Resources Milestones
What would success look 
like

Commen
ts/status

Use strategic planning policy to 
ensure sustainable housing growth. 
Through the JLP deliver 7,000 high 
quality, sustainable and affordable 
housing during the lifetime of the plan 
across South Hams and West Devon.  
Continue to drive the JLP affordable 
homes agenda.  Support the 
application of DNPA sustainable 
development policies that require new 
housing to meet identified local 
housing needs.

Work with the JLP team, Development 
Management team and DNPA to ensure 
timely responses to planning applications 
for new homes. Engage in the pre-
application process to ensure policy 
compliant applications 

weekly

Affordable Housing 
Specialists & DM and 
Planning Policy 
Specialists

10 hours per 
week 

Regular review of 
delivery at staff 1:1s and 
appraisals. Quarterly 
performance monitoring 
and reporting Year end 
performance monitoring, 
analysis, and reporting. 

Achieve the delivery of at least xx 
affordable homes per annum, 
including social rented homes for 
those most in need.          Planning 
consultations responded to on time in 
accordance with service level 
agreements. 

Community Housing Delivery

Review Community Housing Strategy to 
ensure it  addresses affordable housing 
need, facilitating  communities to deliver 
what they want through a collaborative 
partnership,  aligning  with the Council's 
economic objectives                                                         
Delivering such projects within the current 
development pipeline which meet these 
objectives

Review update during 
Q1 2021 [tbc]                               
Commencement of 
construction during 2021 

Assets / Community 
Housing Team / 
Finance Team / 
Affordable Housing 
Team / DM 

In house staff, 
consultants, 
community 
housing fund, 
Homes England 
Grant

Project delivery RIBA 
milestones

High quality, sustainable, genuninely 
affordable housing delivery

Purchase land directly from landowners 
to support strategic housing strategy

On a needs and 
evidence basis when 
opportunities present 
that meet the strategic 
ambition of the council

Utilise existing policies and strengthen 
them into the future, to ensure the 
reduction of housing carbon 
footprints, aiming for carbon neutral 
development as standard.

Achieve high quality environmental 
standards (for affordable housing at the 
right price) - utilising modern energy 
efficient methods of construction (modular 
construction, using recycled materials 
where possible to reduce the embodied 
carbon in their construction and securing 
new tree planting to aid carbon 
sequestration where possible.

As projects progress 
through design process 
in compliance with 
common design 
standards

Assets / Community 
Housing Team

Staff time & 
consultants

RIBA milestones in 
development design

Delivery of high quality developments

P
age 49



Work creatively with RPs and Homes 
England and other joint venture partners to 
draw down investment to deliver more 
affordable housing including more social 
rented homes.

Bring forward one identified scheme of 
mixed tenure and housing type through "a 
different approach" model

Quarterly reviews from 
April 2021

planning application due 
Spring 2021

Affordable Housing 
Team/Registered 
Providers 

Housing enabling 
Team, JV Partner, CLT

Staff Time

Staff time, no 
finance required 
by SHDC

• Re-introduction of 
Housing Delivery Forum 
to build effective 
working relationships to 
maximise delivery.   

• Maximise funding 
opportunities for 
affordable housing 
delivery in South Hams 
and West Devon.

Achieve the delivery of at least xx 
affordable homes per annum, 
including social rented homes for 
those most in need. 

Attract more grant funding

A well designed scheme that meets 
local needs

Utilise Section 106 Affordable Housing 
Contributions and other funding available 
to the Council’s in the most effective way

Quarterly reviews with 
S106 monitoring officer

Affordable Housing 
Team & S106 
Monitoring Officer

5 hours per week 

Review and monitor 
funds already available. 
Work with S106 case 
Officer. Allocate funds 
and monitor spend in 
consultation with Ward 
Members

Increase delivery of affordable 
housing and better use of public 
subsidy.  Clear records of funds 
available for use. Opportunities to 
target grant funding to enable 
additional/increased delivery of social 
rent tenure.   Less reliance on grant 
funding for S106 schemes. Better use 
of funds for non S106 schemes and or 
additionality. 

Work with Parish councils and 
community groups to develop 
Neighbourhood Plans to deliver the 
right type and tenure of housing that 
meet local needs.                   

Support the creation of innovative 
neighbourhood plan policies that are 
responsive to local housing needs. 
We will update and develop educational 
resources for communities to make 
decisions about the type and tenure of 
housing that they need
Establish good working relationships with 
NPG', Parish councils and CLT's by 
developing indepth literature and sharing 
best practice from the district/borough and 
national adopted plans, including housing 
need survey advice.  
Ensure that a robust package of 
information is provided in the early stages 
of the plan and during update periods to 
inform the groups of what evidence and 
information should be included.  
Updates will be regularly provided on 
government policies and available funding, 
with regard to affordable housing

Commencement Spring 
2021 and on going

Quarterly reviews from 
April 2021.  Pack to be 
ready to circulate to 
groups by summer 2021

Strategic planning, 
Neighbourhood 

planning & Housing 
enabling

existing resource 
from Enabling 
team and 
Neighbourhood 
planning team

First draft of resource 
pack by summer 2021.  
Information to be 
provided to all 
neighbourhood planning 
groups, new and older 
by the review period of 
this plan.

Review of 
Neighbourhood Plans in 
progress. Ensure key 
messages given to 
Neighbourhood Plan 
groups on affordable 
housing options to bring 
forward schemes.

Well informed communities who are 
kept up to date with legislation 
changes. Well written policies within 
neighbourhood plans in relation to 
their housing chapters.  These will be 
clear for residents to understand and 
planning officers to make 
reccomendations on planning 
applications.

Increased delivery of rural affordable 
housing

P
age 50



Support alternative ways to deliver 
affordable housing and manage local 
housing needs, such as co-operatives and 
community land trusts.

Apr-25
Affordable Housing 
Team  & Community 
Housing Team 

Staff Time

Respond to government 
consultations on new 
proposed new 
affordable housing 
products.  Monitor 
progress on community 
housing projects and 
use of Council owned 
land to ensure potential 
opportunities are 
explored.

Provision of new affordable housing 
products to meet a range of needs.    
Increase options for affordable 
housing delivery

Encourage provision of a wide range 
of housing options including social 
housing, managed shared 
accommodation and managed 
intermediate assured short hold 
private rental, part ownership and 
market sale.

Develop a mechanism to clearly justify the 
need for the following tenures:
• Affordable Rent
• Social Rent
• Discount Market Sale – the councils need 
to develop an internal applicarion process 
to enable applicants to register an interest.
• Shared ownership Private rent
• Self Build
This will support new build opportunites 
and re-development opportunites as well 
as supporting neighbourhood Plans and 
community led initiatives

commencement 
immediately,
ongoing exercise

Council officers, 
external agencies as 
communities may 
commision

existing 
resource, 
Neighbourhood 
planning funding 
potential use of 
Capital 
programme if the 
council wishes to 
streamline the 
process.  
Surveys typically 
cost between 1.5 
k to  2.5k 
depending on the 
number of 
households in an 
area.

By march 2021 the new 
process will be ready to 
approve for smaller 
areas.

To match aspiration and need to 
housing delivery. Resut is a decline in 
demand and number of applicants on 
the housing registers.  Will ensure we 
are making the best use of our 
housing stock.  that housing need  by 
type and tenure can be identified by 
the end of this strategy and a review 
of all areas programmed in for the 
next 5 year strategy.

Work creatively with Devon County 
Council to provide specialist adapted 
housing and housing for people 
requiring support to live 
independently, to be managed by 
SeaMoor Lettings.

• Scope in detail local need
• Investigate best practice nationally 
• Establish a forum for potential  residents 
and their carers so they can  influence 
future housing design. provision.
• Consider funding opportunities through 
Better Care Fund, Homes England Joint 
ventures with charities or 3rd sector

June 2021
June 2021

September 2021

December 2021 (and 
ongoing)

Seamoor Lettings
Housing Specialists
DCC
Specialist 
accommodation 
providers
Residents & 
stakeholders

Cost of a 
bespoke housing 
needs survey 

By March 2022 Local 
Need profile

At the end of this strategy.
Good quality accommodation and a 
range of suitable options for those 
requiring support to live 
independently.

Regular and informative engagement 
and involvement with our residents 
and their  carers who require support 
to live independently.

P
age 51



Redevelop existing homeless 
provision in West Devon to ensure 
good quality accommodation for 
people when they need it the most.  

Redesign current provision, submit plans, 
identify house share opportunities for 
young peoples provision

planning application to 
be submitted in Summer 
21

Housing Specialists

S106 Affordable 
housing 
contribution
PWLB Borrowing
Homes England 
application

Planning
appoint a contractor
rebuild

quality mixed size provision to 
meet a range of service users
for short term temporary 
accommodation and best use of 
stock

Encourage opportunities for people 
interested in custom build / self build 
development, both within community 
housing schemes and wider housing 
delivery.                              Support 
opportunties for self-build. 

• Understand the limitations of the current 
register and introduce a replacement that 
charges for entry, has detailed questions 
on customers’ requirements. 
• Contacting all registered and get to re-
register if still in need.
• Negotiate through the planning system to 
maximise new self/custom build plots  

Ongoing
Self/Custom Build 
Manager

Staff Time

• New Self/Custom build 
register produced
• Register made 
available on line with 
charging mechanism
• Email letter to send to 
all currently on the 
register asking to re-
register
• Look at other councils 
delivery methods for 
good practice
• Engage with Planning 
system to bring forward 
serviced plots  

• SHDC/WDBC ownership of the 
programme to deliver against those on 
the register in the time frame required.
• Landowners and developers 
engaged in providing serviced plots 
through planning policy
• Self-funding management of 
programme through paid subscription 
process 

Actively encourage housing 
developments that reduce carbon 
footprint, fuel poverty and will be 
resilient to future changes in our 
climate.

Review of current practises, amend 
planning policy consultation responses if 
applicable.

Quarterly reviews from 
April 2021

Affordable Housing 
and Community 
Housing Team. 

Staff Time   
More energy efficient 
homes being delivered

reduced bills for occupants of 
affordable homes. 

Innovate the delivery of key worker 
housing to meet localised need.

Develop a simple housing register to be 
used as a waiting list for SeaMoor Lettings 
properties with preference given to Key 
Workers. Promotion work regarding 
SeaMoor lettings housign provision to key 
workers to encourage landlord engagement

Mar-22
Seamoor lettings team 
in partnership with ICT

Staff and 
possible software 
upgrade on 1090

registration form to be 
approved by members & 
launched on website 
marketing activity to 
commence

Creation of register. Appropriate 
matching of key workers to private 
rented housing 

P
age 52



Promote effective partnership working 
to meet the needs of Gypsy and 
Travellers.

develop peninsular wide needs 
assessments to assist with identifying sites.  
We will work with our local authority 
partners to seek solutions and identify 
negotiated stopping sites. We will 
contuinue to hold twice yearly forums for 
the Gypsy and Traveller community whilst 
recognising the unique qualities of the 
different groups

forum to be organised for 
early april 2021 outside 
location dependant on 
pandemic situation.  
Meeting with Teignbridge 
and NPS to be arranged 
early 2021 to assess 
DCC land holdings.  
Work with peninsular 
wide forum to create a 
database on travellers - 
ongoing work to be 
completed in line with 
census work.

Housing enabling in 
partnership with DCC 
and neighbouring LA's

existing 
resource, HE 
funding, cost of 
purchasing and 
providing basic 
services for a 
site is likely to be 
around £100k.  
The councils 
capital 
programme our 
s106 funding 
could be utlised.

Delivery of a negotiated stopping 
place. Reduction ion complaints of 
UE's, reduction in flyp tip reports as a 
result of UE's and costs associated.  
Sites would be provided that are 
acceptable

Need DCC 
and 
neighbouring 
authority 
involvement

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Place Priority 3 – ensure that 
homes support the health and 
wellbeing of the area

What we will do When will we do it? Who will deliver this Resources Milestones What would success look like Comments/status

Plan for future health needs

we will work closely 
with our partners in 
health and social care 
to ensure that 
residents have the 
maximum opportunity 
to remain in their own 
homes for as long as 
possible.  We will 
collect up to date 
advice and update our 
evidence to reflect the 
need in order to inform 
the planning and 
redevelopment 
applications.

DCC currently updating 
their evidence.  

Housing  enabling 
officers plus DCC

existing 
resource no 
additional 
financial 
resource.

Work to 
commence in 
Summer 2021.  
this will be an 
ongoing 
requirement 
on an annual 
basis

up to date suite of information that is 
used for JLP review and the potential 
redevelopment and redesignation of 
our current stock to ensure it 
continues to meet local need

Support an appropriately located 
planning application for an extra care 
housing scheme in West Devon

 justify the need for 
extra care and provide 
justification on the 
options to deliver this.  
We will research 
opportunities to fund 
the project with 
potential partners in 
order to deliver the 
best outcome for the 
borough.  Use the 
model of Extra Care 
that has been 
delivered in Totnes as 
a template but seek 
best practice ideas..

April 2021 with an 
update late 2021 once 
DCC work complete

SHDC, WDBC, DCC

staff time - 
Homes 
England 
Funding - 
Care & 
Support 
Funding - 
Strategic 
Partnership 
Grant for 
RP's

need to be 
identified 

planning permission of an Extra care 
scheme, working towards better 
outcomes in some of the existing 
units of accommodation ensuring best 
use of our stock

applicable mainly to 
West Devon.  
However, Sherford 
may have the ability 
to provide a further 
unit of Extra Care in 
South Hams

Work with Ivybridge Town Council to 
bring forward a housing scheme for 
adults with learning disabilities, 
including a training house. 

Provide S106 funding 
to help with the land 
purchase at 
Butterpark, Ivybridge.  
Support and engage 
with preapplication 
planning discussions. 

Support a planning 
application being 
submitted in 2021 and 
provide S106 funding. 

Housing Enabling 
team.  Ivybridge Town 
Council.  Live West. 

Staff time 10 
hours per 
month, S106 
monitoring 
Officer.

Planning 
application 
submitted. 

The housing needs of adults with 
learning disabilities are met in 
Ivybridge with indpependent 
supported accomodation. 

regeneration projects for key 
locations on existing housing stock to 
ensure it is repurposed to target 
those who need it or redesingate to 
gebneral needs where stock is no 
longer meeting standards or 

Identify 2 project areas 
in each local authority 
to ensure best use of 
existing stock .  If 
changes are not 
required to those 
projects a report to be 
written to justify this.  
We will work with 
members and our 
partners to identify the 
locations. This could 
involve redesignation 
to general needs 
accommodation for 
local people

inception meeting spring 
2021 then ongoing 

Housing enabling plus 
strategic partners

existing 
resource, RP 
reserves and 
borrowing, 
RCGF

work and units 
identified for 
regeneration 
projects early 
2022

successful move on for tenants into 
more appropriate accommodation this 
will create a number of moves within 
general needs housing stock.  Higher 
satisfaction rates and less impact on 
the health and social care budgets, 
less bed blocking and ability for 
people to remain more independant 
within in their own homes.

Ensure new affordable housing for 
older people adequately meets future 
needs (including mobility needs and 
issues such as dementia), in 
locations close to local amenities and 
of a design and type that is attractive 
to older people.

where specific needs 
and cases are 
identified through the 
Disabled |Facilities 
Panel, we will request 
specialist housing 
above and beyond our 
policy requirements

immediately

housing enabling plus 
strategic partners, 
DFG team, Housing 
Advice

current 
resource

up to date information to be published on adapted units Summer 

Encourage the development of 
energy efficient affordable homes to 
reduce carbon emissions and reduce 
household heating costs

we will encourage 
developers and RP 
partners to pilot new 
carbon efficient  
heating methods and 
maintain records of 
where this has 
occurred.  This is 
above JLP policy so 
target can't be set.  
Viability will be key.  
Feed in to future JLP  
review

immediately housing enabling, 
planners and Partners

Additional 
staffing 
resource

data base to 
be ready for 
monitoring 
Dec 21

one scheme in the 
planning/development system with 

innovative ways to reduce fuel  
emmisions and costs to the tenant

Enable wheelchair standard 
accommodation on new housing 
developments in line with adopted 
planning policy requirements to 
actively increase the stock of this 
type of affordable housing

 we will use JLP policy 
to enable disabled 
properties but we will 
also negotiate to 
enable bespoke 
properties for identified 
needs in the TTV 
areas .  

immediately housing enabling
current 
resource

up to date 
register of 
need 
developed to 
assist with site 
negotiation

minimal times on the housing register 
to those requiring this type of property 
which is often built to a particular 
tenants needs

Promote housing development that
includes adequate natural spaces & 
tree
planting

Adam

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



People Priority 1 – 
Homes that support the 
Health and Wellbeing of 
our residents

What we will 
do

When will we do 
it?

Who will deliver 
this

Resources Milestones
What would success look 
like

Comments/
status

Optimise matching of adapted 
housing stock to those most in need 
through the Disabled Adapted Needs 
Panel.

Broaden current 
scope of Disabled 
Access Panel to 
include applicants 
in less accute need.  
Contact social 
housing providers 
to obtain up to date 
list of adapted 
properties within 
current stock

Devon Home Choice 
C&D banded applicants 
to be considered by 
panel from April 2021 Up 
to date register of 
current adapted stock to 
be achieved by April 22

DHC team
New staff member part of 
£30k with on costs

Reducton in waiting times for adapted 
needs. 

Ensure the Private rented sector 
meets the requirements of The 
Domestic Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standard (MEES) Regulations.

Review housing data 
and landlord 
registers and 
formulate action 
plan to target those 
properties who do 

Apr-21 Council existing resources 
All non excempted rental properties 
meet the minium energy efficiency 
standards

Engage with 
landlords of F&G 
rated properties.

Jul-21

Take enforcment 
action on non 
compliant landlords

Ongoing

Proactively support independent 
living and also support people with 
disabilities to remain in their homes 
through disabled facility grants (DFG) 
and make effective use of the better 
care fund.

Continue to work 
with partner 
organisations and 
stakeholders to 
ensure that 
residents in need 
can access the 
service 

Apr-21
council, other 
stakeholders

existing resources

To utilise grant funding to assist 
customers to remain living 
independently in their own home. The 
service has incorporated 
'Foundations' or other best practice in 
providing DFG adaptions.

Start to actively 
promote adaption 
service, e.g 

Sep-21 DFG team 

Quarterly 
performance 
monitoring/spend 
and reporting Year 

Apr-21 DFG team 
Enable Council to optimise full spend 
of DFG funding.

Assist self-funders of disabled 
adaptations to make informed 
choices and support them with 
trusted contractors at a fair price.

Scope in detail 
local need, 
Investigate best 
practice nationally, 
produce a 
feasibility plan 

Sep-21
council, other 
stakeholders

existing 
resources/depending on 
demand paid post through 
fees

Cost neutral service which provides 
high quality adaptions 

Implement plan Apr-22 DFG team 

Promote and support energy 
efficiency in homes.Develop a Fuel 
Poverty Action Plan; that will 
incorporate closer working with 
partner organisations, that pool 
knowledge and resources to ensure 
that fuel poor residents receive 
support; Target wards which have 
higher fuel poverty rates than the 
regional average. Target all F & G 
energy performance rated properties.

Scope in detail local 
need, Investigate 
best practice 
nationally, produce 
an action plan 
incorporating the 
climate change 
action plan.  

Sep-22
council, other 
stakeholders

existing resources

Significantly reduce F& G 
owner/occupied properties, where 
possible through direct grant aid, 
signposting to relevant local/national 
help   An action plan that reduces a 
greater number of households in fuel 
poverty above the Government's 
target. 

Produce an action 
plan 

Dec-22

Implement plan Apr-23

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



People Priority 2 – Make 
the best use and 
improve the quality of 
existing housing 

What we will 
do

When will we do 
it?

Who will deliver 
this

Resources Milestones
What would success look 
like

Comments/statu
s

Seek to expand our own in-house 
private lettings service Seamoor 
Lettings

Create interactive 
social media and 
web based 
promotional pages 
to promote 
SeaMoor Lettings 
Aim to take on 5 
new propeties per 
year

Ongoing for the life of 
this strategy

SeaMoor Lettings 
Team

Staff time and some 
marketing materials

additional 5 properties to be taken 
on by April 2022

increasing stock of private rental 
property

Develop and promote an 
intermediate housing register 
specifically for key workers with 
supply from the private rented sector 
through Seamoor and property 
developed by the Councils

Define key worker 
roles and create 
registration portal.  
Work with partners 
to promote and 
target local and 
national schemes.

Jul-21 LA
Staff time & possible 
ICT application 

Member approval of Key worker 
definition Establishiment of key 
worker housing register.  

Appropriate allocation of private 
rentals to Key workers

Support and encourage new, high 
quality and well managed, Houses in 
Multiple Occupation in the local 
area, including offering a 
management service ourselves, 
whilst licensing all HMOs that are 
subject to mandatory licensing. 

Design & cost 
package of support 
for HMO 
management 
promote 
management offer 
to landlords

Dec-21 LA
Seamoor lettings team 
time

Establish potential costs and time 
commitments required to provide 
management offer to HMO 
landlords

Establishment of 2 HMO 
accommodation options within first 2 
years.    Create bespoke affordable 
management offer for HMO 
proeprties. Additional high quality 
HMO's, and improvements to existing 
HMO's in the area.  Good quality 
private rented accommodation that 
meets health and safety 
requirements. 90% to meet Shelter's 
Decent Conditions under their Living 
Home Standard

Review housing 
data and HMO 
register

Apr-22 Council existing resources

Develop 
promotional 
campaign to 
engage with 
owners

Apr-22

Undertake 4 year 
programme of risk 
assessing and 
inspecting non 
licensable HMO's

Apr-22

Address under occupation & 
overcrowding within social housing 
stock and by doing so reduce length 
of time on the housing register
Promote the Tenants Incentive 
Scheme to encourage and 
incentivise tenants in social housing 
to downsize

Identify and 
proactively contact 
under occupying 
tenants registered 
on DHC to ensure 
bidding is enabled 
and any obstacles 
are identified and 
removed.  
Proactively 
promote Tenats 
incentive scheme 
to residents and 
social landlords 

Annually LA
part of new staff 

member post - Staff 
time

Mail drop to happen annually 
promoting TIS.  Recuitment of staff 

member for focussed work

Increase in number of successful 
downsize moves. increase in uptake 
of TIS.  Increase in bidding activitity 

for downsizers

Deliver Private Rented Sector 
Landlords’ & Letting Agents’ Forums 
and other networking opportunities 
for private landlords; promoting the 
events widely and using them to 
consult the Private Rented Sector on 
the issues that are affecting them.

Consult landlords 
to established 
preferred method 
of 
information/consult
aion delivery - 
forums, news 
letters etc.  
Establish what 
content would be 
most desireable to 
Landlords to 
ensure enagement

Annually LA Exisitng staff
consultation to be conducted by 
July 2021, roll out of first event to 
be achieved by April 2022

Portfolio of landlords either engaged 
with Seamor or requesting reciept of 
inclusion in LL events.  Increase in 
numbers of LL engaged with LA

Deliver Private Rented Sector 
Landlords’ & Letting Agents’ Forums 
and other networking opportunities 
for private landlords; promoting the 
events widely and using them to 
consult the Private Rented Sector on 
the issues that are affecting them.

Forums to be held 
to enable 
discussion of key 
issues and to 
receive feedback 
on emerging 
pressures and the 
Council's services.

1st year
Council, stakeholders 
and partner agencies 

existing resources 
1st year develop engagment 
programme & feasibility of 
registration/ acreditation scheme.  

Good standard of rented 
accommodation to meet local 
needs.The council has an affective 
pro active service that improves the 
quality of rental accommodation and 
reduces housing complaints.  Good 
communication with landlords and 
letting agents to highlight any key 
issues and discuss national 

Encourage long-term empty homes 
back into use.

Review the empty 
home strategy.  
Enforce against 
owners of 
problematic empty 
homes Promote 
Seamoor lettings 
management offer 
to landlords 

5 years 
Council, stakeholders 
and partner agencies 

existing resources 
1st year review and implement any 
changes 

Reduced level of empty homes in line 
with strategy. Ability to take 
enforcement action when needed.  
Actively working with owners of long 
term and problematic empty homes 
to bring them back into use, with 
reference to the Empty Homes 
Policy.

Monitor and actively promote high 
standards in the rented sector and 
take appropriate action where 
standards are not being met, to 
tackle disrepair, poor housing 
conditions and criminal landlords.

Address Private 
Sector Housing 
service requests 
from tenants and 
landlords within 
target timeframes. 
Develop an 
effective 
programme of 
engaging with 
landlords and 
letting agents, 
including whether a 
registration 
scheme is needed 
and feasible.  

5 years 
Council and partner 
agencies 

existing resources 

Monitor service requests received 
regarding poor housing, identify 
trends and consider action 
necessary.

Good standard of rented 
accommodation in the area to meet 
local needs.  To improve housing 
standards in the area

Support Tenants and stand firm in 
situations where Landlords attempt 
retaliatory evictions.

Address service 
requests from 
tenants within 
target timeframes.

ongoing council  existing resources 
Address service requests from 
tenants within target timeframes.

Public have confidence that action 
will taken when there is an illegal 
eviction or harressment 

Promote, deliver and review the 
Council’s private sector renewal 
policy and home adaptation policy to 
ensure it makes a positive difference 
to people’s lives and meeting locally 
identified need.

review polices 1 year council existing resources Review of Policy 
The polices enable the council to 
encorage and support good quality 
private rented accommodation. 

Interrogate new Census data to 
predict future housing trends and 
needs.

Establish areas of 
significant interest 
and collate pre 
exisitng ONS data 
to cross reference 
with new census 
data when 
released to track 
trends. 

Dec-22 Exisitng Staff resource staff time, 
establish significant areas of 
interest by Dec 2021 ready for 
over lay with new data 2022

readily available information for all 
stakeholders and officers to add 
value to local housign need surveys 
and compliment the JLP

Work proactively with the data 
available in the DHC register to 
identify trends and potential solution 
on a local and individual level

Establish current 
local need 
according to DHC 
& Census data.  
Compare with 
historic availabilty 
of housign data to 
establish where 
needs are not 
being met. 

Dec-22 staff resource staff time 

establish historic housing 
availabilty data - Dec 21 establish 
housing needs according to DHC 
data Dec 21 Introduce needs 
anaylsis from Census interrogation 
to add value Dec 22 publish 
identified gaps in provision to 
enable collaborative working with 
RPs to meet identified needs. 

readily available information for all 
stakeholders and officers to add 
value to local housing need surveys 
& identify gaps in provision

Achieve Dementia Friendly Status 
as a Council and work towards 
becoming a dementia friendly district 
and borough.

All Housing Teams 
and Community 
Safety Team

Staff Time

work with our partners to seek 
redevelopment opportunities to enhance 
the current housing stock and to meet 
the needs of residents

Establish a 
programme for 
potential 
redevleopment 
where stock 
condition is causing 

Dec-21
existing staff resource 
and RP partners

staff time and potential 
grant availability

re-development and consultation 
with existing tenants will take time. 
Therefore 1 scheme to be 
identified within the first year of this 
plan

tenants decanted and rehoused with 
minimal disruption to improved 
housing stock with minimal relets and 
no issues raised about the stock 
from the tenants

work with our Registered Provider 
partners to identify and improve issues 
within their stock

Develop a process to 
identify hot spot 
areas of complaints 
within the existing 
stock for both ASB 
and stock condition

Dec-21

Staff resource - case 
management support 
**new enabling 
support role**LA 
partners through CSP 
and ASB partnership

staff time

achieve a shared data base with 
our RP partners to high light 
issues and look at trends.  For 
ASB Local Lettings Plans to be 
used.  For stock condition 
complaints need to link with RP 
planned maintenance programmes

Local Lettings Plans are reviewed 
annually and would only be used for 
1 year.  Tenants would be well 
informed of when maintenance is 
taking place

embed and implement a new tenancy 
strategy to supersede the current out 
of date version 

update the tenancy 
strategy with a 
commitment to 
achieve this 
annually.  Develop 
our marketing and 
awareness strategy 
for the policy

Sep-21 LA resource staff time

ensure this strategy is updated 
annually.  In addition all 
stakeholders will be aware of the 
strategy and its purpose.

Review carried out annually and 
more frequently if required due to 
legislation changes

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



West Devon Housing Strategy

1 / 14

12.00% 9

53.33% 40

17.33% 13

4.00% 3

12.00% 9

2.67% 2

Q1 How easy did you find it to identify West Devon's priorities for housing
in our draft Housing Strategy document?

Answered: 75 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 75  

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 Could be simpler 1/26/2021 6:28 PM

2 Buried in unneccessary verbiage and pictures 12/16/2020 6:40 PM

Very Easy

Easy

Difficult

Very Difficult

Don't Know

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very Easy

Easy

Difficult

Very Difficult

Don't Know

Other (please specify)

Page 61



West Devon Housing Strategy

2 / 14

40.91% 27

13.64% 9

40.91% 27

12.12% 8

Q2 Does the Strategy reflect the housing challenges faced within West
Devon?

Answered: 66 Skipped: 9

Total Respondents: 66  

# COMMENTS DATE

1 there appeared to be a number of aspirational strategies rather than firm commitements 1/31/2021 12:40 PM

2 It is difficult to see how housing for those on lower income will be delivered through this
strategy.

1/28/2021 6:17 PM

3 To an extent but infrastructure is not sufficiently addressed 1/27/2021 1:17 PM

4 No more houses needed! Use old pubs 1/21/2021 10:16 AM

5 Not enough. Too much emphasis on Government tick box requirements. 12/23/2020 12:17 PM

6 New builds need to be to highest net zero standard and older properties need retrofitting 12/17/2020 1:08 PM

7 Concern about holiday homes 12/16/2020 7:41 PM

8 Probably all the pictures we of young professional type people not the older people with
housing need

12/16/2020 6:41 PM

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

Page 62



West Devon Housing Strategy

3 / 14

52.54% 31

13.56% 8

33.90% 20

11.86% 7

Q3 Does the Strategy explain the current work being undertaken across
West Devon?

Answered: 59 Skipped: 16

Total Respondents: 59  

# COMMENTS DATE

1 Aspects that are explained are clear, but parts are missing - eg what is already being done to
promote energy efficiency, how planning applications are checked to ensure new housing is "in
the right place" and accessible.

2/1/2021 9:22 AM

2 the strategy document is very wordy and uses a lot of 'council speak' and so its difficult to
separate actual work from aspirational work

1/31/2021 12:42 PM

3 No more building ! Use what’s out there 1/21/2021 10:17 AM

4 Steategy seems good but is it actually bring delivered? 12/16/2020 7:42 PM

5 How do we find out it’s actually happening now 12/16/2020 7:01 PM

6 Sort of lots of spin little substance 12/16/2020 6:42 PM

7 The pictures are easy to understand 12/15/2020 10:52 PM

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

Page 63



West Devon Housing Strategy

4 / 14

70.69% 41

13.79% 8

17.24% 10

Q4 We have developed three key housing priority areas under our theme
of Housing for PlacePriority 1 -Ensuring sustainable housing growthPriority
2 - Promote balanced and sustainable communitiesPriority 3 -Ensuring that
homes support the Health and Wellbeing of the areaDo you support these

priorities?  (Please tick the appropriate box)
Answered: 58 Skipped: 17

Total Respondents: 58  

Yes

No

Not Sure

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not Sure

Page 64



West Devon Housing Strategy

5 / 14

# COMMENT FIELD DATE

1 Right headlines, but a missing point which cuts across all three is that both existing and new
homes should be connected by sustainable transport options. However well built, homes from
which it is impractical to walk to local facilities are not promoting wellbeing.

2/1/2021 9:26 AM

2 broadly yes, but the priorities are very broad, for example what does 'promote' actually mean in
terms of measurable results

1/31/2021 12:44 PM

3 Some reservations 1/28/2021 6:09 PM

4 Yes providing infrastructure and social amenities are also built at the same time. Too many
developments are built and occupied for years still lacking basic amenities.

1/27/2021 1:48 PM

5 Part of sustainable would be converting existing brown field site. 1/27/2021 1:18 PM

6 Use the buildings that are not used any more first ! 1/21/2021 10:18 AM

7 Priority 1 should be affordable housing as even social housing is not affordable. 1/9/2021 11:33 PM

8 I am particularly concerned that the balance of communities is improved, particularly in small
villages with. A lack of affordable community housing.

12/18/2020 10:59 AM

9 Why oh why was Bovis allowed to build non-sustainable homes? 12/16/2020 9:43 PM

10 But explaining in detal how you will achieve this would be of more use 12/16/2020 6:42 PM

11 Not clear what is meant by 'sustainable' 12/16/2020 5:42 PM

12 Throughout the West Devon Strategy paper there is no part which considers the need for the
practical requirements which will follow for better transport, an increase in doctors availability,
extensions to schools. If these latter are no considered alongside housing development the
community will suffer.

12/16/2020 5:07 PM

13 I think more should be done to revitalise and renew existing housing stock to make it more
sustainable and usable for further generations.

12/16/2020 4:48 PM

14 Well-being is really important - especially in the current situation and the council should do all it
can to support residents

12/15/2020 10:54 PM

Page 65



West Devon Housing Strategy

6 / 14

63.16% 36

7.02% 4

10.53% 6

19.30% 11

Q5 We have developed three housing priorities under our theme of
Housing for People:Priority 1 - Homes that support the Health and

Wellbeing of our residentsPriority 2 - Make the best use and improve the
quality of existing housingPriority 3 - Ensure that people can access the

support and advice they require and make best use of dataDo you support
these priorities?  (Please tick the appropriate box)

Answered: 57 Skipped: 18

TOTAL 57

Yes

No

Not Sure

Comments

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not Sure

Comments

Page 66



West Devon Housing Strategy

7 / 14

# COMMENTS DATE

1 Support the headlines. Under 1, could add active engagement with developers to get energy
efficiency of new homes to maximum achievable (ie well above minimal legal). Under 2,
nothing is said about ways to reduce % of housing lost to holiday homes or holiday lets.

2/1/2021 9:32 AM

2 Again broadly I support the priorities, but again what does 'make best use of data' actually
mean?

1/31/2021 12:45 PM

3 To improve the quality of existing housing, especially around environmental standards and
carbon reduction, requires greater intervention in the market.

1/28/2021 6:19 PM

4 Ensure enough green space and as many mature trees as possible are retained. Green
corridors for wildlife as more and more habitats are lost. More Housing Association (Council
Houses?) are desperately needed for our own young people. Too many houses are aimed at
incoming residents to the detriment of the young and local. Too many villages being swamped
by second home owners and holiday lets to the detriment of the local community and
community sustainability.

1/27/2021 1:49 PM

5 Affordable housing should be priority 1 as even social housing is not affordable. 1/9/2021 11:34 PM

6 Only 1st one. 2nd one Council doesn't support home owners to improve unless very low
income. Not enough consideration to infrastructure and facilities.

12/23/2020 12:20 PM

7 2only 12/17/2020 3:31 PM

8 Homes need to be places that enhance wellbeing 12/17/2020 1:10 PM

9 I hpoe that you continue to and not quietly drop it when it becomes too expensive or unpopular 12/16/2020 6:43 PM

10 But how do you improve the quality of existing housing. Developers have got away with poor
quality housing for years.

12/16/2020 5:42 PM

11 If you have good evidence you will be able to be more accurate with housing need locally 12/15/2020 10:54 PM

Page 67



West Devon Housing Strategy

8 / 14

Q6 What, if anything in your opinion should be given greater priority in the
Housing Strategy?

Answered: 46 Skipped: 29

Page 68



West Devon Housing Strategy

9 / 14

# RESPONSES DATE

1 The practicalities of ensuring housing is part of a connected local community. Recommended
that councils commit to using the Transport for New Homes checklist
https://www.transportfornewhomes.org.uk/the-project/checklist-for-new-housing-developments/

2/1/2021 9:35 AM

2 My greatest concern with 'affordable housing' (which generally I strongly support) is that after
one occupancy it no longer remains 'affordable' and is bought up by 'landlords' who's principle
priority is profit. I would like to see 'sustainable affordability as part of the package. I am also
deeply concerned that while there is (rightfully) a focus on developing a housing strategy that
seeks to support local ownership/housing that suits the community and not those seeking to
profit, I am concerned that the local economy is not being equally supported to serve the
potentially increased population. Our villages and towns are gradually dying. post offices and
markets are not being supported and these have in the past acted as a hub for local
businesses and the community. Towns that have a thriving economic community draw (and Im
not talking about village hall here) generate increased footfall which in turn generates new local
enterprise and results in a sense of community well being. Supermarkets and other nationally
owned businesses that have perverse buying power and are killing local industry. The lack of
incentive for local business - for example excessive buisiness rates - in turn restricts further
local emplyment. Covid has shown how small local businesses can thrive if given a chance,
and I believe the housing strategy needs to support this aspect too.

1/31/2021 1:09 PM

3 Affordability 1/29/2021 12:02 AM

4 Making sure the infrastructure is in place to support housing. Improved roads and transport
links etc

1/28/2021 8:25 PM

5 Much higher levels of decent social housing (council housing) should be prioritised and central
government should be lobbied to provide local councils with the means to build. Relying on the
market has failed to deliver enough homes for those on lower income for over 40 years.

1/28/2021 6:22 PM

6 Protecting the local environment, not overpopulating 1/28/2021 6:11 PM

7 Affordable housing for low income 1/28/2021 5:54 PM

8 Addressing homelessness actively - not bunging people in a B&B at high cost to the councils
but actually housing people where possible by bypassing the ridiculous Devon Home Choice
system where folk are street homeless and minimising those made homeless in the first place!

1/27/2021 1:20 PM

9 Family’s they currently live in one bed flats 1/26/2021 10:05 PM

10 Housing in villages. 1/26/2021 5:24 PM

11 Making existing housing more eco friendly, with incentives and grants for owners to adapt their
homes

1/26/2021 4:59 PM

12 ensuring that existing homes are not left empty before building more 1/26/2021 4:25 PM

13 Reduce carbon footprint, increase biodiversity 1/22/2021 10:51 PM

14 Use unused buildings first ! 1/21/2021 10:18 AM

15 Affordable homes for rent & first time buyers. Making single occupiers renting 2+ bed social
housing move into 1 bed properties so that there are less empty bedrooms & couples/families
can access larger properties easier.

1/20/2021 11:20 PM

16 I feel that more rent plus properties should be looked, this gives more families like my own, to
access the property ladder where otherwise would be impossible. Currently there are only a few
rent plus properties in the pipeline for Tavistock, these won’t be enough.

1/20/2021 2:27 PM

17 Council to be a landlord of low cost affordable housing for single people & small families.
Question the recent large scale developments of typically 3 bed homes with almost no garden
- not the type of housing needed. AND, lack of provision with this of doctors, dentists, schools,
traffic schemes, etc. If all this is not questioned and addressed the strategy is just words.
Need to closely monitor the actual benefit of the recent and ongoing developments.

1/10/2021 5:24 PM

18 Affordable housing. 1/9/2021 11:34 PM

19 The major focus must be on infrastructure first before any future housing strategy is
considered. Roads/Traffic/schools/dentists/doctors etc

1/8/2021 9:05 AM

Page 69



West Devon Housing Strategy

10 / 14

20 Priority given to build starter homes 1/2/2021 4:13 PM

21 Affordable well built properties with main utilities built into plans. No homes should be approved
regardless of price, without solar tiles, ground source pumps and mains drainage in place.
Rural villages need car parking facilities within developments. Food stores, schools & GP
health hubs must also be a priority.

12/23/2020 12:24 PM

22 More affordable housing. 12/23/2020 12:01 PM

23 Reducing carbon footprint of new & existing properties, developers build to the minimum
standards and local councils need to start aggressively stating the standards they will accept
and should stop putting in gas heating.

12/22/2020 9:58 AM

24 Houses that people want i.e. more 3 bedroom, energy saving and affordable 12/22/2020 7:08 AM

25 Affordable housing for local people 12/21/2020 9:36 PM

26 Listen to local views and if there is a local development plan it must be adhered to. Developers
should not be allowed to ride roughshod over it as is the case in Salcombe in several
instances right now

12/18/2020 2:45 PM

27 Affordable community housing in smaller villages 12/18/2020 11:00 AM

28 Giving a voice to local people about building in their areas. 12/17/2020 3:49 PM

29 not building them on agricultural land around towns that cannot sustain the growth with no
employment opportunities

12/17/2020 3:32 PM

30 Quality low cost housing for local people 12/17/2020 1:33 PM

31 The drive towards net zero and complete energy efficiency in all new builds, we don't want any
more new builds that will need retrofitting at a cost to the owners or public purse

12/17/2020 1:12 PM

32 Affordable low carbon housing 12/17/2020 10:17 AM

33 How to address demands on health service - hospitals, GP, Community, Mental Health in a
post COVID world with an increasingly elderly population and a growing population. Greatly
improve access to health care - very difficult for many residents as live in villages afar from
health providers and very limited public transport. Ensure all new housing has improved easy
access to healthcare providers.

12/17/2020 7:00 AM

34 More houses for locals that affordable rent 12/17/2020 12:56 AM

35 Ensuring that any and all housing (including privately bought or developed) meets strict
sustainability standards.

12/16/2020 9:44 PM

36 Surveying local people looking for homes to ensure full understanding of what they want 12/16/2020 7:44 PM

37 Affordable houses for first time buyers 12/16/2020 7:04 PM

38 The teansport strategy if you do not plan and implement public transport you end up with new
housing planned around a carless society and no transport to fill the gap so roads ar chiked
with parked cars that there was no planned parking spaces for. Try pushing a buggy up a steep
hill with your weeks shopping for a mile as that is the nearest stop to your affoedable new build
home.

12/16/2020 6:45 PM

39 A much improved A386 road to which all new housing development will be linked 12/16/2020 5:44 PM

40 Infrastructure 12/16/2020 5:36 PM

41 Environmental concerns & sufficient availability of already scarce services, such as Doctors,
DENTISTS, school places & sporting/exercise facilities.

12/16/2020 5:23 PM

42 Good quality affordable homes. 12/16/2020 5:07 PM

43 Restricting the ability of those from outside of the area to purchase new homes (As seen in St
Ives, Cornwall) and to prevent anyone buying second or investment homes

12/16/2020 5:02 PM

44 Emphasise investment/strategies to help existing housing stock better conform to modern and
future standards.

12/16/2020 4:49 PM

45 affordable homes 12/16/2020 4:36 PM
Page 70



West Devon Housing Strategy

11 / 14

46 It’s not always about building new but making best use of what we already have. This strategy
does address this well but it’s important to not always focus on new build

12/15/2020 10:55 PM

Page 71



West Devon Housing Strategy

12 / 14

Q7 Do you have any further views about our plans to tackle the housing
needs in West Devon?

Answered: 36 Skipped: 39

Page 72



West Devon Housing Strategy

13 / 14

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Overall a very well presented document. 2/1/2021 9:35 AM

2 There is clearly a need to address the inbalance between an aging but relatively wealthy
population generating increased house prices against the need to retain a younger, but
relatively poorer generation this must not be at the expense of the wonderful charector that
makes Devon what it is. Unfortunately affordable appears to mean cheap and, more often than
not, basic and plain buildings that detract from the feel of the village. All small villages and
towns have locations where housing can (and is) being built but we do not appear to be
learning any lessons from the past. Ancient and historic villages are charectrorised by housing
that has individuality that 'fits' with the village. Just like in the 60's, 70's and 80's housing
seems to come from once stock design and one can now drive from village to village and see
exactly the same houses regardless of their setting. This destroys the look and feel of the
village and its attractiveness. I appreciate that housing must be green and sustainable, but
that does not mean it shouldnt be individual and work with the village. Everyone is aware of
NIMBY'ism, and to be honest most people practice it however who would want to live next to a
bunch of identical lego style boxes that in no way reflect the village charector. Unsurprisingly
new build planning applications are strongly fought against in almost every case.

1/31/2021 1:27 PM

3 Greater variety in the design of new estates. Far too many little white boxes that have no
space for wildlife or open spaces.

1/28/2021 8:28 PM

4 Local houses for local people, not 2nd homes, holiday homes or travellers camps 1/28/2021 6:12 PM

5 No 1/28/2021 5:54 PM

6 No mention of traveller sites as per the former Councillors heading to this link. In answer to the
question they asked but hasn't come up here, yes I do support providing a designated
travellers site to minimise (often racially aggregated) abuse they are targeted with.

1/27/2021 1:22 PM

7 Not to accommodate travellers 1/26/2021 10:06 PM

8 Not keen on all the homes going up. 1/26/2021 5:50 PM

9 New build should be a) in keeping with the surrounding area wherever possible, b) as ecological
sustainable as possible, e g all roofs to have PV, rainwater capture, Heat pumps etc.

1/26/2021 4:27 PM

10 Don’t allow second homes for tourists to rent . Make caravan parks for tourists 1/21/2021 10:20 AM

11 More affordable housing for rent & first time buyers, as well as looking at schemes where
people who can’t afford the deposit to buy can be involved with building their own properties &
learning new skills that could benefit the local area.

1/20/2021 11:21 PM

12 I really want to emphasise the need for rent plus properties. There are so many families
wanting to get on the property ladder and this is impossible without schemes like rent plus.
Which in turn forces families out of Tavistock.

1/20/2021 2:29 PM

13 Recent developments are not in sync with needs. Document the gap! 1/10/2021 5:26 PM

14 Dartmoor National Park need to be more open minded and live in the 21st century. 1/9/2021 11:35 PM

15 Improved consultation with all those in the community that will be affected by any changes 1/8/2021 9:06 AM

16 Stop second home owners unless they long term rent the properties to local people or people
moving to the area for key worker employment.

12/23/2020 12:25 PM

17 Less holiday homes. More affordable/housing association housing. 12/23/2020 12:02 PM

18 Across the Housing sector we are seeing merges between housing associations to drive down
management costs and be able to reinvest in social housing. I think for these two councils to
go back to owning & managing social housing will not be cost effective and they can be
managed at a lower cost by other companies in the market, allowing generation of funds for
more investment. Although there is a glut of under occupancy of properties in the private
sector my understanding is that there is very little provision for houses for bigger families in
the social sector and low income bigger families can live in very crowded provision.

12/22/2020 10:02 AM

19 Housing is not the only issue in West Devon. There is absolutely no point in building new
homes that local people cannot afford. There should be a requirement that priority be given to
people already living in the area. There should also be a concurrent plan to encourage more

12/22/2020 7:12 AM

Page 73



West Devon Housing Strategy

14 / 14

meaningful and fairly paid employment in West Devon. Local infrastructure and access to a
good public transport service is also required.

20 Stop over development. The area is being ruined by rampant house building 12/18/2020 2:45 PM

21 West Devon Borough Council has an abysmal record of achieving affordable community
housing in Brentor. It seems to have been unable to support the village community in building
the small number of homes that it needs to encourage younger people to live here. I realise
that this is partly due to DNPA, but WDBC could surely have done more to achieve an
outcome on what is a fully-developed scheme. Decarbonisation is also a major issue, as
increasingly violent weather due to climate change creates serious flooding risks and storm
damage risks in exposed rural communities. WDBC needs to actively educate the population
regarding alternatives to fossil fuel and fund, where possible, the installation of better insulation
and green energy in rural properties. It could also promote more community-led solar and hydro
energy projects and tree-planting schemes.

12/18/2020 11:54 AM

22 stop building hideous estates on outskirts of small towns 12/17/2020 3:32 PM

23 Where is the social housing plan? West Devon must consider those who can't afford to buy,
are homeless, had homes repossessed, who can't afford private rents and myriad reasons why
even affordable housing is out of reach, in our plans. It is no good leaving all this to HAs, it
has to be joint working otherwise large and vulnerable sections of our local society will be
missed . Homes must be built to the highest environmental standards and this should be the
priority in any decisions made . Considerations include, what is the whole lifetime energy
consumption of the property, carbon footprint of the materials is it built from, who profits by low
building standards, are you creating communities and active travel opportunities, healthy
buildings that enhance wellbeing? The housing created now will be around for many years and
should be fit for purpose.

12/17/2020 1:23 PM

24 there should be a drive to utilise land banks along with empty flats above retail premises 12/17/2020 10:22 AM

25 Design any new housing to cope with emerging/current population threats e.g design to cope
with extreme heat in summer/cold in winter, design to better protect people from one another
during pandemics and seasonal flu outbreaks etc, much more design aspects to support
peoples mental health, take the needs of children into consideration re on-site safe play areas
and for older people safe outside areas on site for communal activities.

12/17/2020 7:05 AM

26 No as population is growing that needs housing and now 12/17/2020 12:57 AM

27 Affordable housing is a priority, but it should be attractive to look at and to live in and it must
be sustainable.

12/16/2020 9:46 PM

28 Need to focus more on brownfield sites. Need to reduce the number if holiday homes 12/16/2020 7:46 PM

29 No 12/16/2020 7:04 PM

30 Stop building and adding to existing towns without increased infrastructure such as travel links,
schools, doctors surgery's etc. Tavistock for example, has multiple building sites currently on
going, increasing congestion and eroding the fabric of the town. How can you increase the
housing yet still want to preserve the very nature of why people want to live here? Not to
mention the housing estates being built although may be fuel efficient they are not by any
means Eco friendly with a vision towards the future.

12/16/2020 6:48 PM

31 You haave not given detail to the plan lots of words and no substance 12/16/2020 6:46 PM

32 why are so many developments approved which are not for affordable housing? 12/16/2020 5:45 PM

33 No 12/16/2020 5:36 PM

34 Accurate census on how many existing properties are empty. 12/16/2020 5:24 PM

35 Those stated in Question 4 are of vital importance if the strategy is to succeed. 12/16/2020 5:08 PM

36 See previous response 6. 12/16/2020 5:02 PM

Page 74



South Hams Housing Strategy

1 / 25

10.42% 20

47.92% 92

19.27% 37

4.17% 8

15.10% 29

5.73% 11

Q1 How easy did you find it to identify South Hams's priorities for housing
in our draft Housing Strategy document?

Answered: 192 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 192  

Very Easy

Easy

Difficult

Very Difficult

Don't Know

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very Easy

Easy

Difficult

Very Difficult

Don't Know

Other (please specify)

Page 75



South Hams Housing Strategy

2 / 25

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 Haven't seen it? No link in this survey? 1/26/2021 5:30 PM

2 Haven't looked 1/20/2021 3:11 PM

3 cannot tell if this strategy is for private ownership, housing assoc ownership, purchase or
rental etc

1/19/2021 5:38 PM

4 mixed 12/19/2020 12:16 PM

5 Haven't seen it 12/19/2020 9:46 AM

6 Could have cut down on wordy statements and said the same with half the words 12/18/2020 9:11 AM

7 Neither easy nor difficult 12/16/2020 5:41 PM

8 There seemed to be too many priorities, it may mean reducing expectations. 12/16/2020 4:58 PM

9 Unable to download 12/16/2020 4:41 PM

10 I thought you were proposing priorities i.e. asking us for our views. 12/16/2020 4:31 PM

11 lots of words complete absence on any defined targets 12/14/2020 3:16 PM

Page 76



South Hams Housing Strategy

3 / 25

35.76% 59

21.82% 36

38.18% 63

22.42% 37

Q2 Does the Strategy reflect the housing challenges faced within the
South Hams?

Answered: 165 Skipped: 27

Total Respondents: 165  

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

Page 77



South Hams Housing Strategy

4 / 25

# COMMENTS DATE

1 Not enough consideration has been taken in challenging the existence and growing number of
second homes and holiday homes / short term lets such as Airbnb etc

1/31/2021 10:35 AM

2 trying to reduce under occupancy because of the av age means that bungalows are needed not
houses

1/29/2021 3:31 PM

3 I haven't seen the strategy 1/27/2021 10:59 AM

4 Should reduce number of second homes and convert existing buildings before building new 1/21/2021 4:55 PM

5 Needs greater acknowledgement of the dysfunctional nature of the local private rental market
(rents increasing year on year, no security for tenants who need long term stability)

1/20/2021 7:52 PM

6 I would have like more emphasis on providing higher density housing in town centres, ideal for
older people who wish to downsize, as there is a real shortage of this type of housing - needs
to be close to facilities to reduce the need for cars too.

1/19/2021 8:39 PM

7 Cannot see direct action on tackling the impact of second homes in the area 1/19/2021 5:40 PM

8 Greater emphasis on affordable housing needed 1/14/2021 3:44 PM

9 To a point, but you're enabling older people to move here and then vote Conservative, thus
encouraging right to buy, harsh welfare reform, reduction in social rented homes and so on

1/14/2021 3:22 PM

10 It does not sufficiently reflect the need to make houses zero carbon. 1/9/2021 9:50 PM

11 It identifies them 1/8/2021 12:53 PM

12 No mention of social housing. 12/24/2020 7:28 PM

13 Within reason 12/24/2020 2:31 PM

14 I think not enough emphasis on affordability, provision of security of tenure within social rent
sector for local young people.

12/21/2020 2:44 PM

15 could not see mention of limiting second homes 12/18/2020 8:51 PM

16 The 5000 houses on Sherford must be taken into account at each stage of the plan 12/18/2020 11:48 AM

17 The challenge of not ruining what makes S Hams special does not appear to be addressed 12/18/2020 11:33 AM

18 Talk of affordable housing is very important but I consider that only people that are gaining
from this plan is the developer. Also houses should only be built in areas wher work is
available. Modbury is a classic example of building far too many houses and changing the
town with people buying the houses having to travel long distances to find work, such as
plymouth or Totnes etc

12/18/2020 9:14 AM

19 It fails to reflect on the impact that people impose on the natural environment and forgets to
highlight the fact that all wildlife has an equal right to a home

12/17/2020 6:23 PM

20 May also not address retirees etc.... 12/17/2020 3:23 PM

21 It does not reflect the impact that new building has on existing infrastructure and communities.
Many local communities are historic and cannot cope with the extra pressures - particularly
vehicular traffic. It is irresponsible to just keep building more homes unless they are fully
supported by proper infrastructure improvements

12/17/2020 1:26 PM

22 Strategy is fine if actually implemented 12/17/2020 11:49 AM

23 Need transport to places of work or local industry to enable employment and productivity in
communities. Not all will be working from home in the future

12/17/2020 11:37 AM

24 Dartmoor, gets a strategy, but there is only a cursory mention once of the AONB, and no
mention of other areas, such as Undeveloped Coast and Heritage Coast.

12/17/2020 11:34 AM

25 There is a need for smaller, suitable properties for the over 60's. 12/16/2020 11:18 PM

26 Typical disjointed policy. Found it quite shocking that less than 50% registered for a house
have employment in their household. Unless there is work available then we should not be
building more houses where people have to commute. Houses need to built where work is

12/16/2020 8:26 PM

Page 78



South Hams Housing Strategy

5 / 25

available if we are serious about climate change. We cannot carry on building houses where
long commutes are necessary and we can't all work on a computer.

27 You have failed to refer to any of the Neighbourhood Plans in existence which will help you to
understand housing challenges in South Hams. This is very disappointing NPs are an essential
part of housing development within their communities

12/16/2020 7:31 PM

28 No mention of the second homes problem 12/16/2020 6:39 PM

29 Stop the ever increasing second homes . Stop evelopers gaining Planning approvals , when
clearly these homes because of cost , location, and type of houses

12/16/2020 6:32 PM

30 Too many second homes 12/16/2020 5:35 PM

31 By and large 12/16/2020 5:23 PM

32 To a great degree, however would like to see housing performance standards to Passivhaus or
similar and checked on-site after completion to ensure the quality is delivered.

12/16/2020 5:05 PM

33 How do we know what the new housing needs actually will be over , say a 10 year period? And
what changes have taken place as a result ok covid lockdowns and more people now working
from home. This hasn't been taken into account as far as I can make out.

12/16/2020 5:00 PM

34 Unable to download as button for survey is blocking it 12/16/2020 4:43 PM

35 Massive underestemation of forthcoming likely social housing needs 12/16/2020 4:31 PM

36 Need to build more housing in all the towns across the area not just at Sherford 12/15/2020 10:52 AM

37 its focus would seem be a continued support of low quality estate style housing & nothing else 12/14/2020 3:18 PM

Page 79



South Hams Housing Strategy

6 / 25

45.39% 69

18.42% 28

34.87% 53

10.53% 16

Q3 Does the Strategy explain the current work being undertaken across
the South Hams?

Answered: 152 Skipped: 40

Total Respondents: 152  

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not sure

Comments

Page 80



South Hams Housing Strategy

7 / 25

# COMMENTS DATE

1 The strategy does not explain how development on green field sites (e.g. recently suggested
developments in Dartington and Totnes) have been allowed / considered. These developments
contradict the Strategy’s other points regarding encouraging biodiversity and challenging
climate change.

1/31/2021 10:37 AM

2 Yes, but in generalised terms which are ambiguous and open to varying interpretation 1/30/2021 2:45 PM

3 Requires more detail on enabling role 1/14/2021 3:45 PM

4 Says at the end that an 'operational delivery plan will be developed annually'; can't see them in
the doc? The 'how we will deliver' is a list of rather general intentions,

1/14/2021 3:29 PM

5 I found it hard to pick out specific actions 12/19/2020 1:38 PM

6 Some of the points could do with more specifics on how the council intends to move forward 12/19/2020 12:20 PM

7 It doesn't seem to take into account that wildlife's needs are equal to peoples. 12/17/2020 6:23 PM

8 There seem to be too many larger properties being built contrary to strategy. 12/17/2020 11:52 AM

9 Very verbose. 12/17/2020 11:35 AM

10 Again no comment about second homes 12/16/2020 6:39 PM

11 What is being built/done does not match up to the strategy 12/16/2020 5:43 PM

12 A list of statistics does not tell me what has been done, or is being done. 12/16/2020 5:08 PM

13 To a degree. 12/16/2020 5:00 PM

14 Unable to download 12/16/2020 4:43 PM

15 But this is failing to address structual failings and the failure of the Council to bring sites
forward compounded year on year

12/15/2020 10:53 AM

16 no innovation at al, just more of the same policies that have failed 12/14/2020 3:20 PM

Page 81



South Hams Housing Strategy

8 / 25

69.86% 102

17.81% 26

12.33% 18

Q4 We have developed three key housing priority areas under our theme
of Housing for PlacePriority 1 -Ensuring sustainable housing growthPriority
2 - Promote balanced and sustainable communitiesPriority 3 -Ensuring that
homes support the Health and Wellbeing of the areaDo you support these

priorities?  (Please tick the appropriate box)
Answered: 146 Skipped: 46

Total Respondents: 146  

Yes

No

Not Sure

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not Sure

Page 82



South Hams Housing Strategy

9 / 25

# COMMENT FIELD DATE

1 I support Priorities 2 and 3 but see no need for development of new housing stock in the area.
Current birth rates indicate a steady or declining population size. Tackling the rise of second
homes and short term lets (Airbnb etc) would be a far more environmentally friendly and
community friendly approach to ensuring housing for the residents of the South Hams.

1/31/2021 10:40 AM

2 Please also take into account the aesthetic as well as sustainability of housing stock. Most
new builds (particularly in Ivybridge, for example, are ugly squat undersized and too close
together. Walking around the town is frankly depressing and does nothing to engender a
positive sense of place

1/30/2021 2:48 PM

3 we really need more decent businesses / employers before building any more housing 1/29/2021 3:32 PM

4 BUT I don't believe that you are adhering to Priority 2 1/25/2021 1:55 PM

5 Affordable homes should be the priority 1/25/2021 1:15 PM

6 I apprecaite it's challenging within current planning rules, but I woudl like SHDC to have far
greater emphasis when granting planning permission for non fossil fuel heating - why are we
having brand new houses being built with gas boilers?

1/19/2021 8:41 PM

7 Meeting Priority 1 must surely mean Priority 2 is also met 1/19/2021 5:00 PM

8 'Driving the delivery of new homes that people can afford' and 'genuinely affordable housing' are
quite an ask. Providers are already increasing social and affordable rents by 1% + CPI year on
year and rents are already at the LHA rates. Local private rents are through the roof and I
haven't started on our 50% 2nd homes scenario, where homes are empty most of the year!

1/14/2021 3:36 PM

9 More emphasis needed on low carbon sustainable accommodation neededenergy 1/9/2021 1:53 PM

10 Affordability for local people is key to all actions 1/8/2021 12:54 PM

11 Unsure abour priority 3. Not sure the label 'Housing for Place' makes sense. 1/6/2021 11:36 AM

12 what is sustainable ? This is not explained 1/5/2021 5:15 PM

13 More emphasis on affordable housing 1/2/2021 2:57 PM

14 Too much development pushed by central government 12/29/2020 5:55 PM

15 The main strategy should be affordable housing for LOCAL people. 12/27/2020 3:31 PM

16 Social housing needs to be more of a priority, given that the effects of corona virus on
employment in the area, means fewer people will be able to afford and maintain mortgages to
cover even affordable housing.

12/24/2020 7:31 PM

17 Health & wellbeing should be the top priority. We live in an age of pollution. 12/24/2020 3:44 PM

18 Subject to certain caveats 12/24/2020 2:32 PM

19 Although I understand housing is needed, destroying the environment in order to do this is
going against everything we need to be doing to protect our planet

12/23/2020 2:07 PM

20 Only if the growth focuses on truely affordable housing available to local people only. 12/22/2020 10:32 AM

21 Jargon. What is sustainable housing growth when lead by developers who aim to maximise
profit above needs of the area. Also a specific desirable village issue is ris eof affluent people
buying small 2/3 bed homes and applying to extend to create 4bed + with several bathrooms
immediately removing the homes affordability and reducing diversity of small communities.

12/21/2020 2:47 PM

22 I think Affordability needs to be it's own key priority, as that is the main difficulty facing us
locals in my view

12/19/2020 12:21 PM

23 Agree with priorities but not sure about their order 12/19/2020 9:46 AM

24 Yes I do support but your policies say nothing they are meaningless rhetoric. 12/18/2020 7:21 PM

25 Priority 1 should be Priority 3 12/18/2020 11:50 AM

26 Again, nothing mentioned about the ugliness and inappropriate housing of most developments-
where is any commitment to aesthetics and protecting landscapes or village character?

12/18/2020 11:35 AM

Page 83



South Hams Housing Strategy

10 / 25

27 See previous comments re affordable houses, environment and need to be closer to work
availability

12/18/2020 9:16 AM

28 However I do feel that like Cornwall the South Hams should be looking at the countless empty
houses we already have. Exhaust brown fill and stop building on green built houses that are
not eco friendly and or sustainable

12/17/2020 7:25 PM

29 the term 'sustainable growth' is contradictory. We cannot continue to grow our population
without reducing our demands upon the natural environmnent. What is needed is to draw a line
and stay within it. So each individual community will have a 'natural' limit on how many people
can live within it. We are beyond the need for mere 'sustainability' and need to become
'regenerative', i.e. give back more to the natural environment then we take from it.

12/17/2020 6:26 PM

30 Be good to also address old people / retirees... 12/17/2020 3:24 PM

31 unclear where main development areas will be focussed 12/17/2020 3:02 PM

32 However, what is sustainable? The area is blessed with natural beauty and is mostly bio
diverse. This is its charm and should be the overriding priority for protection and enhancement.
This after all is what makes the area attractive

12/17/2020 2:32 PM

33 The priorities are big on 'Sustainable' but the policies are not. The Council needs to gain a
proper and fuller understanding of the meaning of sustainable

12/17/2020 1:29 PM

34 I have for years but fail to see much serious implementation rather capitulation to developers
of larger prestigious developments

12/17/2020 11:53 AM

35 However there is no definition of what sustainable means in the two contexts it is used in. 12/17/2020 11:38 AM

36 Not certain balance is right. Is there an effective (green) transport strategy. Where are local
jobs being generated for local residents. Need to go bigger on green agenda

12/17/2020 11:38 AM

37 We have enough high value properties but little to nothing for low income families to have
secure housing. Low income families are forced to rent privately and have no certainty over
their tenancy. I know too many families that keep having to move and their children change
school because the landlord has changed their mind

12/17/2020 10:08 AM

38 only if the infra structure of the area can cope with new developments 12/17/2020 7:51 AM

39 Unsupported by recent planning application concents 12/16/2020 9:32 PM

40 But houses need to be built where there is employment prospects and commuting needs to be
reduced.

12/16/2020 8:30 PM

41 Until you understand the needs of communities by consultation with neighbourhood plans you
will never understand what priorities are for individual communities.

12/16/2020 7:35 PM

42 No comment about second homes 12/16/2020 6:40 PM

43 Ensuring genuine affordability of new housing for local people should be the first priority.
Second priority should be to ensure that any new housing should not be second homes and
third priority should be to ensure that all new housing is carbon neutral

12/16/2020 5:46 PM

44 I would like to see more overt pressure on decent sized new housing many current affordable
units are patently too small .

12/16/2020 5:25 PM

45 I was disappointed that there was no mention that future housing needs also to respect the
beauty of our countryside, which is the source of considerable income through tourism

12/16/2020 5:20 PM

46 Devil is in the detail. 12/16/2020 4:33 PM

47 Too much empasis on owner occupied or private landlord owned properties 12/16/2020 4:33 PM

48 Provide homes for local people who really need them who have lived here for years instead of
people out of the area. Ive been a victim of this. Many people getting housing over us who
dont even live in the area.

12/16/2020 4:29 PM

49 You need to address shortfalls in numbers across the area and address affordability i.e build
more

12/15/2020 10:53 AM

Page 84



South Hams Housing Strategy

11 / 25

66.44% 97

5.48% 8

10.27% 15

17.81% 26

Q5 We have developed three housing priorities under our theme of
Housing for People:Priority 1 - Homes that support the Health and

Wellbeing of our residentsPriority 2 - Make the best use and improve the
quality of existing housingPriority 3 - Ensure that people can access the

support and advice they require and make best use of dataDo you support
these priorities?  (Please tick the appropriate box)

Answered: 146 Skipped: 46

TOTAL 146

Yes

No

Not Sure

Comments

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Not Sure

Comments

Page 85



South Hams Housing Strategy

12 / 25

# COMMENTS DATE

1 But most are too small for the needs of occupants. This is possibly the reason that the
combined 'success' of your downsizing initiative has delivered less than 1 household move per
month over the last two years

1/30/2021 2:50 PM

2 Environmentally sustainable affordable homes should be the priority 1/25/2021 1:16 PM

3 Priority 2 should become Priority 1, so that homes will have lower carbon footprints and meet
the existing Priority 1 (which should be Priority 2)

1/19/2021 5:02 PM

4 I agree with your people section. Younger people, who have been shafted buy older voters are
now having to move out of area. It follows that the amenities for the younger residents will also
dry up and we will end up with dormitories of coffin dodgers - yest still the Churchills and
Mcarthy and Stones roll in

1/14/2021 3:46 PM

5 Priority 3 - access for support and advice isn't necessarily the same as making best use of
data which probably spans all the priorities

1/6/2021 11:38 AM

6 We need housing for local communities. Keep to plain speaking 1/5/2021 5:16 PM

7 More emphasis on embodied carbon of building materials 1/2/2021 2:59 PM

8 Priorities 1 and 2 should be in reverse order to reduce amount of new housing required. 12/29/2020 5:57 PM

9 Again pricing is of the upmost importance for local people only. Many areas are full of empty
second homes!

12/27/2020 3:32 PM

10 Improve quality of existing housing. 12/26/2020 1:35 AM

11 Priorities 1 and 2 the wrong way round 12/24/2020 5:45 PM

12 Only if it is truely for local people. 12/22/2020 10:32 AM

13 yes for number 2, more emphasis on environmental issues and housing. No point in collecting
data if no budget to create change.

12/21/2020 2:48 PM

14 Again you have just used this as a platform to appear to be address the chronic shortage of
social housing for essential workers in the South Hams

12/18/2020 7:22 PM

15 Priority 2 should be first 12/18/2020 11:50 AM

16 However the reality doesn't conform as previous comments 12/18/2020 9:17 AM

17 Use existing houses or empty ones and only build new houses that are eco and built anywhere
but on green belt.The council needs to collect data to look at what we have already available
without having to build new

12/17/2020 11:01 PM

18 Whilst I support these priorities all I see is large national house builders covering more and
more green fields for profit. Large numbers of people move in I have no idea where they work
or how far they travel.

12/17/2020 8:19 PM

19 Again, we must balance the health and wellbeing of people with that of the natural
environment, wildlife and biodiversity. We cannot continue to regard human beings as the
'priroity species'. We are completely interdependent on nature

12/17/2020 6:28 PM

20 You may though need to think again as to changes in economy for residents as cars move to
electric only!

12/17/2020 3:25 PM

21 Would like to see more on better use/green upgrading of existing housing stock 12/17/2020 11:39 AM

22 I support your aims but we are never listened to. 12/16/2020 9:33 PM

23 Communities created their own Housing Needs Surveys in 2016 as past of the Neighbourhood
Plan process. You must refer to the reports of these surveys in order to meet the needs of
individual communities.

12/16/2020 7:37 PM

24 please explain why people need to make the best use of data 12/16/2020 5:10 PM

25 Yes, broadly support 12/16/2020 4:33 PM

26 more empty words no targets 12/14/2020 3:21 PM

Page 86



South Hams Housing Strategy

13 / 25

Q6 What, if anything in your opinion should be given greater priority in the
Housing Strategy?

Answered: 123 Skipped: 69

Page 87



South Hams Housing Strategy

14 / 25

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Local housing via affordable provision through schemes such as Rentplus 1/31/2021 11:08 AM

2 Consideration of ways to challenge the growing number of second homes and short term
holiday lets - as mentioned in my previous comments.

1/31/2021 10:41 AM

3 Homes to rent not supposed affordable to buy. And make sure they go to local people first 1/30/2021 6:53 PM

4 Properly designed and aesthetic housing stock that meets storage needs of occupants and is
not depressingly 'cookie cut' bland housing units painted in that ubiquitously awful nicotine
coloured paint

1/30/2021 2:52 PM

5 Greener spaces. 1/30/2021 2:40 PM

6 decent employers/jobs, not crowding villages thus destroying them before building more
housing. Infrastructure is very important, our roads are / not capable of supporting lots of
traffic. And when building there needs to be more space for car parking off road, probably at
least 2 spaces and where young people are also being housed 3 spaces.

1/29/2021 3:37 PM

7 The affordability of housing. Especially for younger local residents who often find local wages
means they are unable to afford local housing

1/29/2021 11:51 AM

8 More stringent checks on housing people with local connection that get allocated housing that
clearly don’t

1/29/2021 1:39 AM

9 I'm not sure, the pandemic has changed the demographic in South Hams, which I'm not sure
you've considered. Your proposals are based on out of date data.

1/28/2021 6:28 PM

10 More local housing in neighbouring villages as most of the housing in South Hams is privately
owned and rented out

1/28/2021 5:42 PM

11 Affordable 1st time buyer homes 1/28/2021 5:40 PM

12 The strategy is fundamentally flawed. The area can build any number of houses and every one
will be occupied, now and into the future. The Southhams will continually suck people from
different parts of the country into it as long as developments are available to them. The
consequences are that housing will remain beyond the young true local population. This is
inherently not a sustainable situation and will continually erode the very nature of it's appeal.
We don't need thousands of houses what we need is affordability for local working families.

1/27/2021 9:14 AM

13 Taking back former council houses into council ownership 1/26/2021 9:00 PM

14 Ensuring that local services can accommodate any increase in housing. The shutting down off
illegal camps and moving them to a purpose built site. Sustainable housing for true local
residents and families so they can afford to buy where they were born. Stop any further
purchasing of homes for commercial letting or second homes this would free up a lot of stock
and keep prices affordable

1/26/2021 7:19 PM

15 Local people being able to buy in towns they work in. Limiting second homes 1/26/2021 3:24 PM

16 The need for less second holiday homes and more for locals - more convents on new homes
for local people - not letting developers cash in on second home buyers

1/26/2021 3:20 PM

17 Better public and private transport links.Cycle paths, footpaths and improvements to roads to
cope with larger populations

1/25/2021 10:37 PM

18 Local affordable homes for local people 1/25/2021 1:56 PM

19 Affordable homes 1/25/2021 1:16 PM

20 Maintenance of existing affordable homes.Many homes look neglected ie need painting general
repairs required.

1/25/2021 11:43 AM

21 There should be a prohibition on building new homes which are not for primary residence 1/25/2021 10:49 AM

22 New sustainable building materials and addressing climate change 1/21/2021 4:57 PM

23 House provision for locals on low wages 1/21/2021 10:19 AM

24 People who cant afford housing 1/20/2021 10:35 PM

Page 88



South Hams Housing Strategy

15 / 25

25 Affordable for locals only, on local wages. 1/20/2021 10:22 PM

26 Disability housing 1/20/2021 5:30 PM

27 More affordable housing to rent for local family’s 1/20/2021 2:50 PM

28 Providing better connectivity for new an current housing via active travel options, ie cycle
provision and foot paths - estate/ home design can have big impact, ie how easy is it for cycle
storage effects ability for residents to cycle, family houses need larger cycle storage options.
Also more affordable housing for rent with social landlords- rents in the south hams are high
and demand much higher than supply.

1/19/2021 8:47 PM

29 I think self build should be more than "support opportunities" residents who build their own
home have a better connection to the area, more invested , more likely to do something
different to a developer who is only really interested in maximising profit. All new developments
should have a proportion of plots as affordable AND the same number of plots to be sold off for
self build

1/19/2021 5:44 PM

30 Meeting the imperative to reach zero carbon emissions by 2030 and improve biodiversity 1/19/2021 5:06 PM

31 Affordable housing for local people. 1/19/2021 3:33 PM

32 Young people 1/19/2021 1:56 PM

33 The local amenities as I live in Ivybridge and I go to South Brent health centre as I couldn't get
the services I needed .Jobs in Ivybridge are few and far between and poor pay .

1/17/2021 10:34 PM

34 There should be more development of one-bed affordable housing in villages. Single people
should have the same access to rural living, including a small garden, as families.

1/15/2021 3:47 PM

35 Outlaw 2nd homes Get gov to change biz rates on holiday lets, so accommodation remains
'rented' Offer grants to younger people to overcome cost of doing up grade 2 listed More
venues and events in towns to stop older types moving in and creating dead town centres

1/14/2021 3:51 PM

36 How it is intended to deliver new affordable schemes, and the locations. 1/14/2021 3:47 PM

37 Getting locals back in villages ,reducing the access to people from other parts of country ,i.e.
Holiday homes

1/12/2021 12:49 PM

38 The need to make new housing developments zero carbon and off-gas, and to retrofit existing
housing to EPC C or above by increasing energy efficiency, and installing electric heat pumps.

1/9/2021 9:54 PM

39 More emphasis on small unit accommodation. Promotiotion of self build, co-ops & Community
Land trusts. I would like to see the council involved in property development and renting in
order to reflect what our community needs. Some way of addressing and reducing areas with
high percentage of empty second homes.

1/9/2021 1:56 PM

40 Affordable houses for local people to enable residents in villages around the coast where there
is extreme pressure on house prices to move from private expensive rents to affordable secure
tenancies

1/8/2021 12:58 PM

41 Increasing the stock of new low cost housing. The pace of supply isn't quick enough to meet
the challenges you identify. There is plenty of land available but needs re-zoning and
avoidance of landbanking by property developers; perhps the council should buy the land and
employ a contractor to build. Also, all new housing should have increased emphasis on energy
efficiency and green sources of energy. For example, new build houses should be very
insulated, have no gas supply, have heat pump technology for heating and probably solar
energy through either roof top or solar/battery storage community schemes - this would be paid
for over the lifetime of ownership through reduced heating bills and eliminating fuel poverty.

1/6/2021 11:45 AM

42 Simple plain talk and action 1/5/2021 5:19 PM

43 No more houses to be sold for second homes but affordable homes only for local people 1/3/2021 1:54 PM

44 Affordable housing built from renewable materials 1/2/2021 3:00 PM

45 Large enough electrical supplies installed for electric vehicles and each house having a
charging point as standard.

1/1/2021 6:27 PM

46 Build on brown field sites as an absolute priority. Using green fields reduces the attractiveness
of the area which is crucial to retain for tourism and reduces land for food production. Covid

12/29/2020 6:00 PM

Page 89



South Hams Housing Strategy

16 / 25

and Brexit demonstrate our over reliance on food from overseas and the immediate effects of
panic buying/ stock piling once food items become scarce on the shelves

47 Affordable rented accommodation ie Social housing 12/29/2020 5:01 PM

48 Permanent residential requirement for new building where the evidence points to housing stock
being overused by non-residents.

12/29/2020 9:07 AM

49 Funding for deposits and help with obtaining a mortgage. There are many families in private
rentals servicing other people's mortgage, help them get there own.

12/28/2020 10:35 PM

50 Affordable housing for LOCAL people. Many places have no community because they are full
of empty second homes. Affordable housing would also lower the average age of home owners
in a community.

12/27/2020 3:35 PM

51 Rental housing for young people. 12/27/2020 7:50 AM

52 Think very hard about where you build the houses, make sure the infrastructure is there for the
extra people and that It does not impact on the small village or town already established.

12/26/2020 1:38 AM

53 Social housing, as the effects of the virus on employment are likely to mean fewer people can
afford mortgages even on supposedly "affordable" housing.

12/24/2020 7:33 PM

54 Housing that first time buyers can move into to free up existing housing. Bigger houses with
front gardens and parking for 2 or more cars.

12/24/2020 5:45 PM

55 Brownfield over Greenfield development. 12/24/2020 3:44 PM

56 Requiring developers to build few if any 4 or more bed houses, ensuring existing infrastructure
can cope, ensuring housing is in close proximity to employment opportunities, ensuring no
detrimental impact on air quality or traffic congestion

12/24/2020 2:35 PM

57 The paper details that south hams and west Devon has natural beauty and therefore makes it
a popular place to live. Once this has been built over I’m guessing there will be nothing left to
want to visit. The paper then explains about the climate emergency ....after witnessing natural
environments being destroyed recently, including mature oaks, it is hard to see how the
strategy of building on all spare land is showing any commitment to climate change.

12/23/2020 2:18 PM

58 Stop building to meet targets, instead of needs! There are plenty of houses, either available or
already being built, and most of the projects suggest a greed of councils to rake in money from
developers who put up shabby housing. Also, stop integrating social housing with private
dwellings.

12/23/2020 9:15 AM

59 The needs of middle income families who are unable to buy due to high house prices and the
need for deposits in excess of £25,000 and who would struggle to pay the £1000 and above
rents per month. They are not entitled to social housing due to their income but cannoy afford
private either!

12/22/2020 10:35 AM

60 Restricting second home ownership / increasing taxes on these properties so local people are
prioritised and the local housing need is a priority not an after thought

12/22/2020 12:50 AM

61 Priority to be given to Development of brownfield sites rather than greenfield sites and to the
upgrading of the poor quality housing stock mentioned in the plan.

12/21/2020 4:37 PM

62 Climate change, carbon zero etc. Preservation of hedges, trees within developments. disagree
with Boris...love newts!

12/21/2020 2:49 PM

63 Nothing in the priority level but more emphasis on accessibility to community initiatives,
individual green space or include allotment availability to each scheme.

12/21/2020 11:26 AM

64 The balance seems right, although I am concerned about the need to develop infrastructure -
roads, sewerage etc. alongside the increase in housing stock

12/20/2020 5:32 PM

65 Truly affordable homes including for rental in the outlying villages which may not have public
transport.

12/20/2020 5:16 PM

66 Protecting the natural environment and traffic reduction 12/20/2020 4:32 PM

67 Ex service people 12/19/2020 10:30 PM

68 I think that even more focus should be placed on having low energy housing which will both 12/19/2020 1:41 PM
Page 90



South Hams Housing Strategy

17 / 25

help protect the environments and reduce costs for people who live in them. Why not target all
new homes to be Passivhaus standards?

69 Building on brown field sites 12/19/2020 12:32 PM

70 1.Providing housing at an level and cost that is attainable and affordable for the average
LOCAL person in living in the area. 2. Holding developers to account when building large scale
housing areas, making it a condition to provide a higher proportion of properties at an
affordable local cost

12/19/2020 12:23 PM

71 Access to leisure facilities such as green space. Access to public transport 12/19/2020 10:28 AM

72 Ensure that use as second homes is severely restricted and that infrastructure is either
upgraded or more controlled, particularly roads and size of lorries to use them affecting quality
of life.

12/19/2020 9:52 AM

73 Homes that are genuinely affordable to local residents and not overpriced and oversized
properties that form the largest amount built on any development traditionally. New Builds
should be restricted for second homes.

12/18/2020 8:56 PM

74 SHDC be building its own social housing on land it owns within the towns and villages for
essential workers.

12/18/2020 7:24 PM

75 affordable housing for rent 12/18/2020 12:32 PM

76 Taking care of the natural environment and green spaces. If Covid has taught us anything it is
that outside space and green spaces are priceless.

12/18/2020 11:51 AM

77 The look of new housing and its placement. I have seen decades of the builder CG Fry in West
Dorset actually adding to the attraction of villages and small towns but most developments in
Devon are pretty awful.

12/18/2020 11:38 AM

78 Planning in this area is a disgrace I am aware of houses being built on rural locations Where
houses are planned to rebuild existin properties they have simply been completely knocked
down and rebuilt with no control from local authorities In my opinion the local builders in this
area are are all fully aware they can do whatever they like and there will be no intervention from
local authorities The council desperately need some professional control and more able
personnel to run it in an effective and considerate manner for people living in this area and to
implement your plans in an effective manner Which us far from the case at the moment

12/18/2020 9:23 AM

79 Don’t honestly think we need more houses- revamp brownfill: collate data on vacant properties
and use them and stop our area becoming a millionaires paradise that pushes house prices out
of the reach of local people Any houses you have to build need to be as eco as possible built
well and not on green belt it’s destroying our environment

12/17/2020 11:05 PM

80 We must ensure that local infrastructure keeps pace with huge building projects. Ivybridge is
growing at an accelerating rate. We will need more GPs, school places, larger sewerage works
and better access to the A38 for commuters.

12/17/2020 8:22 PM

81 Starkly put, we need to map out local resources and determine the level of people that can be
supported within that limit. So people will have to shrink their expectations and live within new
'One Planet' limits. 'Tiny Houses' need to become legal in UK Housing and Planning law to
increase the amount of small household living units, balanced with sufficient outdoor living
space to offset minimum space standards. Tiny Homes and Tiny Home settlements will
provide an immediate solution - creating an affordable, eco friendly, flexible and sociable
housing model that can be placed where it is appropriate and where occupants can
demonstrate a commitment to caring the land that they are sited on. They are suitable
temporary housing units for isolation purposes, students, key workers, first time would-be
buyers. Somebody on minimum wage could afford their own home. School children could
design and build their own home and by the time they leave education they could potentially
each have their own first home. Imagine that. And joined up solutions need to happen. Create
schemes that help to fill under occupied homes. Let local landowners allow workers to live on
their land permanently as part of a contract to make the countryside more productive using
modern permaculture methods. Stop building new housing estates because people will just
keep coming along to fill them. That is not sustainable. Priority is Education. We are a small
Island. We cannot sustain population growth. We cannot grow more land. People will have to
learn to live with less. It can be done, and well. There are global examples.

12/17/2020 6:36 PM

82 Support for locals no sale of housing to other council districts 12/17/2020 6:09 PMPage 91



South Hams Housing Strategy

18 / 25

83 An improvement in details you use as many of these (from outside your Councils) are often
very weak / poor and remotely assessed.

12/17/2020 3:26 PM

84 Second home ownership should be restricted and subject to higher council tax 12/17/2020 3:09 PM

85 Ensure that greedy developers are controlled because they do not care one jot for local
concerns or environment. It is all just money to them.

12/17/2020 2:33 PM

86 Better understanding and fuller consideration of what sustainable means - it means not banging
up lots of houses in small communities unless roads, parking and vehicular needs are
improved so that vehicles don't further damage people

12/17/2020 1:32 PM

87 Properties for local people in their own communities. 12/17/2020 11:54 AM

88 It must only build houses that have the infrastructure to support them, e.g. does not increase
car usage by having a real local transport infrastructure, or is in close proximity to facilities and
work (which could be at home by providing full connectivity.

12/17/2020 11:42 AM

89 Green agenda - e.g. all homes to have (shared) heat pumps 12/17/2020 11:40 AM

90 Converting redundant retail space to housing 12/17/2020 11:21 AM

91 Low cost housing for singles as well as f amilies 12/17/2020 10:23 AM

92 Put low income individuals and families at the centre of your policy. 12/17/2020 10:09 AM

93 The areas in which the housing is made available. Moving people from the city into rural
communities can be detrimental to both parties,

12/17/2020 9:54 AM

94 reduce provision of further developments for second homes and total number of second homes 12/17/2020 8:52 AM

95 make good quality 2 bedroom houses to allow people to vacate larger family properties 12/17/2020 7:53 AM

96 I have several friends, all retired and on moderate incomes who would like to downsize to
smaller, suitable homes but there is little available for owner occupation in the Kingsbridge
area.

12/16/2020 11:22 PM

97 Number of second homes sitting empty most of the year, not part of the community. Holiday
homes push up the prices for locals

12/16/2020 10:00 PM

98 Listen to the people who work and live here. As working residents our opinions are less than
worthless.

12/16/2020 9:35 PM

99 Housing provision where employment is available. 12/16/2020 8:32 PM

100 disabled 12/16/2020 8:24 PM

101 priority to local people and more help for younger generation to be able to afford the homes
built

12/16/2020 8:23 PM

102 Housing built at a reasonable price for established young local residents, wanting to move out
of their family home and set up a home of their own.

12/16/2020 8:07 PM

103 Neighbourhood Plans are an integral part of the planning process. These were fully approved
as a legal documents. You have failed to even mention them in your Housing Strategy and that
must be given urgent priority so that you recognise the needs of communities.

12/16/2020 7:40 PM

104 Housing suitable for the elderly who currently occupy property that is too large for their current
need and who wish to downsize without moving away from their community.

12/16/2020 7:01 PM

105 Affordable housing at the detriment of private housing 12/16/2020 6:24 PM

106 The young. 12/16/2020 6:13 PM

107 Affordable housing keep the young people in the area 12/16/2020 6:08 PM

108 Widen the diversity of home ownership,provide land for self build,stop assisting only one
sector of society ( affordable)

12/16/2020 5:56 PM

109 See previous answer 1) new housing should be genuinely affordable for local people 2) new
housing should not be second homes and 3) new housing should be carbon neutral

12/16/2020 5:48 PM

Page 92



South Hams Housing Strategy

19 / 25

110 An open statement that all ,new builds must have photo voltaic cells ,possibly ground source
heat pumps ,cavity wall insulation and car space(s).

12/16/2020 5:27 PM

111 Environmental matters 12/16/2020 5:21 PM

112 The performance standards of housing needs to be increased (Passivhaus or Enerphit) to
reduce carbon emmissions, improve comfort and drive down energy costs to reduce fuel
poverty.

12/16/2020 5:11 PM

113 Housing communities for retired people, which would release housing stock for the market or
be purchased by the local authority for development into flats.

12/16/2020 5:11 PM

114 There's no mention of how you intend to balance the increase in pollution caused by thousands
of new residents using polluting cars, household waste, CO2 increase, need for extra oxygen
by large new communities,in what are currently low pollution areas. new developers should be
required by law to plant new trees, one for every bedroom, to provide much needed sources of
oxygen while extracting the increased production of CO2, etc Trees are uniquely able to
provide both. Link these together: BUILD NEW HOMES, PLANT NEW TREES.

12/16/2020 5:08 PM

115 That all new homes are built to strict environmental and energy efficiency standards. That
existing housing stock is retrofitted up to the same standards.

12/16/2020 5:04 PM

116 Building social housing 12/16/2020 4:41 PM

117 Making best use of existing properties 12/16/2020 4:35 PM

118 Social Housing 12/16/2020 4:33 PM

119 Local people and elderly locals, never enough housing for them. 12/16/2020 4:30 PM

120 more affordable housing in and on the edges of major cities such as Exeter and Plymouth as
these would be able to take advantage of existing infrastructure, education, medical and
employment opportunities

12/16/2020 4:25 PM

121 Quality build and energy efficient. 12/15/2020 3:07 PM

122 Building more housing across the area where people and communities live. For example in
Dartmouth and Totnes

12/15/2020 10:54 AM

123 1. You are continuing to grant planning permission for unsustainable housing eg min quality &
spec. A min requirement should be code 5 or passive. No house should be built that does not
include its own parking area where EV's can be charged from the house / power / solar / micro
generation / power drawn from the EV to the house etc. What are your targets is it even an
ambition? 2. You are completely missing the biggest cause of "unaffordable" homes whereby
those at the other end of the housing market eg 50+ mortgage free would in other EU countries
+ maybe Cornwall & Scotland be building individual custom houses for their retirement to a
high spec (passive or close to it) the complete absence of available plots prevents this from
happening & precludes small builders from developing the skills required to build quality
homes. You could set a target for every village/town to increase their housing stock by say
10% over the next 5 or 10 years and instruct every parish & town council to identify potential
sites for 3 or 4 times their allocation so that landowners would have to be competitive to sell
plots or they would be "locked out" for a round of another 5 or 10 years. Something like this
could unlock affordable and available building plots. The benefit would cascade down the
market chain. 3. Launch a scheme to upgrade older homes in terms of external wall insulation
+ underfloor insulation + ground source heat pump, the difficult to do bits that offer the biggest
Co2 savings, through approved contractors using interest free loans that could be at least
partly paid back via RHI payments. The cost of offering interest free loans would be offset by
the economic activity created

12/14/2020 4:07 PM

Page 93



South Hams Housing Strategy

20 / 25

Q7 Do you have any further views about our plans to tackle the housing
needs in the South Hams?

Answered: 97 Skipped: 95

Page 94



South Hams Housing Strategy

21 / 25

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Planning department seems consistently opposed to any development unless you're Baker
Estates, Bloor Homes etc. For crying out loud, try and be collaborative with the rest of us!

1/31/2021 10:26 PM

2 Building more homes is not a sustainable solution to tackling housing needs in the South
Hams. More consideration must be taken in promoting the modification of existing homes to
meet family needs and discouraging or heavily restricting second homes and holiday lets.

1/31/2021 10:44 AM

3 Develop enough for the need 1/30/2021 6:54 PM

4 Take road congestion into account. Take aesthetic design considerations into account. Build
houses that are actually large enough for the modern persons needs. Make better use of
'passivhaus' concepts (eg large S facing windows' Ensure garages can accept modern vehicles
in order to encourage off-road parking to minimise highway obstructions by parked vehicles.
Increase privacy between dwellings with more foliage and use this to create 'nature corridoors'

1/30/2021 2:56 PM

5 we are not looking after the current look and ambiance of the villages by building modern
structures and squashing as many as possible into the build. You cannot put Town/city
dwellers into the countryside as they do not know how to cope with making their own
entertainment. Look at the problems with the new build at Loddiswell

1/29/2021 3:40 PM

6 As in the previous answer, all your assumptions are based on pre pandemic data, things have
changed considerably since then.

1/28/2021 6:29 PM

7 South hams needs more affordable properties. For being in the current climate we are in, some
people now cannot afford private rent

1/28/2021 5:43 PM

8 No 1/28/2021 5:41 PM

9 Planning are tied to a set of rules, these allow developments which are obviously leading to
further building often within AONB. The covert approach by many farmers/developers and
householders use this as a means to gain there overall goal. Planning hands are tied as they
follow rules to the letter but in the knowledge that they will see a new development soon. We
need to have a limited build clause to prevent overdevelopment of recently passed
applications.

1/27/2021 9:28 AM

10 Need better planners and enforcement. You need to build but build better quality and designed
houses and make sure the developer pays for the improvements on local infrastructure and
services. Have a major impact on their profits so they have to contribute and also carry out the
improvement works before they can build a single house not chase them after when they have
all the profits

1/26/2021 7:20 PM

11 Please limit second home buying in Salcombe 1/26/2021 3:24 PM

12 Reduce second home ownership or make them let only to local people or less holiday homes 1/26/2021 3:21 PM

13 Listen to the communities NOT the elected representatives - e.g. Dartmouth 420 houses which
will be too many, too expensive and too few affordable for local people

1/25/2021 1:56 PM

14 There are many developments that attract wealthy buyers, we need better homes for local
people

1/25/2021 1:16 PM

15 There must be an upgrade in infrastructure. 1/25/2021 10:49 AM

16 Conversion of empty retail space, plus brownfield sites and buying existing property should be
considered before building on green fields

1/21/2021 5:01 PM

17 Double or triple the council tax for second home ownership 1/21/2021 10:20 AM

18 Build more social housing 1/20/2021 10:35 PM

19 There needs to be a real focus on getting social housing and private rentals working properly.
The cost of a private 3 bed property is at least £850 pcm (many properties advertised are now
in excess of £1000pcm), whereas if you are lucky enough to get 3 bed social housing you will
pay half that. Also the pandemic has seen huge demand to move to the area, with many
individuals entering the private rental market to "try before they buy". All this does is further
clog up the market for those people who live and work here but have no realistic prospect of
saving 10% deposits. The end result will be a brain drain and people won't stay here in the long
term as it is not viable.

1/20/2021 8:00 PM

Page 95



South Hams Housing Strategy

22 / 25

20 Charge second home owners full council tax on their second home to generate money to build
affordable homes for local families

1/20/2021 2:52 PM

21 Second homes are a blip they are used only a few weeks a year. I think a second home not
used as a commercial holiday let should be financially discouraged. Any house that is not a
primary residence should be charged double or triple or quadruple council tax. If its a holiday
let, that can be in a company structure, but must be available at a market rate, not priced to
stay empty. If you can afford a second home in the South hams, then you could pay little more
tax for the benefit of the community

1/19/2021 5:49 PM

22 Good luck trying to get anything positive done for non-privileged people under a Tory regime....
really appreciate the hard work done by the Council employees.

1/19/2021 5:09 PM

23 Common sense must prevail and planning officers must not be so rigid on determining
applications purely on policy. If there is a need, build the houses.

1/19/2021 3:34 PM

24 No 1/19/2021 1:56 PM

25 Don't put single people just in urban blocks of flats! Also, don't build social housing so small -
some of the room sizes are impossible for families to actually live in in any comfort and
without severe family friction.

1/15/2021 3:49 PM

26 An average priced home costs over 11 times the average wage. That. It's not going to go away
by itself. We already have towns where the workers cannot afford to live and commute daily to
work. This isn't sustainable. All of the older people here vote against and complain about
development, as they have comfortable homes. You also find that elected members are pretty
old too. We need to stop listening to them and address the issues of people without a voice,
it's a landslide otherwise.

1/14/2021 3:58 PM

27 The target of delivering 7,000 affordable homes in 5years is completely unrealistic. Emphasis
on one bed homes is a mistake- need to allow for household growth. There is no indication of
the anticipated development grant over the strategy years. An assessment of the practical
involvement of s.106 agreements to enable RP’s to deliver would be helpful, and whether the
LA’s still own land that can be provided at nil cost to RP’s.

1/14/2021 3:57 PM

28 You need to listen to your parish councils more . 1/12/2021 12:50 PM

29 You don't say how the planning system or the Joint Local Plan will require new housing to be
zero carbon or even low carbon. You do not discuss the location of housing developments to
protect wildlife. You do not address the large percentage of housing that is second homes and
holiday lets, that push up prices making local housing expensive for local people. You could
introduce higher rates of council tax on second homes and use the money raised to fund
affordable homes.

1/9/2021 9:57 PM

30 Money is always an issue. Why not use income from second home rates to fund affordable
homes?

1/9/2021 1:58 PM

31 A necessity to be able to build 'council houses' without having to have a large expensive
market development attached.

1/8/2021 12:59 PM

32 disappointing to see see Local Plans being ignored. Stop Local Government talk and start to
engage as a local will support and understand.

1/5/2021 5:20 PM

33 More homes for locals at sensible prices - and/or shared properties 1/3/2021 1:55 PM

34 Parking, we know that it is contentious but with electric vehicles coming they need to park
near their house or lots of dedicated parking with chargers. Careful thought is required.

1/1/2021 6:31 PM

35 Ensure the council has sound evidence of need for housing/ specific size of housing and meet
that evidence based need not some finger in the air central government assessment of
demand. Build more rental housing to provide affordable and flexible housing and at same time
curtailing second home owners.

12/29/2020 6:05 PM

36 Good luck! 12/29/2020 9:09 AM

37 Given the slow planning process in the area, five years will not be enough time to implement a
plan, the current time for approval of a neighbourhood plan exceeds this, by the time they are
created and have been approved at referendum the government guidelines have changed. The
planned developments are led by the developers for maximum profit, the aging demographic
has a loud voice and the time to influence planning decision. Look at the high percentage of

12/28/2020 10:45 PM

Page 96



South Hams Housing Strategy

23 / 25

planning decisions the are not decided within the government time frame and are altered from
the initial idea during the process.

38 Only affordable as I have previously stated. We have a new build area in Chillington in which
the majority of houses built have been empty for 3 years. They are unaffordable for local
people being approx £300,000,!!

12/27/2020 3:38 PM

39 Infrastructure must be there too. Schools, medical services etc. 12/27/2020 7:50 AM

40 Whatever you build make sure it is appealing on the eye and fits in With rural Devon and don’t
overdo the amount of houses so that it ends up being like a housing estate. Think tasteful!

12/26/2020 1:40 AM

41 Terrible 12/24/2020 5:46 PM

42 Ensure only the affordable housing required by the community is built in rural areas. Double
council tax on second homes.

12/24/2020 2:37 PM

43 Please stop cutting down much needed mature trees and changing the landscape of this
beautiful part of the country.

12/23/2020 2:19 PM

44 Multiple home ownership by those who do not live and work in the area needs to be carefully
considered. Tourism is important but not if the increase in house prices means that locals
cannot live here. Also need to think about 'key worker' definition as currently only seems to
apply to nurses, teachers, emergency services and leaves out other school staff. Shared
ownership - the maintenance costs need to be more realistic. Some are £45 per month on top
of rent and mortgage payments therefore pushing the montly costs over £1000 and out of
reach of many. Cap on private rents - I recently saw one advertised for £5000 pcm! The rents
need to reflect the income of locals not the desirability of the area. The level of income for
families to be eligible for social housing needs to be reconsidered to meet the needs of middle
income families as they are the ones who are not entitled to any welfare support but are
expected to pay high rents. Better security for private renters - Section 21 notices mean we
can be asked to leave for no real reason. My family are facing out 3rd Section 21 in 3 years
despite never defaulting on rent and maintaining upkeep of houses well.

12/22/2020 10:44 AM

45 Their is a lot of not on my backyard building going on of affordable housing not near second
homes!

12/22/2020 12:51 AM

46 Further consultation needed on the appropriateness and means of using the high levels of
underused housing stock to assist the homeless.

12/21/2020 4:39 PM

47 Addressing homelessness within the area, not schemes that move people on particularly if
they are local. this is a lovely area but will not remain so if attempts to accommodate all who
want to move here particularly post covid and work related changes you refer to. Support for
ageing population in addressing their housing need may also release larger properties.
Commitment to reuse 'empty' homes.

12/21/2020 2:53 PM

48 No. 12/21/2020 11:27 AM

49 Concerns about the numbers. Particularly around Totnes area where the river and roads are
really bad pinchpoints. Redworth Junction, pedestrian crossing near station etc are huge
holdups in traffic flow. More homes in Totnes will exacerbate this without a new crossing over
the Dart.

12/20/2020 5:18 PM

50 no 12/19/2020 10:30 PM

51 This may already be in play: swift consultation with all Parish and Town Councils to identify
needs on the ground (to support the number crunching) and potential building sites.

12/19/2020 1:43 PM

52 More consideration for communities and infrastructure with greater thought to the wishes of
local residents.

12/19/2020 12:33 PM

53 I don't believe enough is being done to support local people and halt the trend of us being
priced out of the area we grew up in. Recent years have seen lots of housing developments
built by big corporations, with styles of homes and properties that don't meet the local need,
and don't come close to being affordable. SHDC needs to stop awarding these contracts and
focus on building smaller affordable homes and apartments for local residents. Where these
developments do happen there should be a higher percentage built as affordable homes for
people in the local area, or contributions towards other affordable homes as part of the
conditions

12/19/2020 12:26 PM

Page 97



South Hams Housing Strategy

24 / 25

54 Concerned that some areas like Ivybridge get a lot of new build whilst some other areas appear
exempt. Distribution in South Hams unfair.

12/19/2020 10:30 AM

55 An increasing number of people will be moving form cities to the S. Hams. It is important that
we preserve the relative tranquility and clean air that attracts them by restricting the flood and
maintaining our water and countryside assets. Suggest we focus on the "needs" and not the
"wants".

12/19/2020 9:57 AM

56 Yes build your own social housing . 12/18/2020 7:25 PM

57 build in urban areas and protect the countryside 12/18/2020 12:33 PM

58 Yes. Ensure the builders complete all the housing on applications that have already been
approved instead of putting them on the back burner until they are more profitable. No further
applications should be approved until existing ones are complete. Not just started - complete.

12/18/2020 11:52 AM

59 Second homes- more rules. Not allowing houses in some areas to be sold to non residents. 12/18/2020 11:40 AM

60 No only those concerns already highlighted 12/18/2020 9:23 AM

61 Think it’s criminal to just keep building new badly built housing on free belt without a solar
panel to be seen and many bought by people from out of the area Objections for any planning
applications on green belt should be taken seriously however small Otherwise it makes a
mockery of the whole process

12/17/2020 11:08 PM

62 Affordable housing is not affordable for low wage earners. Controlled rented accommodation is
required for local low wage workers within the area spread across the district.

12/17/2020 8:27 PM

63 Allow people to live in holiday lodges all year round. They are the closest thing to 'affordable'
housing for people on minimum wage. Compulsory purchase of 2nd homes will release
housing, perhaps for shared use. Tourists can come down in caravans instead.

12/17/2020 6:37 PM

64 Depends on your plans 12/17/2020 6:10 PM

65 Some older people bungalows would be useful. 12/17/2020 3:27 PM

66 truly affordable housing to help the young the highest priority. Sricter controls to kerb developer
mission creep.

12/17/2020 3:12 PM

67 Only, be careful. Just go and look at South Hampshire if you want to see what can happen
when you open the flood gates. Do not allow poor quality, cramped housing like Sherrford.
These will be the slums of 2030

12/17/2020 2:35 PM

68 No 12/17/2020 1:32 PM

69 Whatever is done, it must remember that Farming and Tourism are vital in maintaining the
areas longer term viability and thus preservation of the AONB and other classes of
preservation areas and structures is maintained. Local legislation needs to look at how the
South Hams deals with second homes and their occupancy.

12/17/2020 11:45 AM

70 Don't destroy its natural but by faceless (cheap) housing. Let new build reflect local
architecture. Need sympathetic landscaping so we don't all live in suburban sprawl.

12/17/2020 11:42 AM

71 No 12/17/2020 11:21 AM

72 Small developments. Ensure services are in place eg schools doctors etc. 12/17/2020 10:24 AM

73 It’s not helping low income families and is continuing to force them out of the area 12/17/2020 10:09 AM

74 Use more brown sites and disused buildings 12/17/2020 9:56 AM

75 Just think before you give planning permission to large estates as roads, Dr's Surgeries and
schools will soon become overwhelmed also make sure the area of the new builds should have
access to public transport

12/17/2020 7:55 AM

76 Public meeting to discuss opinions would be helpful. 12/16/2020 11:22 PM

77 You know what we need. The same arguments have been stated for many years and ignored.
Genuinely affordable housing. I earn £11 an hour.

12/16/2020 9:37 PM

78 Housing requirement and location of provision need to be linked to job prospects. For climate
change, we need to get back to working where we live. The volume of people commuting now

12/16/2020 8:58 PM

Page 98



South Hams Housing Strategy

25 / 25

is leading to longer and slower commutes which is unsustainable. No business can be
successful where roads become congested, travel slow and the large towns cannot deal with
these commuters turning up in individual vehicles. Clearly this policy is not linked to work and
wealth. Current housebuilding levels for the provision of small numbers of affordable housing is
severely damaging the quality of living in this area with the lanes, roads and the environment
all sadly becoming severely damaged. How the South Hams environment has deteriated over
the last 50 years is frankly appalling.

79 I live in social housing but property is to small for my needs now as I have some medical
needs but south hams council will not let me bid on a 2 bed property because I don't claim
disability benefits etc , this is grossly unfair , more fairer help for long term local , not people
coming from plymouth etc

12/16/2020 8:26 PM

80 Care needs to be taken with housing development regarding the area of outstanding natural
beauty, the natural beauty that brings income into the area. Too much housing equals more
vehicles and congestion for locals and visitors. We want to attract people to the area not put
them off coming.

12/16/2020 8:11 PM

81 Until you rewrite your plans taking into consideration the existing needs of communities I have
no further views. Very disappointing first attempt.

12/16/2020 7:42 PM

82 Insist that planning officers meet with and communicate more effectively with applicants. 12/16/2020 7:02 PM

83 Stop developers selling new builds to second home owners 12/16/2020 6:41 PM

84 Affordable housing needs to be close to where people work and can accesss ervices such as
schools, transport, health centres etc

12/16/2020 6:25 PM

85 Relax the rules in the AONB 12/16/2020 6:09 PM

86 Try and balance your support for ALL residents attempting to gain a foothold on the open
market ( and affordable) or you are in danger of creating a two tiered housing market

12/16/2020 5:57 PM

87 See previous answers 12/16/2020 5:48 PM

88 It may be possible to persuade many private landlords to specify that they will only rent to
essential workers this would enable the councils to pass the onus on to others where provision
is light .

12/16/2020 5:30 PM

89 A determined effort must be made to provide housing for first time buyers and renters ,
balanced with industrial units for jobs. The provision of good public transport, determined by
the public and not the bus operator or council.

12/16/2020 5:13 PM

90 Please prioritise brown field and inner city / town sites first. Greenfield only if it can be proven
there is no alternative.

12/16/2020 5:12 PM

91 Don't forget to build on brown field sites first, before destroying the green field of Devon. 12/16/2020 5:10 PM

92 No. Great graphics in the report -made it easy to understand. 12/16/2020 5:04 PM

93 Too much emphasis on owner occupied and private landlord owned properties 12/16/2020 4:34 PM

94 Yes, as previously stated local authority properties for local people instead of people living
outside the area who get priority housing when it states on Devon home choice priority given to
locals. This is not the case, Ive applied for the last 3 to 4 years for local properties and get
nowhere. Then I find the property gets allocated to someone from outside the area. It stinks.

12/16/2020 4:32 PM

95 AONB villages should be allowed to choose how many homes and where they are placed in
their community.

12/15/2020 3:09 PM

96 It has failed and is continuing to fail 12/15/2020 10:55 AM

97 Without innovation and the setting of ambitious targets you fail to make a dent in the issues. 12/14/2020 4:09 PM

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



WD question
post date twitter poll result twitter comments facebook 
launch post - cover photo 14/12/20 2.4k reach 10 shares
intro video - Debo Sellis 16/12/20 508 impressions 2.2k reach 8 shares 225 engagements
Affordable homes 21/12/20 Is this an issue that you have experienced 3 votes:33.3% yes 66.6% no 1 share
Bedrooms 23/12/20 Did you know that you will receive money if you downsize to a smaller home?0 votes 2 shares 54 engagements
Environment 05/01/21 Should new housing be built to a higher environmental standard than required by government?8 votes 100% yes 367 reach
Disabled Facilities 08/01/21 Are you aware that help may be available to adapt your home to meet your needs?5 votes 40% yes, 60% no 1 share 1 comment
Tenants and landlords 12/01/21 Do you know that the Council offers advice on rights and responsibilities for tenants and landlords?1 vote 100% yes 948 reach 4 shares
Individual needs 15/01/21 Have you been able to access all the support you need in your local area? 1 vote 100% yes 400 reach 33 engagements
Build own house 19/01/21 Did you know the Council keeps a register for people interested in self or custom build projects?   2 votes 100% No 1.5k reach 3 shares
Council Houses 20/01/21 Should the council build and manage affordable homes for local people again?10 votes 100% yes 800 reach 1 share 40 engagements
SeaMoor lettings 25/01/21 Have you heard of SeaMoor Lettings? 0 votes 38 engagements
Roadside camps 26/01.21 Would you support having a designated site in the South Hams /West Devon?3 votes 66.7 yes, 33.3 no 2.2k reach 202 engagements 4 shares
last chance - with cover

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Response 1 

Dear Councillor Bastone  

 

I am writing to you in connection with the South Hams Housing Strategy   Consultation  

 

Having read the   strategy I   found that the survey  did not allow me to give the feedback from the 
notes I had made when I read the survey ( I started it but  didn’t complete it ). As I am not on  social 
media  I have decided  to   contact you direct with my feedback. I hope that you will be able to pass 
this on to the relevant officers. 

 

It is positive that  the District Council seeks to find out the views of local people through 
consultation.    However I  always think that  asking people to read  a  document and   feed back 
over  Christmas and the New Year isn’t necessarily the best  time to do this. The results  this  year 
may be better as  people have been in lock  down and may have had more time to  read  and 
feedback. 

 

Policy and context.  

This strategy was developed against back drop of COVID 19. The  significant and  long term  impact 
of COVID 19, on housing and communities, needs to be   fully addressed in this strategy for the next 
5 years  e.g. loss of shops in towns, villages, urban to rural migration,  etc . How will the strategy be 
part of/contribute to   the recovery plans for towns, villages and communities across the South 
Hams? 

 

Place Priorities  

Priority 1 In delivering houses to places well served with services and amenities the impact of wider 
national policies needs to be taken into consideration. e.g.  permanent  loss of community 
resources  (playing  fields  and other land providing  community amenities ) in favour of  building 
new houses  to meet  government requirements for the local authority e.g. the local authority 
having to have a 5 year land  supply.  

Protection of the South Devon  AONB needs to be paramount   and protection of environmental 
assets e.g.  reduction of pollution and improvement of water quality of our rivers.  

Need for local new housing to be located close to regular reliable public transport. 

 

2 points are made about the importance of  supporting and  developing  Neighbourhood Plans  with 
town and parish councils and community  groups … these 2 points  need to 
be  together  and  condensed into one sentence  with an additional point  about  working  with  the 
community  to deliver   what is in the  adopted Neighbourhood Plan.  (This  whole section would 
have benefitted from having  subheadings  .. . Neighbourhood Plans  being one of them). 

Page 103



 

Priority 2 Needs a statement  that  all new  housing developments   will ensure that all 
surface  water  drainage is  contained on site and does  not  contribute to the  risk of  spillage of raw 
sewage into  rivers   in times of high rain fall at local  sewage works.  The Sewage Inland Water Bill - 
second reading scheduled for 22nd January 2021 but delayed due to COVID 19 led by Phillip Dunne 
MP will start the process to end sewage pollution of rivers. This Bill is gaining momentum nationally. 
The collection of rainwater on site will be required in future.  

Energy - How will existing homes be managed to improve energy efficiency?  

 

Priority 3 Needs to emphasise the importance of a mixed age community to support sustainability of 
rural schools and local services  and  for residents health and well being  

Needs to have a statement about the COVID-19 pandemic 

How will future health care plans be planned for and how will they know what those health care 
needs will be? 

Need  housing for young people who want to stay local in affordable homes … some housing  needs 
to be available in perpetuity for local people  

Importance of green  space   

 

People Priorities 

Priority 1 Homes need to be built close to easily accessible public transport services  

Ensure that Registered Providers support those people/tenants  experiencing hardship, deprivation, 
ill heath and inequalities to reduce impact of isolation and loneliness by linking the RPs and this 
strategy  to local COVID 19 recovery plans  and our uncertain futures…  there will be a new 
‘normal’  and there may be more pandemics.   

 

Priority 2 No comment  

 

Priority 3 Bullet point 3 access to which services- how will policy makers find out what residents 
need and want? 

How will this policy/strategy ensure that residents are fully integrated into their community with 
other housing types and not become blocks of ‘sheltered accommodation/ social housing’ 
exacerbating isolation and loneliness even in  small  village and  communities ?   

 

Good to see people living  with dementia listed but could include all people with hidden disabilities 
e.g. dementia, autism, visual  and hearing impairments etc   

 

Page 104



Response 2 

Dear Councillor Bastone 

 

Ref: South Hams & West Devon Better Homes, Better Lives Housing Strategy 2021-2026 

 

Firstly, thank you for telephoning me back so promptly. 

The points I wish to raise in no particular order, to coin a phrase. 

1 The word sustainable is used 15 times with reference to housing and 
communities/towns/villages. However there is no definition of sustainable, so its use has no 
real meaning. 

2 The on-line survey has very small boxes to fill in content and are difficult to complete, as 
you cannot view all that is written to check it.  At the end of the survey there is no way for 
the participant to have a record of what has been said, so no check can be made on whether 
their views have been taken into account. 

3 Dartmoor National Park is singled out on Page 10, "To conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area", but the South Hams is not included in this. 
If it is OK for DNP, why not for South Hams? 

4 No mention of Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty apart from introduction, if the AONB is 
important to mention, what about Undeveloped Coast etc. 

5 I am aware that this is part of the structure, with the JLP at the top and Neighbourhood 
Plans at the bottom, so this needs to be as as coherent as these documents have to be. I feel 
that there are a lot of words, but little real detail. I am not sure how this whole document can 
be interpreted. 

6 There seems to be no way of measuring progress as there are very few specifically 
measurable targets. 

I hope this helps 

 

 

I have not highlighted that the timing of releasing this at this time, when Parish Councils and 
others will have little chance of discussions, before the closing date, seems to be suspect. 

Page 105



Response 3 

Dear Judy, 

 

Sorry to bother you again but your web link for a survey response was not working well! 

 

I also just wanted to share direct with you a major concern please. The strategy approach does not 
seem to consider the 2030 shift to electric cars and it is highly likely to start a Housing impact well 
before that year. It will also impact on all residents in the council areas of the survey etc. So many 
lower paid / normally paid residents (and retirees) here will not be able to afford electric cars and 
even now many have two older petrol cars as they need personal travel as public transport is not 
really available! The shift to electric cars will hence, I fear, encourage many of our residents to move 
away and change their working locations combined with home locations… I would strongly feel that 
this should be considered now please in the current survey as otherwise the changes planned now 
will be wrecked as electric car rules start to come in. They will I feel impact well before 2030. 

 

It is also true that many don’t seem aware of how expensive electric car maintenance will be 
compared to petrol cars. The c 5 year replacement of batteries in the cars will cost well over £5,000! 
Totally unaffordable for many / the majority I fear. The whole electric car shift will also I believe 
seriously change the level of travel, impact retailers, down stream holiday visitors and broader 
serious aspects. 

 

On top of that any use of electric cars here will require major new electric supply and accessibility 
for our smaller homes, flats etc as well. The planning / finance / installation for that will need to be 
done early I fear. 

  

Page 106



Response 4 

South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026 

 

Meetings held: 

 SHDC & KTC 20 January.  Cllr Hilary Bastone (SHDC lead member), Steve 
Mullineaux (Deputy Chief Executive) and Isabel Blake (Head of Housing) with 
Cllrs Bex, Cole, Edmonds, Jennings and Town Clerk. 

 KTC working group 26 January.  Cllrs Bex, Cole, Edmonds, Jennings and 
Town Clerk. 

 KTC Planning Committee 2 February.  Agreed working group’s draft feedback 
as KTC’s response to the Strategy. 

 

Front cover. 

 Draft Housing Strategy… 
 Rather than stock photo – suggest an actual photo of a South Hams family in 

a local/identifiable setting. 
 

Page 3.  Foreward. 

 First paragraph.  Spell out that this is a draft consultation document. 
 Key priorities to include: access to housing i.e. affordability/local 

connection and affordable housing 
 Last paragraph.  Spell out that a delivery plan will be produced in tandem 

with the Strategy itself. 
 

Page 5.  Introduction. 

 First paragraph.  …home ownership is currently an unrealistic… 
 Third paragraph.  …having transferred their housing stock…  Change 

transferred for sold. 
 Last sentence.  ...the implications of this are less well known…  Change to 

spell out that they are very well known i.e. disparate communities and 
make it explicit that there are recognised housing issues in the South Hams 
and West Devon. 

 

Page 6.  People. 

 Second paragraph.  …indeed the social impact of market failures to provide 
sufficient housing options for lower income groups will only get worse unless 
there is a direct policy intervention to deliver a broader range of housing types 
and tenures (…) or through the creation of specific local housing policies in 
neighbourhood plans. 

Page 107



 
Question: does the Strategy offer a policy to overcome this acknowledged 
issue? Or does this refer to the need for a central government policy in which 
case this paragraph needs to be explicit that this is the case?  Moreover, 
neighbourhood plans have to dovetail with, and cannot contradict, the 
overarching Joint Local Plan therefore KTC is struggling to consider what 
policies it could introduce within its own emerging neighbourhood plan. 
 

Page 7.  Place. 
 First sentence.  …higher than average… 
 Fourth paragraph.  …pocket of poor quality housing…  There are lots of facts 

and exact figures throughout the Strategy therefore, where are these 
locations? 

 Fourth paragraph.  …more likely to be stressed… 
 Fourth paragraph.  Reference; The Health Foundation 2017.  Name the actual 

report. 
 Bullet points.  Driving the delivery of new homes that people can afford…  If 

you have the money you can afford any home you want! Suggest this should 
therefore read …that local people can afford… 

 Figures.  27% 4 & 5 bed homes SH & WD compared to 19% ditto homes in 
the rest of England.  KTC identified this unsatisfactory situation in its feedback 
to recent major developments in town at K5 off West Alvington Hill and 
Applegate Park off Belle Hill.  

 

Page 8.  Policy & Context. 

 Last paragraph.  …has secured Investment Partner status with Homes 
England in order to directly draw down grant funding…  This reads as though 
funding is a ‘done deal’ when it actually requires consideration and approval 
by Homes England (e.g. Kingsway Park/Ropewalk development in 
Kingsbridge) therefore the wording should be changed. 

 

Page 9.  Local Priorities – adopted local plans. 

 First mention of the Joint Local Plan with acronym used later in the document; 
suggest JLP placed in the brackets in order to signpost.  Indeed, probably 
wise to provide a fuller layman’s explanation of the planning blueprint until 
2034. 

 

Page 11.  Local Priorities – climate emergency. 

 Ditto page 9. above.  Dartmoor National Park Authority (DNPA)… 
 

Page 13.  The Evidence Base. 

Page 108



 Figures.  Waiting list need by property.  Only 12% 3 bed and 4% 4+ bed are 
needed in the South Hams yet SHDC continues to grant permission for larger 
numbers of 3 and 4+ bed houses in Kingsbridge. 

 

Page 14.  The Evidence Base. 

 Figures.  Downsizing over past 2 years i.e. supported 16 households in SH 
and 5 households in WD.  These figures do not really mean anything without 
the total of households included i.e. what are the percentages? 

 

 

Page 15.  The Evidence Base. 

 Second bullet point.  …67 properties… it would be helpful if this figure could 
be broken down i.e. private or rental. 

 Third bullet point.  homelessness rather than homeless. 
 

Page 16.  Better Homes, Better Live - Our Themes. 

 Housing for Place heading.  Although introduced in the Foreward, “housing for 
place” still sounds and reads unwieldly! 

 

Page 17.  Theme 1 – Housing for Place. 

 

 Priorities, sustainable used twice.  A buzzword which potentially means 
everything and nothing! 

 

Page 18.  Place Priority 1. 

 Encourage opportunities (…) for custom build/self build.  Is this realistic?  
Suggest it is deleted. 

 Joint Venture partners?  Explanation required. 
 Work creatively with RPs?  Explanation required. 
 Homes England.  Ditto explanation required; who or what are they? 
 Explore the concepts of the Council as a developer and landlord of new 

housing.  Potentially a good policy; more information required.  However, 
rather than Explore suggest replace with Commit to i.e. stronger language. 

 

Page 19.  Place Priority 2. 

 Change Gypsies for Gypsy. 
 

Page 21.  People Priority 2. 

Page 109



 Introductions: The Councils are committed to rather than singular. 
 Target all F & G rated properties.  F & G? 
 …to deliver low cost disability aids… 

 

Page 22.  People Priority 2. 

 …Homelessness Strategy and Rough… 
 Support Tenants and stand firm…  Unsure what stand firm means? Suggest 

‘support’ is all that is needed. 
 

Page 22.  People Priority 2. 

 Ensure that people who need to use our service…   Further explanation 
required. 

 Regularly communicate… How?  What is the format?   
 

 

 

 

 

Page 23.  Resources. 

 The Councils have had their… 
 Fourth paragraph.  …for biodiversity.  (full stop) 
 Sixth paragraph.  …sold… rather than transferred and Whilst for Whist 

 

Page 24.  Monitoring of this housing strategy. 

 Producing… etc.  Exhausting sentence; suggest breaking up. 
 

Page 24.  Annual Delivery Plan. 

 SMART.  Missing a very important word! either Realistic or Relevant. 
 

Page 26.  Glossary. 

 Empty Home and Fuel poverty.  Has this been mixed up? 
 

 

 

Page 110



Coda:  Further to the meeting held with SHDC Lead Member/Senior Officers on 
20 January, Kingsbridge Town Council confirms its offer to assist SHDC in 
monitoring the Strategy and reviewing the Delivery Plan.  

 

Response 5 

Good morning Darryl, I hope you are well?  

 

I’m not sure if you are the correct person to send this e-mail to, if not, could I please ask that you 
forward it to the appropriate person on my behalf? I am just aware that you were in the e-mail 
correspondence with Councillor Graham Parker, with regard this matter. 

 

Tavistock Town Council decided it wanted to respond to the above Consultation as a Council, rather 
than on an individual basis.  Therefore I’m afraid it’s not possible to answer the survey via the link 
previously provided, I am therefore responding via e-mail, I hope that is acceptable? 

 

The Town Council’s Development Management & Licensing Committee considered the Consultation 
at its Meetings on 5th January and 25th January 2021, and made the following RECOMMENDATION to 
full Council; 

 

The Committee considered the South Hams and West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-26 
which sought to deliver ‘better homes, better lives’ - including an oral update from a 
Member including reference, in particular, to: 

 

- Document configuration (comprising two themes and three associated priorities per 
theme); 

- ‘Housing for Place’ - incorporating ensuring sustainable housing growth, promoting 
balanced and sustainable communities and ensuring homes supported the health 
and wellbeing of the area;  

- ‘Housing for People’ - incorporating homes that supported the health and wellbeing 
of residents, making the best use and improving quality of existing housing and 
ensuring access to support and advice needed to make the best use of data. 

 
It further referenced, amongst others, factors such as;  

o Affordability/house prices, affordable housing, housing need, ownership options, 
rental levels, fuel poverty population displacement and related matters 

o Demographic profiling, occupation levels and related matters 
o Affordable housing targets, self-build opportunities, Council role and standardized 

modelling, environmental standards, biodiversity/carbon standards and planning 
policies; 

Page 111



o Health planning, co-ordination with providers, need planning, energy efficiency and 
disabled housing, independent living, fuel poverty, lettings, empty homes, 
occupancy levels and other housing matters; 

o Addressing antisocial behaviour, data, communications etc. 
 

The emphasis on compliance with climate change policy considerations and affordability 
were also noted together with review arrangements.  

 

The Member involved was thanked for the in-depth update he had provided, and his 
analysis of the emerging Strategy. 

 

RECOMMENDED THAT the Housing Strategy 2021-26 be welcomed and that West Devon 
Borough Council be invited to further develop the means by which it will be 
implemented. 

 

I can confirm that this RECOMMENDATION was endorsed, in full, at the Town Council Meeting last 
evening, 26th January 2021.  This is therefore the decision of Tavistock Town Council, at this point of 
the Consultation. 

 

Page 112



  1 

Equality Impact Assessment  
  

Service or Policy Area:  Housing Strategy    

Officer(s) completing the assessment:  Neil Hawke   

Date:  23rd February 2021  

Name of service, strategy, policy, project or function being 
assessed:  Housing Strategy 2021- 2026   
  

1.  What are the aims, objectives, outcomes, purpose of the 
service, strategy, policy, project or function that you are 
assessing?  

  

The Housing Strategy ‘Better Homes Better Lives’ is a key 
strategic document that sets out how the Council plans to meet all 
types of housing need over a 5 year period.   

Whilst it is interested in the delivery of all tenures of housing 
accommodation, it is primarily focused on meeting the needs of 
people who may otherwise struggle to access market housing and 
those who may be vulnerable. It includes commitments to ensuring 
that housing standards requirements are met, and to supporting 
people who may have specific mobility needs.  

The overarching aims of the Housing Strategy have been 
developed through data analysis, research and consultation, in 
order to ensure that they meet identifiable needs in the local area.   

The key strategic priorities identified are to:  

- Promoting Balanced and Sustainable Communities 
- Ensuring that homes support the health and wellbeing of the 

area 
- Homes that support the health and wellbeing of our 

residents  
- Making the best use and improving the quality of existing 

housing  
The fourth priority is subject to a specific strategy on  

P
age 113



  2 

 
  homelessness and which is also being considered as part of this 

EIA.   

The approach ensures the Council meets the standalone legal 
requirement to publish a homelessness strategy (as set out in the 
Homelessness Act 2002). Perhaps more importantly, however, it 
also ensures that tackling homelessness and rough sleeping 
receive a commensurate level of priority in keeping with the 
Council’s corporate aims, and sets out a clear roadmap through 
which to lead local partnerships to prevent and relieve 
homelessness with a shared sense of responsibility across 
agencies and sectors.  

  

P
age 114



  3 

2.  Who implements or delivers the service, strategy, policy, 
project or function?   

State if this is delivered by more than one service or 
team, including any external partners.  

  

It is not a legal requirement of the Council to have a Housing 
Strategy however it is best practice and considered important to 
setting out our plans for the local area.  

The Housing Strategy has been produced by the Council but there 
are a wide range of stakeholders that are critical to the successful 
delivery of the priorities.  

These include developers, Registered Providers, supported 
housing providers and a range of other statutory and voluntary 
sector partners.   

Within the Council, the Housing Strategy will primarily be delivered 
by a cross section of the organisation, led by the Head of Housing, 
Revenues and Benefits. Specialists from the following areas will 
take responsibility for delivery of specific actions within the delivery 
plan.    

 Development Management  
 JLP  
 Housing  
 Assets  
 Place  

 
Devon Home Choice and other partners complete their own EIA’s 
in respect of their activities.  

 

P
age 115



  4 

3.  Who will be affected by the service, strategy, policy, 
project or function?   

  

This Strategy will affect all residents of South Hams and West 
Devon as well as people looking to relocate to the area.  

The identified priorities and detailed delivery plans seek to ensure 
appropriate local housing provision for all groups, regardless of 
background or type, and include some specific actions to ensure 
anyone who may otherwise be disadvantaged are being actively 
considered and supported locally.  This includes (but it not limited 
to): 

- Those on low incomes or in receipt of benefits  
- Those at risk of becoming homeless  
- Those with protected characteristics  

It is considered that the Housing Strategy will have positive 
impacts for the above groups and the wider community.  

   
4.  What are the likely positive impacts for the protected 

groups (see above)?   

Are any particular groups more affected and why?  

  

The Housing Strategy focuses on ensuring access to homes for 
everyone in our community be that Housing Association, Private 
Rentals, shared ownership or full ownership. As a result of the 
strategy, positive impacts for protected groups include:  

• Actions to support all age groups, and with particular 
actions to support both younger and older people who may 
have particular needs or who may be vulnerable as a result 
of their age.   

• Actions to ensure affordable housing provision is 
maximised to assist those of working age and who are 
identifiably likely to struggle most to sustain themselves in 
the local housing market without support.   

• Actions to encourage the development of properties to a 
higher standard that will meet the needs of people with a 
range of disabilities, and as people grow and age.  

 

P
age 116



  5 

  

• Actions to ensure that people with mobility needs can 
access support including adaptations to enable them to 
remain in their homes.  

• Actions to assist people who may be affected by a 
breakdown in their relationship with their partner, family or 
friends, and including support for couples to secure homes.   

• Actions to ensure suitable provision for couples (married or 
otherwise), households with dependent children and those 
who may be pregnant.   

• Specific actions to address identifiable priorities and/or gaps 
in provision, for example, to support single females to 
prevent or relieve female rough sleeping in the borough 
and/or to ensure the right provision is in place to assist 
those who may be fleeing the effects of domestic abuse.  

• Actions to ensure there is adequate temporary 
accommodation provision and capacity to provide support 
for people, including where they may be affected by other 
forms of violence, abuse or harassment.  

• The evidence base that underpins the strategy has reviewed 
demographic data and compared this with the operational 
delivery of services, and ensured that the forward plan 
contained in the strategy will continue to achieve the right 
balance of support and assistance including for those from 
BME backgrounds.   

• Generic actions to improve service delivery across a range 
of deliverables, that seek to raise the bar for all those who 
require help and support with housing or a related support 
need. This will have a positive impact on all groups.  

  

The Housing Strategy has been designed to meet all  

P
age 117



  6 

 
  types of need and support all communities in South Hams and 

West Devon. It is anticipated it will have a positive impact for all 
protected groups both directly and indirectly.   

  

P
age 118



  7 

5.  What are the likely negative impacts for the protected 
groups (see above)?   

Are any particular groups affected more and why?  

  

The strategies aim to improve the situation for people who are on 
low incomes or who are vulnerable, whilst not detracting from 
those who are able to source their own accommodation and meet 
their own needs.   

The way in which the Council prioritises people for housing has 
been considered in the interests of both ensuring that all target 
groups are represented and supported, whilst also actively 
seeking to contribute to mixed and sustainable communities.  

In the main, the EIA has found that there are no indications that 
the strategy will have negative impacts for any protected groups. 
Failure to deliver the strategy may however have negative impacts 
on protected groups and this will be monitored carefully through 
the delivery plan.  

The Strategy is designed to support social inclusion and to help all 
residents to thrive.   

6.  What consultation and engagement has taken place (or 
is planned) with the affected groups and other interested 
parties?  

  

Wide consultation has been undertaken with stakeholders, 
including partner agencies, service users, elected members and 
staff.  The response rate was positive compared to other Councils 
or a similar size. 

P
age 119



  8 

  
7.   What plans do you have in place, or are developing, to 

mitigate the likely negative impacts, i.e. how will you 
reduce the impact on the protected groups?  

  

The strategy is designed to mitigate identifiable negative impacts.   

Ongoing service user engagement will seek views and regular 
forums for stakeholders will ensure any negative impacts are 
actively monitored and mitigated.    

Equality Impact Assessments will be carried out on specific 
projects and service changes delivered as part of the strategy to 
ensure that we fully understand and mitigate any negative 
impacts.  

  
8.  Please summarise or provide links to the information, 

data, research used in this assessment  

  Huge amounts of data were used to inform the strategy, the data 
is contained within the strategy itself.   

  
  

What course of action does this EQIA suggest that you take? (tick one of the following options)    

Outcome 1: No major change required  
The EQIA has not identified any potential for discrimination or adverse impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken.  

X  

Out come 2: Adjust the policy to remove barriers identified by the EQIA or better promote equality. Are you 
satisfied that the policy adjustments will remove the barriers identified?  

  

Outcome 3: Continue the policy despite potential for adverse impact or missed opportunities to promote equality 
identified. You should ensure that the EQIA clearly sets out the justifications for continuing with the policy. You 
should consider whether there are sufficient plans to reduce negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual 
impact  

  

Outcome 4: Stop and rethink the policy when the EQIA shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination    
  

  

P
age 120



  9 

  

Summary of your proposals – copy and paste into any report for Cabinet, Council or General Purposes Committee 

What are the key impacts – positive and negative?  

What course of action are you advising as a result of this EQIA?  

Are there any particular groups affected more than others?  
  
The EQIA has identified that The strategies will impact positively on significant numbers of individuals in housing 
need by increasing the supply of affordable homes in the borough, preventing and relieving homelessness and 
rough sleeping, and creating sustainable and diverse communities.   
  
The EQIA has not identified any potential for discrimination or adverse impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken.   

  

  

  

Head of Service sign off (name):  Neil Hawke  

  

Date:  03th March 2021   
  

 
  

Comments or any action required:  

No further action however EIA’s will be required for specific projects and service changes undertaken as a result of delivering the 
strategy.  

  
 

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
Appendix 1 of this report contain exempt information as defined in 

Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
(information relating to the financial and business affairs of the Council) 

 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 16 March 2021 

Title: Community Housing – Brentor & Lamerton 

Portfolio Area: Lead Member for Homes – Cllr Debo Sellis.  

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision: Y  Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Immediately 
 

 

  

Author: Chris Brook Role: Director of Place and 
Enterprise 

Contact: Chris.brook@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

That the Hub Committee: 

1. Note the revised management structure of the community 
housing programme, jointly between the Head of Housing, 
Revenues & Benefits (community and housing need) and the 
Head of Assets (delivery); 

 

2. Consider and approve the principles of the community housing 
scheme as set out in section 3 below; 

 

3. Note the update on Brentor and Lamerton scheme and at that 
Lamerton scheme is not proceedable at this time; and 

 

4. RECOMMEND to Council to approve the expenditure of £85k from 
the Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) earmarked reserve to 
undertake detailed design, specification and tendering of the 
Brentor scheme, subject to a successful planning decision. 

 

Page 123

Agenda Item 9



 

 
1 Executive summary  

 
1.1 Aligned to the Council’s current and emerging corporate strategy, is 

the delivery of housing in the Borough that is substantially affordable, 
high quality and low carbon. 
 

1.2 The community housing programme forms part of that work and this 
report updates Members on the programme and crucially sets out the 
recommend approach to: 
 Underlying principles; S3.5 
 Governance; S3.6 - S3.9 
 Budget and funding including staff cost, design costs and 

borrowing; S4 
 Housing need; S5 

 
1.3 Section 6 updates Members on the Brentor and Lamerton projects, 

highlighting opportunities but also challenges. 
   

1.4 It provides details of the costs and work required to take the Brentor 
scheme from its current position of a planning submission, through 
to having a tendered build price (at a cost of C. £85k). 

 

2 Background  
 

2.1 Homes, and in particular, enabling homes that meet the needs of all, 
is one of the six strategic themes in the Council’s Corporate Strategy.  
The Housing Strategy sets out many aspirations, which include the 
direct delivery of housing by the Council, where market forces do not 
address housing need.  The emerging corporate strategy also 
highlights the need for place based Council activity that improves the 
housing outcomes for the residents of West Devon and as such it is 
proposed to re-state this priority for the life of that strategy (3 years). 

 

2.2 In March 2017 the Council was awarded £247,620 from the 
Government’s Community Housing Fund.  The Fund was aimed at 
community-led housing projects and could be used by local housing 
authorities to acquire suitable sites; capacity building; providing 
direct development support or gap funding. 

 
2.3 As a result of being awarded the funding, the Council agreed a 

Community Housing Strategy.  That strategy set out that while 
affordable rented homes provided a safety net for those in greatest 
housing need, a wider range of options was required to help people 
into home ownership in areas where house prices were beyond an 
affordable level for those on low and medium incomes.  To that end, 
it was said that the funding would be used to reduce the risks of the 
development process and help deliver more projects.  It was to do 
this by creating internal capacity to manage a community housing 

Page 124



 

programme, commission feasibility, design and planning work and if 
required, buying land.  This would then lead on to direct delivery of 
discount sale housing by the Council. 

 
2.4 The fundamental principles behind the community housing 

programme have evolved since inception to include the Council’s 
Climate Change declaration, as well as the inclusion of rented housing 
on sites, not just discount sale.  These are set out below for 
consideration and to ensure that they align with the Council’s 
emerging corporate plan. 

a. Schemes that address evidence of housing need in a 
community. 

b. Community support.  Whilst development is a divisive issue, 
schemes should be endorsed with support in principle from a 
community land trust (CLT) or Town / Parish Council in their 
absence, ahead of detailed consideration through the Planning 
Committee. 

c. A programme predicated on the delivery of substantially 
affordable homes to remain so in perpetuity.  As such, the 
tenure of property, scheme constraints and availability of 
grant funding must be considered on a site by site basis. 

d. Quality of homes.  Seek to construct homes to a standard in 
excess of building regulations, so as to reduce the financial 
and carbon cost of ownership. 

e. Embodied carbon – construction techniques and materials 
that reduce the embodied carbon in the construction process 
should be utilised. 

f. The cost of delivery should be neutral so as to remain a viable 
programme across the Borough, unless by exception with 
Council approval: The Council’s cost recovery at the end of 
development should cover the costs of staff resources, design 
and construction.   

 
2.5 As detailed above, it is recognised that the programme has evolved 

and, as with any new area of work, some elements have worked 
better than others. In view of this a Governance Review is to be 
undertaken by the Director of Governance and Assurance. The 
purpose of the Review is to look at the Governance arrangements in 
broad terms and to recommend changes and improvements to the 
Programme as a whole.  

 

2.6 Pending the outcome of the review there are a number of 
improvements that can be made in the interim and are set out below. 

 
2.7 The overarching programme should have an annual delivery plan, 

setting out the targets for the year and in to the future as 

Page 125



 

appropriate.  Having said that, there is only one live project at the 
current time in Brentor and reporting should reflect that. 

 
2.8 The management lead will rest jointly with the Head of Housing, 

Revenues and Benefits and Head of Assets, with oversite from senior 
officers including, Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer, 
Monitoring Officer and Director for Place and Enterprise. 

 
2.9 The programme will form part of the Portfolio for Housing, the Lead 

Member for which is currently Cllr Debo Sellis.  Regular reports will 
be brought to the HUB Committee, with performance review via the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

3 Programme Funding 
 
3.1 Since the programme inception, the available grant money has 

funded the feasibility and scheme design of Brentor and Lamerton 
sites.  This includes, the housing design and specification, 
infrastructure design, site investigation work, ecology, project 
management and community work.  It has also funded the staffing 
cost associated with these two projects.  Section 4 sets out more 
detail on these two projects. 

 

3.2 The budget of £247,620 (the Community Housing Earmarked 
Reserve) has now been spent, and looking forward, should the 
Council wish to continue to support community housing activity it will 
need to consider how it funds the staffing cost, design work and may 
also wish to consider how it improves viability for housing schemes. 

 
3.3 Staffing Cost.  The programme is supported by two staff posts, on a 

ratio of 15:85 basis with South Hams.  The cost per annum to West 
Devon is £10,176.  This cost can be met from underspends within the 
existing staffing budget in West Devon. 

 
3.4 Design work.  The cost to get a typical housing scheme through 

planning and to construction is £200k-£300k.  This cost is at risk until 
the houses are completed at the end of the project, albeit the 
intention is for each scheme to be cost neutral.   

 
3.5 Future scheme work would therefore need to be funded from the 

Innovation Fund, (Invest to Earn) earmarked reserve, which has an 
uncommitted allocation of £215k, until such time as it can be 
recouped from scheme delivery. 

 
3.6 Viability.  The work to date has shown that for small schemes, with 

challenging infrastructure, delivering substantially affordable homes 
that are to a high quality is extremely challenging.  This key risk will 

Page 126



 

need to be managed throughout the programme and it should be 
expected that some sites will fail as a result.  Ultimately, work is 
needed to be undertaken before this risk crystallises and project 
development costs are likely to be abortive in some cases. 

  

4 Housing Need 
  
4.1 The lack of affordable housing has a significant impact on the 

underlying viability and sustainability of local communities.  

   

4.2 There are 371 households in Bands A-D (High to low housing need) 
registered on the Council’s housing register (Devon Home Choice) 
and a further 411 households in Band E (no housing need).  Of all 
those applicants registered on the West Devon register, 70% earn 
less than £20,000 and will predominantly be looking for affordable 
rental properties.  

 
4.3 Of the 129 households seeking shared ownership on the Help to Buy 

register in West Devon the average earnings are  £28,000 and have 
on average £26,000 in savings, so may not be able to afford an open-
market home, but would be able to meet the costs of owning an 
intermediate home. 

 
4.4 Establishing housing need is an essential part of any community 

housing proposal and should be done through a recent, robustly 
prepared housing needs assessment.  The housing team are well 
placed to provide interpretation and wider need advice to underpin 
the evidence. 

 
5 Brentor Site – Background 

 
5.1 The Brentor scheme seeks to deliver 12 dwellings, with a mixture of 

shared ownership and rented properties.  This is made up of:  

 2 x 3 bed & 2 x 2 bed shared ownership properties,  

 5 x 2 bed rental properties and  

 3 x 3 bed open market properties. 

5.2 The cost of the scheme is currently estimated at £2.8m as set out in 
exempt Appendix D – Business Case.  This shows the viability for the 
scheme is challenging. At the current time it remains acceptable and 
delivers the ambition of high-quality, low carbon, low cost homes 
which are substantially affordable.  

 

5.3 The project and the business case have been reviewed by SLT and 
the project is in principle, one which the Council may wish to support, 
whilst recognising the inherent risks set out below. 

Page 127



 

 

5.4 To date, the Council has spent £146k getting the scheme ready for 
the submission of a planning application. 

 

Housing Need 

5.5 There is clear evidence of housing need in Brentor: 

Brentor Housing Need by Band and Bedroom 
  1 Bed 
Band B 1 
Band D 2 
Band E 2 
Total 5 

 

5.6 Although the housing need indicates a need for 1 bedroom 
accommodation, it is important to consider future arising housing 
need which is in accordance with the strategic housing market needs 
assessment 2018.  The scheme design reflects this. 

 

5.7 As well as the housing needs assessment undertaken in 2018 by 
Devon Communities Together, there has been some community 
consultation. This indicates a need for 111 affordable homes and 6 
open market homes. 

 
5.8 A housing needs survey and a series of community events assist with 

understanding the local need. This is particularly pertinent in rural 
areas with low numbers of existing affordable housing stock, where 
there have been no vacancies for a number of years and as a 
consequence people do not look to Devon Home Choice to resolve 
their housing difficulties. At these events they are encouraged to 
register on Devon Home Choice so we are aware of them. Although 
in practice this does not always filter through until a site board has 
been erected on the proposed site. 

 

Community  

5.9 The project team have a regular meeting in the diary with the Parish 
Council, to make sure communication is good and the community are 
kept informed.   

5.10 Recently a short update was provided for the parish newsletter and 
the website, which has been published here: 
https://www.brentorvillage.org/?p=9695 and is in Appendix 2 at the 
end of this report.  

                                       
1 Taken from Brentor website: Community Housing | Brentor Village – A 
Dartmoor Community 

Page 128



 

5.11 Should the scheme progress beyond planning the need to keep the 
dialogue with the community and Parish active will remain 
paramount. 

 

Planning 

5.12 The Brentor scheme has been a long time in the pipeline and there 
has been significant design evolution following engagement with the 
community and Dartmoor National Park (DNP) planning team.  

 

5.13 Following an internal review of the planning application, it will be 
submitted to Dartmoor National Park planning authority for 
consideration.  It is unknown how quickly it will be determined, but 
as a minimum would be 13 weeks, assuming the committee cycles 
align.  The legal agreement which forms part of the planning 
permission will probably take longer.   

 
5.14 An Option Agreement is in place with the landowner, which can be 

exercised by the Council in order to purchase the land if required 
(subject to planning) for the amount shown in the business case.  The 
Council is not required to exercise this option agreement should it 
not wish to proceed. 

 

Next steps 

5.15 Should the planning application be successful, the officer team will 
conduct a gateway review of the scheme at that time.  This will 
include reviewing any changes (and therefore risks / costs) that have 
emerged through the planning process, inflation cost pressure, 
deliverability issues and other viability risks. 

 

5.16 Subject to a positive planning outcome and gateway review, the 
Council must consider if it wishes to proceed through the detailed 
design, specification and tender stage.  The cost of continuing 
through those stages is estimated to be £85,000.   

 
5.17 This funding could come from the Innovation (Invest to Earn) 

reserve, which has a current unallocated balance of £215k.  The 
money would be at risk, as with all development projects, there is no 
certainty that they will progress to completion.   

 
5.18 Approval to move forward would culminate in the Council having cost 

certainty (except for some construction risks) of the price to build the 
houses and the infrastructure associated with it.   A final business 
case could then be modelled and brought back to the HUB for 
consideration.   

 

Page 129



 

5.19 At that point, a decision to borrow an estimated £2.9m from the 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) would come to HUB and on to 
Council.  If Council approved the borrowing at that time, construction 
would be able to start. 

 

Timeline 

5.20 Should the recommendations of this report be supported and the 
planning application be positively determined by DNP, the detailed 
design phase would commence.  It is anticipated this would be 
undertaken by our existing supply chain. 

 

5.21 Once the detailed design is complete, the construction contract would 
be tendered and construction costs established. It is estimated the 
detailed design and tender elements of the project will take circa 6 
months. 

 

Risk 

5.22 As previously set out, there are inherent risks associated with all 
development, including planning, viability, cashflow at risk, 
community expectations and reputation. 

 

5.23 The community has been working towards this site being delivered 
for at least 10 years.  They have a real hope the Council will be able 
to facilitate their aspirations through the community housing 
programme.   

 
5.24 They have an expectation the Council will continue to support them 

on the journey, given the previous decision to approve the principle 
of the scheme including funding the construction of the houses in 
June 2019, minute reference HC8 refers. 

 
5.25 If we are to meet these expectations the Council must draw upon 

funds from outside the original grant funding (as they are depleted) 
to other reserves.  The funding (£85k) would be at risk, and therefore 
the expenditure of the money represents at best a short term 
opportunity cost (as it cannot be used for other investments) and at 
worst, an actual cost if the project does not materialise.  

 
5.26 It is a political decision as to how to spend the reserves available to 

the Council.  Expenditure would align to the housing strategy, 
recognising the housing need in Brentor, and it does align to the 
principles of the community housing programme, set out in section 3 
of the report.   

 
 

Page 130



 

6 Lamerton 
 
6.1 The final RIBA Stage 3 design for the Lamerton project was priced 

in November 2020 and a business case undertaken with the 
benefit of the design work to that point, including infrastructure 
design. 

 

6.2 An internal review of the project, business case and housing need 
was then conducted and reviewed by SLT.  This review concluded 
whilst there was some evidence of housing need and the design 
of the scheme should be deliverable in planning terms, the 
viability of the scheme was not acceptable.   

 

6.3 The scheme viability had always been particularly challenging, 
relating to the housing values in Lamerton and the cost of build 
on the site, albeit initially acceptable.  As the project progressed 
and more due diligence, surveys and site investigation work was 
undertaken, the infrastructure costs were able to be forecast with 
greater accuracy.   

 

6.4 The cost of the infrastructure had increased from ~£390k in April 
2019 (based on Quantity Surveyors costing) to over £1.1m in 
November 2020.   

 

6.5 Even with Homes England grant of £450k towards the cost of 
build, which the team were successful in getting in principle 
agreement for, the viability of the scheme remained negative, by 
over £50k, with insufficient risk allowance.  The total build cost 
had risen from just under £2.9m in early 2019 to £4.5m by 
November 2020. 

 

6.6 The cost of delivery of the scheme, limited contingencies, 
negative viability and disproportionate infrastructure costs 
prevent a positive recommendation coming forward to Council for 
this scheme.   

 

Community 

6.7 The Greenhill site, upon which the scheme was designed, was 
originally proposed and supported by the neighbourhood plan 
group and supported by the Parish Council.   

 

6.8 Unfortunately, over a period of time a strong local opposition to 
the site has developed, which has impacted the neighbourhood 
plan and parish support.  It is unclear if the site will remain in the 
neighbourhood plan in the future as it evolves. 

Page 131



 

Spend to date 

6.9 The scheme had progressed considerably, since the last Council 
approval in 2019, and had a scheme that was ready for a planning 
application.  This included: 

6.9.1 Land option negotiation 

6.9.2 Topo surveys 

6.9.3 Ecology surveys 

6.9.4 Drainage investigation work 

6.9.5 Infrastructure design 

6.9.6 Housing design 

 

6.10 The spend for this project, against the original £247k awarded to 
the Council for the wider programme, stands at £139k.  This 
money has been spent at risk and will not be reimbursed as the 
scheme will not proceed to delivery. 

 
7  Proposed Way Forward 

 
7.1 To align the management of the community housing programme 

jointly to the Head of Housing, Revenues & Benefits (community 
and housing need) and the Head of Assets (delivery). 

 

7.2 To ensure the programme is centred to the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing, with regular update reports to the Hub Committee. 

 

7.3 To approve the spend of up to £85k from the Innovation (Invest 
to Earn) Reserve to support the next phase of the Brentor 
scheme, subject to a successful planning application. 

 

7.4 Subject to 8.3, bring back a report to HUB and Council setting out 
the final Brentor Business Case and viability ahead of a decision 
to proceed to the delivery phase. 

 
8. Implications 
  
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Council is a local housing authority under the 
Housing Act 1985 and as such it has the power to 
acquire land for the purpose of building houses on 
the land.   
 

Page 132



 

Appendix B contains some information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person which in accordance with paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 is 
exempt information and the public interest in its 
disclosure is not outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption.   
 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money 
 

 The Council has spent £146k to date working up the 
design of the Brentor scheme for planning. The 
Council has spent £139k on the Lamerton scheme. 
This has been spent from the Community Housing 
Earmarked Reserve (a revenue reserve), funded 
from the original government grant of £247,620.   
There is an overspend linked to the Lamerton and 
Brentor schemes estimated to be C. £40k.  It is 
proposed that this overspend will be met from 
underspends in existing housing budgets. 
 
Funding the scheme delivery (including 
construction) will be through Public Works Loan 
Board borrowing. At this point all costs incurred in 
the planning stage of the project will be recouped 
such that it can be rolled into other community 
housing projects, in accordance with the strategy. 

Risk  There is a risk that the Council’s roles as local 
housing authority and local planning authority may 
be perceived as giving rise to a conflict of interest.  
However, the breadth of the Council’s functions 
make this inevitable.  The issue is how the Council 
deals with the conflict.  Dealing with the conflict 
openly and transparently, mitigates the risks.  
Accordingly, this report sets out the Council’s 
position and aspirations as a local housing authority.  
The decision to proceed should be taken on this 
basis.  Any planning considerations will be matters 
for the Development Management and Licensing 
Committee should approval be given by the Hub 
Committee to submit a planning application.   
 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy  

 This is set out in paragraph 3 of the report. 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact  

 These are set out in section 3. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 

 These are set out in paragraph 3 of the report 

Page 133



 

Safeguarding  There are no direct implications arising out of the 
report. 

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 

 There are no direct implications arising out of the 
report. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 There are no direct implications arising out of the 
report. 

Other implications   
 

 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Business case for Brentor scheme (Exempt) 
Appendix 2 – Brentor Parish news article 

Page 134



Document is Restricted

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Article for Brentor Parish News Letter and website 
(25/01/2021) 
 
Brentor Community Housing Update 
Many of you will be aware that West Devon Borough Council (WDBC) has been 
working with the Parish Council on a potential affordable led, community housing 
scheme for Brentor.  The proposal would be for 12 houses, 2 x 3 bed & 2 x 2 bed 
shared ownership properties, 5 x 2 bed rental properties and 3 x 3 bed open 
market properties.  Following a lengthy design process and engagement with 
Dartmoor National Park planning department and an internal review of the 
business case, WDBC intends to submit a planning application in the next 2 
months.   
 
It is hoped that this application is successful and if it is, officers will be able to 
take a report to the HUB Committee and to Full Council for a decision as to whether 
to proceed to the detailed design, tender and ultimately construction of the 
project.  It would represent an investment of over £2m by West Devon Borough 
Council and there are risks associated with it, including having to spend around 
£85,000 at risk to undertake the detailed design, so this would be a significant 
decision.  Should the project proceed to construction it would be self-financing 
using long term borrowing.  Until a tender exercise is undertaken the actual cost 
of construction remains unknown, and only at that stage would we be able to 
make a final decision to move forward to construction.   
 
For now however, West Devon Borough Council is pleased to be submitting the 
planning application, having spent a significant amount of time and Government 
grant funding to get to this point and wishes to thank the community and Parish 
Council for their ongoing support and patience.   
 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 16th March 2021 

Title: Month 10 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2020/2021 (to the end of January 2021 
2020) 

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:  N/A 

 

Author: Pauline Henstock 

 

Lisa Buckle 

 
  

Role: Head of Finance Practice 
and Deputy S.151 Officer 

Corporate Director for 
Strategic Finance  

(S151 Officer) 

 

Contact: pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk 

lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS   

That the Hub Committee RESOLVES to:- 

i) Note the significant forecast income and expenditure 
variations for the 2020/21 financial year and the overall 
projected surplus of £323,000 (4.19% of the total annual 
Budget of £7.713 million); 
 

ii) RECOMMEND to Council to transfer the business rates 
pooling gain of £100,000 for 2020/21, into the Business 
Rates Retention Earmarked Reserve and £200,000 of the 
2020/21 projected surplus into a Recovery Plan and  
Corporate Strategy Earmarked Reserve at 31.3.2021. If 
approved by Council in March 2021, this would leave a 
remaining surplus on the 2020/21 Accounts position of a 
surplus of £23,000 (£323,000 less £100,000 less 
£200,000) against the 2020/21 Amended Budget; 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



iii) RECOMMEND to Council to transfer £80,000 of salary 
savings from 2020/21 into a Salary Savings Earmarked 
Reserve at 31.3.2021, to be ringfenced to support salary 
costs in 2021/22 as set out in section 1.8; and 

 
iv) RECOMMEND to Council to transfer any award from the 

National Leisure Recovery Fund (the national 
£100million Leisure Fund), into the Leisure Services 
Earmarked Reserve as set out in Section 1.12. The 
Council’s indicative allocation is £80,000, which has been 
applied for. 

 
 
 
 
1. Executive summary 
 
1.1 Covid 19 has caused financial strain for all Councils up and down the 

country where Councils find themselves being caught in a ‘perfect 
storm’. Councils have to manage both the increased costs of coping 
with Covid19 and supporting vulnerable people in the community and 
the loss of key income streams such as car parking income and 
council tax income.  
 

1.2 The factors affecting the Council’s finances are issues affecting the 
whole Local Government sector. The Council is well-placed to meet 
the financial challenges arising from Covid19, due to its prudent 
financial management over previous years.  
 

1.3 This report enables Members to monitor income and expenditure 
variations against the approved budget for 2020/21, and provides a 
forecast for the year end position. 
 

1.4 The gross service expenditure budget for 2020/21 was set at £23 
million (£7.713 million net).  The report identifies a projected 
surplus of £323,000 which is 4.19% of the overall budget set 
for 2020/21 of £7.713 million. 

 
1.5 This position is after taking into account the £0.826 million 

Government grant received for Covid-19 and the estimated £0.437 
million Government funding that the Council is anticipating towards 
income losses on sales, fees and charges. This position is also after 
factoring in the one-off funding sources of £501,000, which were 
approved by Council on 22nd September 2020 for the Amended 
Budget for 2020/21. 
 

1.6 Members will note that the budget monitoring position in March 2021 
has improved significantly compared to the December 2020 budget 
monitoring report which projected a surplus of £90,000. This is 
mainly due to: 
 

Page 140



(a) Business Rates Pooling Gain – no Pooling Gain had been 
forecasted for 2020/21 and the Amended Budget set in 
September 2020 included no budget for a business rates 
pooling gain due to the uncertainty that the pandemic would 
have on the collectability of business rates income, levels of 
write offs and bad debt provisions. However following 
completion of the NNDR1 form (a Government return) at the 
end of January and recent collection rates, the quarter 3 
Business Rates Pooling Gain forecast shows that a Pooling Gain 
of at least £100,000 should be achieved in 2020/21. This has 
changed the budget monitoring position by £100,000, 
which is a significant benefit to the overall financial 
position for 2020/21 
 

(b) Assets Income – due to actively pursuring the unpaid debtor 
invoices and supporting our customers with options such as 
payment arrangements, the anticipated income shortfall has 
reduced significantly. For example the projected income 
shortfall for Commercial Property Investment has reduced 
from £165,000 (15%) in the December budget monitoring 
report to £50,000 (5%) in the March 2021 report. 

 
1.7  Taking this improved position into account for 2020/21, it is 

recommended to transfer the forecasted Business Rates Pooling Gain 
for 2020/21 of £100,000 into the Business Rates Retention 
Earmarked Reserve and £200,000 of the 2020/21 projected surplus 
into a Recovery Plan and Corporate Strategy Earmarked Reserve. 
This would reduce the projected surplus for 2020/21 to 
£23,000 as shown in Table 2 at the bottom of Section 3 of the report.  
 

1.8 It is recommended to transfer £80,000 of salary savings into a Salary 
Savings Earmarked Reserve to be ringfenced to support salary costs 
in 2021/22. These savings have mainly arisen from vacancies in 
2020/21 and are needed in 2021/22 to cover staffing pressures. The 
£323,000 surplus predicted in this report is the position after 
factoring in the transfer of £80,000 into an Earmarked Reserve.  
 

1.9 In the area of Revenues and Benefits, some of the work involved in 
the main service which is not time specific will now need to be done 
in 2021/22 (such as checks on eligibility for reliefs and discounts, 
processing information which has been provided through the 
administration of the business grants to enhance our records). In 
addition, post payment assurance testing for the business rates 
grants will need to be continued to be carried out in 2021/22. 
 

1.10 In the area of Governance and Assurance, there is work needed to 
ensure that the Council meets its data protection and compliance 
obligations under the General Data Protection Regulations and 
further embeds data privacy within all policies, procedures and 
practices. Further work is needed with regard to corporate risk 
management principles and practice. This will include development 

Page 141



and ongoing maintenance of the Council’s Business Continuity and 
Emergency Planning requirements. 
 
 

1.11 It is recommended to transfer £200,000 of the surplus into a 
Recovery Plan and Corporate Strategy Earmarked Reserve.  The 
Council adopted its Recovery and Renewal Plan on 8th December, 
which sets out a range of actions, identified by Members, which are 
needed to help support the Borough to recover from the impacts of 
the COVID-19 Pandemic with a strong focus on the economy and 
community resilience. At the same time the Council also adopted its 
Climate Change and Biodiversity Strategy and associated aims. It is 
proposed to allocate £200K to a reserve to support both of these 
complimentary areas of work. The funding will be used to deliver 
direct and indirect support and where possible to lever in additional 
funding in line with the Councils adopted aims.  
 

1.12 The Council has submitted its application for the National Leisure 
Recovery Fund (NLRF) and await its outcome. A total of £100million 
is available to the leisure sector and covers the period of December 
2020 to March 2021. West Devon Borough Council has had an 
indicative allocation of £80,000, which has been applied for. The 
outcome of the application will be known by the middle of March and 
paid before 31.3.2021. It is recommended that any award from the 
NLRF is transferred into the Leisure Services Earmarked Reserve, 
with its future use to be the subject of a future report to the 
Executive/Council. 
 

1.13 The loss of income streams already experienced by the Council from 
April 2020 to January 2021 total £0.763 million, as shown in Section 
6 of the report. 
 

2.      Background  
2.1 Regional and national context  
 
2.2 On 2nd July, the Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP announced a new 
 comprehensive package of support for Councils, to  address 
 spending pressures and losses in income streams. There  were 
 three central pillars of support announced:- 

 A new scheme to compensate Councils for losses of income, 
though not in their entirety (an ‘income guarantee’ scheme) 

 An extra £500million to cover extra COVID19 expenditure 
costs 

 To allow council tax and business rate losses in income to be 
repaid over the next 3 years of budget cycles, instead of just 
the next one year 
 

2.3 The Government will compensate Councils for their  income losses 
above the first 5% of their budgeted income from  sales, fees and 
charges. Income losses above the first 5% will be  compensated by 
the Government paying for 75 pence in every pound of the losses 
thereafter. 

Page 142



 
2.4 This has been estimated at £437,000 for the Council for 2020/21, 

based on the income shortfalls to date. The first claim for £241,000 
has already been paid by the Government and a second claim for 
£148,500 has been submitted. In the Spending Review announced 
on 25th November 2020, the Chancellor confirmed that the sales, fees 
and charges income compensation scheme will be extended to cover 
the first three months of 2021/22. 
 

2.5 This Budget Monitoring report also excludes the impact of 
 reductions in income from Business Rates and Council Tax as these 
 do not affect the General Fund in 2020/21 (apart from the pooling 
 gain). This is further explained in Section 6. 

 
2.6 The Chancellor announced a Tax Income Guarantee Scheme for 

2020/21 as part of the Spending Review 2020. The new 
reimbursement scheme, worth £762m nationally for 2020/21 local 
tax losses, will be launched to compensate Councils for 75% of 
irrecoverable losses of council tax and business rates revenues in 
2020-21 that would otherwise need to be funded through local 
authority budgets in 2021/22 and later years.  This will be paid 
through an unringfenced grant. Further details are awaited. 
 

2.7 Financial Monitoring arrangements 
 

2.8 The Council’s financial procedure rules require that reports must be 
made on budget monitoring on a regular basis to the Hub Committee 
as part of the Council’s arrangements for budget management. 
Revenue budget monitoring reports are normally brought to the Hub 
Committee on a quarterly basis. However due to the current Covid 
19 pandemic and the subsequent financial pressures facing Local 
Authorities, it was felt more prudent to update the Hub Committee 
on a more regular basis. 
 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 
3.1 Budget overview - Table 1 below provides an analysis of the 

projected variances against budget.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



 
 
 

TABLE 1: 2020/21 BUDGET FORECAST 
 

                                                                       2020/21 
Budget 

expenditure
/(income) 

 
Budget 

variations 
 

 

 

Note 

 £000 % £000 £000  
APPROVED BUDGET 20/21 
(Amended Budget £7.713m) 

   7,212  

Reductions in 
expenditure/additional 
income 

     

Customer Service & Delivery      
COVID-19 Government grant 
support (the Council’s share of 
£1.6bn allocation – 1st , 2nd and 
4th tranche of COVID funding) 

- - (736)  A 

Savings on staff and Member 
travel and expenses 

91 50% (45)  B 

Historic bank reconciliation 
adjustment 

- - (69)  C 

Salary savings 
 
 

4,117 2% (80) 

 D 
Governance & Assurance      
Garden Waste income (205) 20% (40)  E 
Strategic Finance      
Non-Distributed Costs – Pensions 
Employer Contributions 
(secondary rate) 

430 19% (80) 

 

F 

Sub total of variations    (1,050) 
 
 

 

Increases in 
expenditure/reductions in 
income 

     

Customer Service & Delivery      
COVID-19 expenditure  n/a n/a 

 
280 

 
G 

Homelessness - reimbursement 
of expenditure 

(144) 10% 15 
 

H 

Investment income (105) 67% 70  I 
Licensing income (114) 13% 15  J 
Council Tax Collection income (102) 78% 80  K 
Housing Benefit overpayment 
recoveries 
 

(135) 78% 105 

 

L 

Page 144



                                                                       2020/21 
Budget 

expenditure
/(income) 

 
Budget 

variations 
 

 

 

Note 

 
Place and Enterprise      
Car parking income - assumes 
actual losses in April to Jan and 
an 80% drop in February and 
50% in March 

(1,147) 55% 630  M 

Commercial Property Investment 
net income 

(1,099) 5% 50  N 

Employment Estates income (328) 8% 25  O 
Other Comprehensive Income 
& Expenditure 

     

Business Rates Pooling gain (135) 26% 35  P 
Provision for Bad and Doubtful 
Debts 

n/a n/a 60 
 

 Q 

Sub total of variations     1,365  

PROJECTED OUTTURN    7,527  
Government grant funding 
anticipated from the income 
guarantee scheme for sales, fees 
and charges  
 

   (437) R 

Transfer to a COVID 
Earmarked Reserve: (Fourth 
tranche of COVID funding of 
£151K and bank reconciliation 
adj of £69K) (Hub Committee 8 
December 2020) 
 

   220 S 

Recommendation 3: Transfer 
to a new Salary Savings 
Earmarked Reserve: (salary 
savings from vacancies in 
2020/21).   
 

   80 T 

Amended Budget 2020/21 
financing sources (includes the 
3rd tranche of Government COVID 
funding of £90K)  

   (501) U 

Sub-total    6,889  
PROJECTED  SURPLUS FOR 
2020-21 

   (323)  

 
There is projected to be an overall surplus of £323,000 when 
compared against the total net revenue budget set for 2020/21 
 
This position is after taking into account the £0.826 million Government 
grant received for Covid-19 and the estimated £0.437 million Government 
funding that the Council is anticipating towards income losses on sales, fees 
and charges. 

Page 145



 
 
Notes 
 
A COVID-19 grant support – The Council has received nearly 
 £826,000 of Government grant support for the Covid19 pandemic 
 from four tranches of Government funding. This will assist the Council 
 to partly meet its projected loss of income streams but it is only part 
 of the solution.  

 
B Savings on staff and Member travel and expenses – due to 
 Covid 19 it is currently anticipated that a saving of up to £45,000 
 could be achieved in 2020/21. These savings are due to staff and 
 Members working from home in accordance with Government 
 guidance. 

 
C Historic bank reconciliation adjustment – there is an historical 
 difference of £69,000 on the bank reconciliation. This results from an 
 historic reconciling item arising from a change in software systems 
 that should have been written off in previous years. This was 
 reported to the Audit Committee on 13th October 2020 as part of the 
 audit of the Accounts for 2019/20. This difference will be written off 
 in 2020/21. 
 
D Salary savings – an underspend on the salaries budget of £80,000 

is currently anticipated for 2020/21. This mainly due to vacancies. 
 
E Garden Waste income – this income target is expected to be 
 exceeded in 2020/21 by £40,000. 

 
F Non-Distributed Costs (Pensions Employer Contributions – 
 secondary rate) – there is an £80,000 saving on the cash amount 
 paid to Devon County Council for pensions employer contributions. 
 This is an annual saving until April 2023. This is based on a 17 year 
 deficit recovery period and the results of the last actuarial 
 valuation in 2019. An amount of £325,000 is payable in 2020-21, 
 rising to £350,000  by 2022-23. This payment for the secondary rate 
 is in addition to a 14.8% primary rate set for the three years from 
 1st April 2020 to 30 March 2023. 

 
G  COVID-19 expenditure – one-off items of direct Covid 19 

expenditure such as extra housing costs, ICT, waste collection and 
remote working and shielding costs. 
 

H  Homelessness – homelessness reimbursement of expenditure is 
 currently forecast to be reduced by 10% (£15,000) due to Covid 19. 

 
I Investment income – due to the historic low in interest rates (base 
 rates are 0.1%), investment income is currently anticipated to be 
 67% down which equates to a shortfall of £70,000. Further options 
 for fixed term deposits will continue to be explored with the Council’s 
 treasury management advisers. 

Page 146



 
J  Licensing income – due to Covid-19 it is currently anticipated that 

licensing income could be reduced by 13% (£15,000) in 2020/21. 
 

K Council Tax Collection income – summons costs recovered in 
 respect of Council Tax and Business Rates are currently anticipated 
 to be 78% down on the 2020/21 budget. 

 
L Housing Benefit overpayment recoveries – it is unlikely that the 
 majority of this income target (£105,000) will be achieved in 2020/21 
 as we expect to see fewer overpayments being created due to the 
 introduction of DWP Real Time Information referrals. There is also an 
 expectation that recovery will reduce year on year as collection 
 becomes more difficult. This is partly due to Covid 19 but also reflects 
 the outturn position for 2019/20 where this income target has not 
 been achieved in full. The income target needs to be reduced to Nil 
 for 2021/22 and reflected within the Medium Term Financial 
 Strategy. 

 
M  Car parking income – the prediction for the year (a £630,000 

reduction in income) includes the actual losses in car parking income 
for the first ten months and an assumption of an 80% drop in 
February followed by a 50% drop in March. This would equate to an 
overall 55% reduction in the budgeted income for the year of £1.147 
million. The actual shortfall in income from April to January is 
£510,000. This position will continued to be monitored on a monthly 
basis. 
  

N  Commercial Property Investment gross income – income from 
Investment properties could be impacted by tenants’ ability to pay 
during the Covid19 pandemic. Based on a detailed review of invoices 
paid to date the projected income shortfall has been reduced from 
15% (£165,000) in the December monitoring report to 5% (£50,000) 
in the March 2021 report. 
 

O  Employment Estates income – based on a detailed review of 
invoices paid to date the anticipated income shortfall has been 
reduced from 15% (£50,000) in the December monitoring report to 
8% (£25,000) in this report. 
 

P Business Rates Pooling Gain – following completion of the NNDR1 
form at the end of January and recent collection rates, the quarter 3 
Business Rates Pooling Gain forecast shows that a Pooling Gain of at 
least £100,000 will be achieved in 2020/21. 

 
Q Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts – A provision for bad and 
 doubtful debts of £60,000 has been estimated for 2020/21. This 
 provision will cover debts such as Sundry Debtors but will exclude 
 bad debt provisions for Council Tax and Business Rates income 
 streams. 
 
 

Page 147



 
R Government Grant Funding for Income Losses – on 2 July, the 

Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP announced a new scheme to compensate 
Councils for losses of sales, fees and charges income, though not in 
their entirety. The Government will compensate Councils for their 
income losses above the first 5% of their budgeted income from 
sales, fees and charges. Income losses above the first 5% will be 
compensated by the Government paying for 75 pence in every pound 
of the losses thereafter. This has been estimated at £437,000 for the 
Council for 2020/21, based on the income shortfalls to date. The first 
claim for £241,000 has already been paid by the Government and a 
second claim for £148,500 has been submitted. 
 

S Transfer to Earmarked Reserves – At the Hub Committee meeting 
on 8 December 2020 it was recommended to transfer £220,000 into 
a COVID Earmarked Reserve, to protect against future COVID losses 
in 2021/22. The £220,000 is made up of the historic bank 
reconciliation adjustment of £69,000 and the 4th tranche of 
Government COVID funding received of £151,000. This will provide 
some funding in 2021/22, should the Council still be experiencing 
losses in income from COVID. 

 
T Transfer to Earmarked Reserves - It is recommended to transfer 

£80,000 of salary savings into a Salary Savings Earmarked Reserve, 
to be ringfenced to support salary costs in 2021/22. These savings 
have mainly arisen from vacancies in 2020/21 and are needed in 
2021/22 to cover staffing pressures. This is further set out in 1.8 to 
1.10. 

 
U Amended Budget 2020/21 – The Council set an Amended Budget 
 in 2020/21 on 22nd September 2020. The one-off funding sources 
 identified totalled £501,000. This was £89,000 from the 3rd tranche 
 of COVID funding and £130,000 from administering the Business 
 Rates Grants. There was an underspend of £133,000 on closing the 
 Statement of Accounts for 2019/20. In addition it was agreed to 
 utilise £69,000 of funding from uncommitted New Homes Bonus 
 (NHB) in 2020/21 and to also reduce the capital budget for the 
 remedial works to the Tavistock Viaduct by £80,000 (this was funded 
 by NHB). 
 

 
The Revised Position for 2020/21  
 
3.2   This report identifies a projected surplus of £323,000 for 2020/21 
which compares to a surplus of £90,000 reported in December. Taking this 
improved position into account for 2020/21, it is recommended to transfer 
the forecasted Business Rates Pooling Gain for 2020/21 of £100,000 into 
the Business Rates Retention Earmarked Reserve and £200,000 of the 
2020/21 projected surplus into a Recovery Plan and Corporate Strategy 
Earmarked Reserve.  
 

Page 148



This would reduce the projected surplus for 2020/21 from 
£323,000 to £23,000 as shown in Table 2 below: 
 
 
TABLE 2 : 2020/21 REVISED BUDGET FORECAST 
 
Projected surplus for 2020/21  (£323,000) 

Recommendation 2:  
Recommend to Council to transfer the business rates 
pooling gain of £100,000 for 2020/21, into the 
Business Rates Retention Earmarked Reserve and 
£200,000 of the 2020/21 projected surplus into a 
Recovery Plan and Corporate Strategy Earmarked 
Reserve at 31.3.2021. 

£300,000 

REVISED PROJECTED SURPLUS FOR 2020/21 (£23,000) 

 
 
      
 
4.      Review of Earmarked Reserves 
 
4.1    The Council annually undertakes a review of the level of its Earmarked  

   Reserves as part of the budget setting process. Budgeted
 contributions to and from Earmarked Reserves as part of the 
 2021/22 Budget will also  be assessed.  
 

4.2 A schedule of Earmarked  Reserves is attached at  Appendix  A, 
which shows Earmarked  Reserves have a projected balance of 
£3.899 million at 31.3.2021 currently.   

 
4.3 The Council’s level of Unearmarked Reserves currently stands at 

£1.086 million. If Recommendation 2 above was approved by 
Council, the revised surplus of £23,000 would be added to 
Unearmarked Reserves. This gives a year end balance of £1.109 
million. As part of the Budget process, Members have set a 
minimum balance for Unearmarked Reserves of £900,000. 

 
 
5.      Prudential Indicators 
 
5.1 The prudential code indicators were approved in the Capital, 

Investment and Treasury Management Strategy report to Council on 
28th April 2020.  
 

5.2 The indicators are monitored during the year through the normal 
revenue and capital monitoring processes. All Treasury Management 
limits have been adhered to. 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



 
 
 
 

6.    Income and Reserves 
    Income monitoring is an integral part of financial management. Below 

shows the current income shortfalls already experienced from April to 
January 2021 (which total £763,000). The table also shows the 
latest 2020/21 projections for the major streams of income. 

 
 Income Shortfall  
Service April -

June 
 2020 
£’000 

July - 
Sept 
2020 
£’000 

Oct - 
Dec 

2020 
£’000 

Jan 
2021 
£’000 

Projected 
Income 

2020/21 
£’000 

Income 
Budget 

2020/21 
£’000 

Deficit/ 
(Surplus) 

 
£’000 

Deficit/ 
(Surplus) 

 
% 

Car Parks* 254 126 101 29 517 1,147 630 55% 

Planning  (26) 17 16 (14) 402 402 - - 
Commercial 
Property * 

41 41 (14) (8) 1,049 1,099 50 5% 

Employment 
Estates* 

12 12 - - 303 328 25 8% 

Garden Waste - (12) (14) (5) 245 205 (40) (20%) 
Trade Waste* - - - - 15 15 - - 
Waste & 
Recycling 

- - - - 280 280 - - 

Kilworthy 
Park* 

- - - - 141 141 - - 

Homelessness 4 4 1 - 129 144 15 10% 

Business 
Rates Pooling 
Gain** 

- - - - 100 135 35 26% 

Investment 
income 

19 18 19 4 35 105 70 67% 

Licensing* 21 (10) (4) - 99 114 15 13% 

Land Charges 12 (5) (8) - 95 95 - - 
Council Tax 
Collection 

14 14 21 8 22 102 80 78% 

Housing 
Benefit 
overpayments  

10 10 40 15 30 135 105 78% 

TOTAL 361 215 158 29 3,462 4,447 985 22% 

 
Note* N.B. It is difficult to gauge an exact income position for these 
services as some of the income is raised via sundry debtors. As soon as the 
sundry debtor invoice is raised the income is credited to the ledger in line 
with proper accounting practice. For these services a detailed review has 
been undertaken for this report looking at the debt outstanding and making 
a best judgement in terms of how much debt is likely to remain unpaid.   

Page 150



 
Council Tax and Business Rates Income 
 
Reductions in Council Tax and Business Rates income are excluded from 
this report, as these do not affect the General Fund in 2020/21, due to the 
way the accounting for these income streams go through the Collection 
Fund. Therefore a large part of the reductions in income will affect the 
Council’s financial position in 2021/22, although it does affect the cashflow 
position of the Council in 2020/21. 
 
Reductions in the collection rate for Council Tax and Business Rates will be 
reflected within the Collection Fund accounting. Following completion of the 
NNDR1 form in January 2021 and recent collection rates, the quarter 3 
Business Rates Pooling Gain forecast shows that a Pooling Gain of at least 
£100,000 should be achieved in 2020/21. This position has been reflected 
in this report. 
 
On 25th November 2020, the Chancellor announced a Tax Income 
Guarantee Scheme for 2020/21 as part of the Spending Review 2020. The 
new reimbursement scheme, worth £762m nationally for 2020/21 local tax 
losses, will be launched to compensate Councils for 75% of irrecoverable 
losses of council tax and business rates revenues in 2020/21 that would 
otherwise need to be funded through local authority budgets in 2021/22 
and later years.  This will be paid through an unringfenced grant. 
 
 
7.  Management Actions 
 
7.1 It is best practice as part of Budget Monitoring reports, for the Council 

to state whether there are any corrective actions that need to be 
taken for the variances identified in the report.  

 
7.2 The Recovery and Renewal Plan, as the Council’s response to 

Covid19, sets out Financial Stability as a Recovery and Renewal 
Theme.  
 

7.3 The management actions for this Budget Monitoring report are as set 
out below:- 

 
 To complete monthly Government returns on COVID costs and loss 

of income 
 To continue lobbying with ‘Team Devon’ for further Government 

financial support in light of the impact of Covid 19  
 Regular budget monitoring reports, to including monitoring reserves  
 A continual review of the Council’s Capital Programme  
 A comprehensive review of all Earmarked Reserves and contributions 

to Earmarked Reserves 
 The Medium Term Financial Strategy has been revised in October 
 To lobby for fair funding for rural Councils 
 Assess options for further investment 

 
 

Page 151



 
 

8.  Options available and consideration of risk  
 
8.1 Even at this stage it is important to note that these forecasts can 

change over the remainder of the year by 31.3.2021. Managers can 
seek out opportunities to reduce any budget shortfalls, whilst 
considering the risk of any adverse impact on the customer 
experience. 
 
 
 
 

9. Proposed Way Forward  
 
9.1 Revenue budget monitoring will continue on a regular basis and 

further reports will be brought to the Hub Committee during the 
current Covid 19 situation. 
 
 

 
10. Implications 
  
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Council is required to make arrangements for 
the proper administration of its financial affairs.  As 
part of those arrangements, the Council is under a 
duty to monitor its budgets throughout the 
financial year and to take appropriate action to deal 
with any deterioration in the financial position 
revealed by the regular monitoring. 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money 
 

Y Taking the improved position into account for 
2020/21, it is recommended to transfer the 
forecasted Business Rates Pooling Gain for 2020/21 
of £100,000 into the Business Rates Retention 
Earmarked Reserve and £200,000 of the 2020/21 
projected surplus into a Recovery Plan and 
Corporate Strategy Earmarked Reserve. This 
would reduce the projected surplus to £23,000 
as shown in Table 2 at the bottom of Section 3 of 
the report. 
 
 
 
The loss of income streams already experienced by 
the Council from April 2020 to January 2021 total 
£0.763 million, as shown in Section 6 of the report. 
 

Page 152



It is recommended to transfer £80,000 of salary 
savings from 2020/21 into a Salary Savings 
Earmarked Reserve, to be ringfenced to support 
salary costs in 2021/22.  
 
It is also recommended to transfer any award from 
the National Leisure Recovery Fund (the national 
£100million Leisure Fund), into the Leisure 
Services Earmarked Reserve. The Council’s 
indicative allocation is £80,000, which has been 
applied for. 
 

Risk Y 1) Budget variances – continual monthly 
budget monitoring at all levels within the 
Council ensures early identification of 
variances. Reporting to the Hub Committee 
provides an opportunity for Members to 
identify and instigate remedial action where 
appropriate.  

2) Resource Planning – the Hub Committee 
takes into account any significant issues when 
developing the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. These are identified in the 
Management Actions section of the report 
(Section 7). 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy  

 The budget monitoring process supports all six of the 
Corporate Strategy Themes of Council, Homes, 
Enterprise, Communities, Environment and 
Wellbeing. 

Climate Change – 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

 See comments in 1.11 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 

 None directly arising from this report. 

Safeguarding  None directly arising from this report. 
Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 None directly arising from this report. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other 
implications 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 153



Supporting Information 
 
Appendix A – Schedule of Reserves (Earmarked Reserves and Unearmarked 
Reserves) 
 
 
Background Papers: 
Hub Committee – 8th December 2020 – Month 7 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2020/21 
Council – 22nd September 2020 – Amended Budget 2020-21 
Hub Committee – 28th July 2020 – Month 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2020/2021 
Hub Committee – 30th June 2020 - Month 1 and 2 Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 2020/2021 
Finance Community of Practice budget monitoring working papers. 

Page 154



APPENDIX  A

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES APPENDIX A

Opening Additions Predicted Projected
Balance to Reserve Spend Balance

01.04.2020 2020/21 2020/21 31.03.2021 Comments
£000's £000's £000's £000's

EARMARKED RESERVES

Specific Reserves - General Fund

2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency W0848 196 0 (180) 16

This is the Budget Surplus from 2016/17 which was put into an 
Earmarked Reserve. Commitments mainly relate to the Capital 
Programme £50k, Future IT Procurement £18k, Community Housing 
Staffing £12k and Fusion Leisure Support £92K

Broadband Community Support New code 0 100 (100) 0

As per the report to the Hub Committee on 1st December 2020, 
Council approved the creation of a Broadband Community Support 
Earmarked Reserve of £100,000, to be financed by transferring 
£50,000 from the existing Business Rates Retention Earmarked 
Reserve and £50,000 from the Business Rates Discretionary fund 
(Additional Restrictions Grants, ARG Scheme). 

Business Rates Retention Scheme W0824 904 100 (350) 654

This relates to a timing issue on the accounting adjustments required 
for the localisation of business rates. This reserve also deals with any 
volatility in Business Rate income e.g. due to appeals. Commitments 
relate to Fusion Leisure Support £200k and Town Centre Support 
Initiative £70k. There are further proposals to the Hub Committee (and 
Council subsequently) to also spend £50,000 on the creation of a 
Broadband Community Earmarked Reserve and £30,000 on Audio 
Visual Equipment for the Guildhall, Tavistock (Recommendation 4 of 
the Budget Monitoring Hub Committee report of 8th December 2020). 
Recommendation 2 of this report recommends to Council to transfer 
the 2020/21 business rates pooling gain of £100k into the Business 
Rates Retention Earmarked Reserve.

Recovery Plan and Corporate Strategy New code 0 200 0 200
Recommendation 2 of this report recommends to Council to transfer 
£200k of the 2020-21 projected surplus into a new Recovery Plan and 
Corporate Strategy Earmarked Reserve.

Cannons Meadow, Tavistock W0900 8 0 (3) 5
This reserve contains a commuted sum to be written down to revenue 
annually over 10 years

Car Parking Maintenance W0833 464 0 (231) 233
The commitments include Brook Street Car Park, Council Owned 
Asset Investment & Development £20k (minute ref HC4) and Grounds 
Maintenance £30k (Hub 10/9/19)

COVID Earmarked Reserve New code 0 220 0 220

On 16th February 2021 Council approved to transfer the COVID-19 LA 
Support Grant (4th tranche of £151K and the bank reconciliation 
adjustment of £69K) into a COVID Earmarked Reserve.(There is also 
a recommendation to transfer the fifth tranche of COVID funding of 
£281,404 into this Reserve, but this would not be until April 2021 when 
the amount is received from the Government).

Economic Grant Initiatives W0914 22 0 (21) 1
Reopening High Street Grants - COVID 19 £17.5k, Pop Up Business 
School £3.7k

Elections W0903 0 20 0 20
Reserve utilised in full in 2019/20 to fund the cost of District Council 
Elections held in May 19

Environmental Health Initiatives W0857 20 0 (2) 18
Contribution towards the cost of an Environmental Health Specialist 
Student Placement

Financial Stability W0859 454 0 0 454

This reserve was created in 2018/19 from the Business Rates Pilot 
funding. This funding was set aside to assist to smooth out future years' 
funding variations or reductions, in particular any changes from the Fair 
Funding Review (this has been delayed and it has been confirmed this 
will not happen in 2021-22).

Flood Works W0915 16 0 0 16
Grounds Maintenance W0901 18 0 (18) 0 Contribution towards the cost of an Electric ride on mower

Homelessness Prevention W0924 115 0 0 115
This reserve has been created following underspends on 
Homelessness Prevention Costs in previous years

ICT Development W0836 66 25 (91) 0
Major commitments are the New IT Procurement, Hub Cttee Jan 20 
Min Ref HC73 (£65k) and CIVICA Financials archiving module (£19k). 
£25K a year is contributed to this reserve.

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) W0850 432 0 (217) 215
Commitments totalling £247k mainly relate to the upgrading of 
Hayedown Depot. This reserve originated from New Homes Bonus 
funding. 

Invest to Save W0902 12 0 (8) 4

Joint Local Plan W0860 20 0 0 20
This is a new Reserve for Joint Local Plan funding, there are 
commitments to fund staffing costs.

Leisure Services W0855 204 80 (204) 80

Capital Programme Funding, Fusion leisure monthly support due to 
temporary closure of leisure facilities during COVID-19 pandemic £46k 
(April - June 20) and a further £97k for period July - Sept. Playing pitch 
strategy £7k. Recommendation 4 recommends transferring the 
£80,000 applied for from the national £100million Leisure Fund, into 
the Leisure Fund Earmarked Reserve.

Maintenance Fund (Estates) W0927 170 0 0 170

Management, Maintenance & Risk Management W0861 190 119 (2) 307
This is a relatively new reserve set up to manage the ongoing 
maintenance costs of the Council's Investment Property Portfolio. The 
contributions to the reserve equate to 10% of the rental income.

Neighbourhood Planning Grants W0897 16 20 0 36

New Homes Bonus (NHB) W0804 401 348 (485) 264
The NHB is used to support the funding of the revenue budget and the 
Capital Programme. The commitment includes £297,135 to fund the 
2020/21 revenue budget and £130,000 to fund the capital programme

Outdoor Sports & Recreation Grants W0852 18 0 (6) 12 Cycling design work, Tavistock to Plymouth

Planning Policy and Major Developments W0840 122 25 1 148
This reserve is for all planning matters and is also to meet appeal 
costs. £25K a year is contributed to this reserve.

Revenue Grants W0821 508 0 (35) 473

This reserve comprises of government grants received for specific 
initiatives or new burdens and are held in the reserve for accounting 
purposes. The annual contribution of £32,500 from this reserve relates 
to the funding of three housing posts which were made permanent in 
the 2020/21 budget process and are funded from the Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant.

Salary Savings New code 0 80 0 80
Recommendation 3 of this report recommends to Council to transfer 
£80k of salary savings into a new Salary Savings Earmarked Reserve.

Support Services Trading Opportunities W0856 8 0 0 8

Strategic Change (T18) W0925 67 0 (60) 7
The commitments are £50,000 for the capital requirement of the Public 
Toilets pay on entry review (HC.19) and £10,000 for Kilworthy Park 
marketing.

Vehicle Replacement W0931 396 50 (446) 0
This is a new reserve set up to fund the Council's vehicle replacement 
programme (Council 4 Dec 2018). £50K a year is contributed to this 
reserve.

Waste & Cleansing Options Review W0853 104 0 (14) 90
The commitment relates to three weekly collection trial costs (Hub 4 
June 2019)

Other Reserves below £15,000 (combined) 33 0 0 33

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES 4,984 1,387 (2,472) 3,899

TOTAL UNEARMARKED RESERVES W0950 1,086 23 0 1,109

Note: This Unearmarked Reserve has a minimum balance of 
£900,000 (set by Members as part of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy). The projected surplus for 2020/21 of £23,000 (as set out in 
this report) would be added to this Unearmarked Reserve.

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES (EARMARKED AND 
UNEARMARKED RESERVES)

6,070 1,410 (2,472) 5,008

Cost 
Centre

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
This report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 

1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
(applies to Appendices A and B) 

 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 16 March 2021 

Title: Capital Budget Monitoring 2020/2021 

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Clare Scotton 

Pauline Henstock 

Role: Finance Business Partner 

Head of Finance Practice 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861559                                                           
E-mail: clare.scotton@swdevon.gov.uk 

Tel. 01803 861377                                                          
E-mail: pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that the Hub Committee resolves:- 

i. To endorse the contents of the Report. 
 

 
1. Executive summary  
 
1.1 The report advises Members of the financial position as at 31st 
January 2021 for the purposes of budget monitoring. All capital 
projects are within the individual capital budgets approved by 
Members. 
 
The total capital budget for 2020/21 is £7,784,918 of which 
£592,984 has been spent to date (Appendix A). 
1.2 The capital programme is currently underspent in comparison to 
the budgets. This is mainly due to the capital schemes for the 

Page 157

Agenda Item 11



 
 
 
 
Tavistock Temporary Accommodation Development and the 
Community Housing Programme which are further explained in this 
report. There is a separate report on the Brentor and Lamerton 
Community Housing schemes on this Hub Committee agenda. 
Expenditure on Improvement Grants (Disabled Facilities Grants) is 
£350,584 at Month 10, compared to the budget for 20/21 of 
£1,039,683. 
 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The capital programme for 2020/21 was approved by Council on 
18 February 2020 (CM65 and HC69 refer). This report provides an 
update on the Capital Programme. 
 
3. Outcomes/outputs  
 
3.1 Members are requested to note the following updates on Capital 
Projects: 

3.2 Community Project Grants (previously Village Hall & Community 
Project Grants) 
 
There is no additional budget allocation for Community Project Grants 
in 2020/21 however there is a budget of £15,735 from underspends 
in previous years.  
 
Expenditure to date in 2020/21 is £10,873, leaving a budget of 
£4,862 for 2020/21.   
 
3.3 Affordable Housing  
 
The budget for Affordable Housing in 2020/21 is £50,000.  The 
budget brought forward from previous years is £139,000 giving a 
total of £189,000 available in 2020/21. 
 
In recent times the capital programme has facilitated affordable 
housing developments in rural areas by providing a sum of money, 
normally between £10,000 and £15,000 per plot, to enable the 
development to proceed.  These schemes are typically on exception 
sites and therefore do not necessarily rely on cross subsidy from open 
market properties although the JLP allows for this now. Evidence from 
a Registered Provider (RP) is provided to ensure additional money is 
required to make the scheme viable.  Money is normally required 
where there are abnormals on the site or there is a shortage of public 
subsidy.   
 

Page 158



 
 
 
 
This budget may be required to assist with the redevelopment or 
refurbishment of the hostel in Tavistock but a future report will be 
submitted to members. 
 
3.4 Private Sector Renewals including Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFG’s)  
 
As at the end of January (Month 10), £350,584 has been spent 
compared to the budget for 20/21 of £1,039,683. Due to the COVID-
19 pandemic the number of DFG applications significantly reduced in 
the first part of the year. Following the relaxing of the lockdown 
measures the number of applications has started to increase. 
 
3.5 Community Housing Schemes  
 
The Community Housing Strategy was put in place to support the 
development of homes accessible to those with local connections for 
whom the cost of market housing (to purchase and rent) is beyond 
their reach. 
 
There is a separate report on this Hub Committee agenda containing 
an update on the Brentor and Lamerton Community Housing 
schemes. The Community Housing report contains a recommendation 
to Council to approve the expenditure of £85,000 from the Innovation 
Fund (Invest to Earn) Earmarked Reserve, to undertake detailed 
design, specification and tendering of the Brentor scheme, subject to 
a successful planning decision. 
 
3.6 Waste Fleet  
 
It is envisaged that the budget will be utilised in 2020/21. 
Expenditure to the end of January (month 10) is £170,000 leaving a 
balance of £275,184. 
 
3.7 Hayedown Depot – upgrade and new drainage  
 
The depot upgrade and drainage are being considered by Engineers 
as part of the Fire Prevention Plan, a legal requirement for the site.  
Following this review it is expected that works will be tendered and 
carried out this financial year. Initial indications are that the budget 
may be insufficient but further value engineering and design 
considerations need to be undertaken.  Members will be kept updated 
when further information is available. 
 
 
 

Page 159



 
 
 
 
3.8 Parklands Leisure Centre – contribution to moveable floor 
 
The moveable floor at Oakhampton, Parklands Leisure Centre was a 
Sport England requirement of lottery funding that was levered in to 
finance a large part of the building. 
 
Since Parklands was built, there have been difficulties with the 
operation of the moveable floor. This money has been set aside within 
the capital programme as a partnership contribution to the cost of an 
engineering solution if the floor breaks down. At present, the 
moveable floor has been working satisfactorily for over a year. 
 
3.9 Tavistock Viaduct 
 
As part of the Amended Budget proposals for 2020/21, Members 
approved reducing the budget from £100k to £20k. This was following 
a Condition Survey being undertaken on the Viaduct which advised 
that the initially proposed extensive repair works would not now be 
required during 2020/21 and the capital budget can be limited to 
further vegetation clearance and some drainage improvements. 
 
A separate capital budget for Tavistock Viaduct Walk was approved 
at Council in February 2020. There is a requirement to undertake a 
five year assessment of the condition of the Viaduct Walk and carry 
out any necessary stabilisation and tree works. The walkover 
assessment has been undertaken in early February and officers are 
awaiting a copy of the inspection survey report. This will inform the 
necessary works along the Viaduct Walk. 
 
3.10 Car Park Resurfacing  
 
Officers have identified a number of car parks across the Borough 
which are in need of resurfacing.  A budget of £30,000 per annum 
has been built into the capital programme budget to be funded by a 
£30,000 contribution annually from the Car Park Maintenance 
Reserve. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



 
 
 
 
3.11 Green Homes Grant 
 
 
In July 2020 the Government announced a £2 billion Green Homes 
Grant (GHG) scheme to save households money, cut carbon and 
create jobs. The Council, as part of a consortium with South Hams 
DC, submitted a bid and have been awarded a sum of £224,500. 
 
The grant will be used to deliver external wall insulations and air 
source heat pumps for eligible households and was originally due to 
be delivered by the end of March 2021, in line with the bid. However, 
in recognition of the difficulties in delivering the scheme during the 
current situation, this has been extended until June 2021.   
 
The installations will reduce fuel poverty and reduce carbon emissions 
from the households benefitting from the grants. A range of metrics 
including lifetime financial and carbon savings will be calculated and 
reported back at the end of the project. 
 
In addition, we have been notified that our bid under Part 1b of the 
scheme has also been successful resulting in a further £400,000 for 
2021/22 for similar installations.  
 
The full report was presented at Hub on 20th October 2020, minute 
ref HC 31. 
 
 
3.12 S106 Deposits 
 
The list of S106 Deposits are shown in Appendix C totalling 
£953,658.52. A report on the anticipated spend of s106 Deposits 
over the next few years will be presented to the Hub Committee in 
the Summer. 
 
Some of these S106 Agreements have a clause within the S106 
Agreement which states that the Council shall be entitled to use up 
to a five per cent (5%) part of the total payments and contributions 
payable pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement, towards the 
costs to be reasonably and properly incurred by the Council in 
monitoring compliance with the S106 Agreement and in assessing the 
details submitted to the Council for approval pursuant to the S106 
Agreement.  
 
For clarity, the figures shown in Appendix C are before any monitoring 
fee has been deducted by the Council. 
 

Page 161



 
 
 
 
In 2015 a case against Oxford County Council held that a monitoring 
fee was an administrative function of the Council and could not be 
sought by the County Council.  The Court accepted that there may be 
occasions where monitoring fees could be sought, for example, on 
large scale developments where obligations are phased. The 
Government is currently consulting on the Community Infrastructure 
Regulations reforming Developer Contributions.  This includes an 
intention to clarify that local planning authorities can seek a sum as 
part of a section 106 planning obligation for monitoring planning 
obligations.   
 
 
4. Options available and consideration of risk  
 
4.1 This is considered on a project by project basis as part of the 
project appraisal document and initial business case for each capital 
project. 
 
 
5.  Proposed Way Forward  
 
5.1 This is considered on a project by project basis. 
 
6. Implications  
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 Statutory powers are provided by the S1 
Localism Act 2011 general power of 
competence. 
 
The capital programme is implemented in line 
with the Council’s legal requirements, which 
are examined on a project-by-project basis. 
To date there are no undue legal concerns. 
 
The public interest has been assessed and it is 
considered that the public interest will be 
better served by not disclosing the information 
in the Appendices A and B. Accordingly this 
report contains exempt Information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

Page 162



 
 
 
 

 
Financial 
Implications to 
include reference 
to Value for 
Money 
 
 
 

 The total capital budget for 2020/21 is 
£7,784,918 of which £592,984 has been 
spent as at 31st January 2021 (Appendix A). 
 
All the capital projects are within the 
individual capital budgets approved by 
Members. The regular monitoring of the 
Capital Programme ensures the Council has 
arrangements in place to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.  
 

Risk 
 
 
 
 

 There is a risk that the Capital Programme 
does not meet the Council’s corporate 
priorities in line with the Council’s Asset 
Strategy and the opportunity to assess 
emerging projects, which could contribute to 
the Council’s priorities. The mitigation is that 
there is a project appraisal for each proposal.  
This is taken into account when assessing 
possible implementation timescales. Complex 
capital programmes have a relatively long 
lead-in period. 
 
The Council demonstrates that capital 
investment contributes to corporate priorities, 
provides value for money and takes account 
of the revenue implications of the investment. 
Regular monitoring of the capital programme 
and consideration of new pressures enables 
Members to control the programme and 
secure appropriate mitigation where problems 
arise. 
 
There is regular quarterly monitoring of the 
Capital Programme to Members where any 
cost overruns are identified at an early stage.  
 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

 The Capital Programme supports all six of the 
Corporate Themes of the Council, Homes, 
Enterprise, Communities, Environment and 
Wellbeing. 
 
 

Page 163



 
 
 
 
Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact  
 

 The Council declared a Climate Change and 
Biodiversity Emergency on 23 July 2019 and 
a Climate Change Action Plan was presented 
to Council in December 2019.  
 
Following this report, a strategy will be 
implemented as to how the Council could 
finance the items within the Action Plan, 
whether that is from external grant sources 
or some funding from the Council’s own 
resources. 
 
On 8th December 2020, Council adopted the 
Climate Change and Biodiversity Strategy. 
The Council has committed to the following 
aims; 
 

a) That the Council aim to reduce its 
organisational carbon emissions to net-
zero by 2030;  

b) That the Council commit to working 
with partners through the Devon 
Climate Emergency Response Group to 
aim to reduce the Borough of West 
Devon’s carbon emissions to net zero 
by 2050 at the latest; 

c) That the Council aim for a 10% 
Biodiversity Net Gain in the habitat 
value of its green and wooded public 
open space by 2025; 

 
Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

 

Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Safeguarding 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 
 

Community Safety, 
Crime and 
Disorder 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 
 

Other implications  None 

Page 164



 
 
 
 
 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
 
Exempt Appendix A – Details of capital expenditure to 31st December 
2020 
Exempt Appendix B – Details of Exempt schemes approved as part of 
the 2020/21 Capital Budget 
Appendix C – Summary of S106 Deposits 
 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Capital Budget proposals for 2020/21 - Council 18 February 2020 
(CM65 refers) 
Capital Budget proposals for 2020/21 – Hub 28 January 2020 (HC69 
refers) 
 
Process checklist Completed 
Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 
SLT Rep briefed Yes 
Relevant  Heads of Practice sign off 
(draft) 

Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 
Accessibility checked Yes 

  

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



West Devon Borough Council Appendix C
Section 106 Deposits as at 31st December 2020

TOTAL S106
Classif. Site Date Restriction/Committed Conditions DEPOSITS
Code Received End Date

£

2527 11366/2008/TAV - Forma Tavistock Hockey Club 28/10/13 10 Years of receipt £23,250 - Community Facility & £112,000 off-site Sports Pitch (66,579.40)

2531 Unit 2-4 Tavistock Retail Park - 00601/2013 14/12/15 Community  Facilities (11,236.40)
2504 Batheway Fields, N Tawton - 01037/2013 15/05/2017, 

22/08/2017
10 Years of receipt Public Art £23,678.13, Refuse £1,341.20, Play £58,721.78, 

Playing Field £25,137.16, Community Facilities  £31,288.97, 
Street Cleaning  £7,680.16, PCT Contribution £19,010.40

(9,735.36)

2508 Land adj Serendipity, Tavistock - 00556/2014 15/08/17 Spend wiith 10 Years of 
receipt 

Affordable Housing (8,261.15)

2510 Land at 68 Plymouth Road, Tavistock - 03076/2012 21/11/17 10 Years Affordable Housing (12,196.61)
2510 Land at 68 Plymouth Road, Tavistock - 03076/2012 21/11/17 10 Years Community Infrastructure Contribution (8,237.71)
2509 The Garage, Maudlins Park, Tavistock - 02492/2012 11/12/17  10 Years of receipt Affordable Housing (5,713.00)
2516 Land Adjacent to rising Hill,Tavistock - 01608/2011 19/09/13 None Affordable Housing (8,400.00)
2517 9 Drakes Park Bere Alston (01994/2011) 12/01/13 10 Years of receipt Affordable Housing (11,500.00)
2533 Hannaford, The Crescent, Crapstone -01866/2011 17/06/2013 

19/09/2013
None Affordable Housing 100% (16,300.00)

2518 Land Adjoining Brook Farm Tavistock (00692/2013) 10 years of receipt Affordable Housing (7,375.00)
2519 Land at Annan Down Park Drive, Tavistock - 01007/2013 30/02/2014, 

10/07/2014
10 years of receipt Affordable Housing (29,125.00)

2514 Melcroft, Lifton - 00546/2013 09/02/17 10 Years of receipt Affordable Housing (7,375.00)
2520 Land adjacent to Trescote, Bridestowe - 00465/2014 22/10/14 10 Years of receipt Affordable Housing (7,375.00)

Land Adjoining Belle vue - 03222/2012 Affordable Housing (7,375.00)
2503 Tanglewood, Tavistock - 01191/2013 12/11/2014, 

24/04/2017
Spend wiith 10 Years of 
receipt 

Affordable Housing (16,831.59)

2521 Tricity Works, Holsworthy Road, Okehampton - 02485/2012 15/06/14 10 Years of receipt Affordable Housing (5,500.00)
2522 Land adj Shellsley North Tawton (02914/2012) 20/02/15 10 Years of receipt 1st & 2nd 50% Affordable Housing (47,136.72)
2512 Livaton Berns, S Tawton - 00707/2014 19/08/2015, 

23/08/18 & 
05/09/2018

10 Years of receipt Affordable Housing 1st & 2nd 50% (12,878.30)

2523 6&8 Fore Street, Bridestowe(03113/2012) 02/07/2013, 
15/09/2015

10 Years of receipt Affordable Housing (5,500.00)

2524 The Barton, Spreyton (01396/2014) 04/03/2015, 
24/07/2012

10 years of first 
occupation 

Affordable Housing (71,530.17)

2535 The Old Post Office Highampton (00740/2014) 22/08/18 10 years Affordable Housing (6,121.51)
2537 Land Butcher park Hill - 00610/2015 20/09/2018, 

28/06/2019, 
14/07/2020

5 Years £147,752 - 1st, 2nd, 3rd & 4th instalment of Playing Pitch 
Contribution  (BCIS uplift to follow when triggers.3 & 4 met). 
£51,791 - Off-Site Play contribution 

(214,989.80)

2539 The Beeches, Yelverton - 0302/15 22/06/17 10 Years DNP - Affordable Housing (20,911.90)
2543 Land Lower Trendle, Tavistock - 2092/16/Ful 03/05/19 10 Years Heritage Contribution (2,000.00)
2543 Land Lower Trendle, Tavistock - 2092/16/Ful 17/07/2020 10 Years 100% Affordable Housing Contributions (154,163.08)
2546 Barns At Hurlditch Horn Gulworthy 00358/2010 20/06/2019, 

21/06/2019
10 Years Affordable Housing (31,949.81)

2513 RO 6 Westmoor Park - 00014/2014 20/06/19 10 Years Affordable Housing (7,800.68)
2547 Land Rear of Rowan Cottage, Lewdown, Okehampton - 0825/16/Ful22/11/19 10 Years Affordable Housing (25,694.44)
2548 Land New Launceston Road - 2022/16/OPA 04/12/19 10 years 50% Off Site Public open Space (113,865.89)

TOTAL S106 DEPOSITS (953,658.52)

Notes: 
1. The amounts shown above are before any monitoring fee has been deducted, where this is set out in the S106 Agreement.
(See Section 3.11 of the covering report which explains this in more detail)
2. The deposits as at 31st December 2020 reflect income already received by the Council or where a debtor has recently been raised to a third party.

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Hub Committee 
 

Date: 16 March 2021 
 

Title: Public Space Protection Order – Dog Controls 
 

Portfolio Area: Environment, Cllr Caroline Mott 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Urgent Decision:     N  Approval and clearance 
obtained: 

Y  

 
Date next steps can be taken:  Council Meeting to be held on 30 March 2021
 

 

  
Author: Honey Foskett Role: Senior Specialist 

Environmental Health 
 
Contact: 

 
01803 861191/email:  honey.foskett@swdevon.gov.uk 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Hub Committee RECOMMENDS that the Council resolves to adopt the Public 
Space Protection Order 2021 as attached at Appendix 1 to this report.  The Order will 
introduce from 30 March 2021 the following Borough-wide provisions requiring dog 
walkers to:  
a) carry the means to pick up and to pick up; 
b) keep dogs on leads on land designated as a Dogs on Lead Area and on roads with speed 

zones up to 30mph; 
c) comply to put and keep dogs on leads if so directed (by an authorised officer); and 
d) prevent dogs from accessing a dog exclusion zone. 
 
 

1. Executive summary  
 
1.1 The Report asks the Hub Committee to recommend to the Council that it makes a 
West Devon Borough Council Public Space Protection Order 2021 (the Order) effective from 
30 March 2021.  The order will apply to all of the land which is in the administrative area of 
the Council and which is open to the air (which includes land that is covered but open to the 
air on at least one side) and to which the public are entitled to or are permitted to have 
access (with or without payment).   
 
1.2 The Order will comprise the following general provisions:   
 
 Dog walkers to carry the means to pick up dog faeces and to pick up dog faeces 
 Keep dogs on leads in some areas such as on roads, in shopping areas, car parks, 
cemeteries and churchyards, nature reserves, formal gardens, where organised sport is 
being played  

Page 173

Agenda Item 12



 To put dogs on leads when asked to by an authorised officer in response to certain 
situations, and 
 Dogs to be excluded from enclosed children’s play areas, bowling greens, tennis 
courts, skateboard or BMX parks, putting greens and, sports or recreation facility pitches.   
 
1.3 Public Space Protection Orders are made by the Council under the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act) in order to meet its obligations to ensure 
residents’ quality of life is not compromised by activities that are likely to have a detrimental 
effect on local amenity (such as dog fouling or dogs out of control).   The Borough Council is 
obliged to review Public Space Protection Orders on a tri annual basis and to consult with 
the public and other stakeholders if changes are proposed to the Orders.   
 
1.4 A Borough wide Public Consultation ran from 1st June to 31st July 2020 and responses 
are attached in Appendix 2. 
 
1.5 We asked specific questions about carrying poo bags to pick up; about keeping dogs 
on leads in built up areas with speed zones up to 30mph; and, about limiting the number of 
dogs that should be walked at any one time in one place by one person. 
 
1.6 Responses were received mainly from Okehampton Town Council and Bere Ferrers 
Parish Council on local proposals.  Responses from the wider Borough were limited and are 
presented below in paragraph 2.7 
 
1.7 Broadly, responses indicate a preference to: 
 

 Carry a means to pick up 
 Keep dogs on leads in speed zones up to 30mph 
 Apply a limit to the number of dogs walked at any one time in one place by one 

person.   
 

2. Background  
 

2.1 The previous Dog Control Order came into effect on 22nd October 2014 and was 
automatically converted unchanged, to a Public Space Protection Order in 2017.  The 2017 
Order has been in place for three (3) years and expired at the end of last year.  The Council 
now needs to decide whether to make a further Order based on evidence of need as 
demonstrated by the responses to the consultation and the number and type of complaints 
that the Council receives (see paragraph 2.7 below).  

 
2.2 There are statutory exemptions on Forestry Commission land and also on Dartmoor 
National Park Common lands. 

 
2.3 There are exemptions for those who need the help of assistance dogs. 

 
2.4 The Council can make a Public Space Protection Order in respect of any public space 
within its Borough boundary if it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that there are activities 
being carried out in the Borough which have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality. The full criteria are set out in the legal implications in paragraph 6 
below. The definition of public space is wide and includes any place to which the public (or 
any section of the public) has access (by right of express or implied permission). 
 

Page 174



2.5 The Council can make an Order for the Control of Dogs following consultation with 
the Police and other relevant bodies.   
2.6 An Order will provide West Devon communities with reassurance that there is a 
properly resourced mechanism in place to address dog related anti-social behaviour on lands 
within the Borough accessible to the public. . 
 
2.7 A summary of the consultation responses can be found in Appendix 2.  In brief: 
 
 The public and stakeholders were asked for comment on the proposal to introduce 3 
general articles: 
 

1. Dog walkers must carry dog bags or other container to collect dog waste 
2. Dogs are to be kept on leads on roads with speed zones up to 30mph, and 
3. The number of dogs walked by one person at any one time in one area should be 

limited to 4 dogs 
 
 Feedback from Okehampton Town Council on Simmons Park and Bere Ferrers Parish 
Council on The Down in Bere Alston and the playing fields in Bere Ferrers, indicates a 
majority in favour of all three recommendations.  There was a limited response from the 
wider Borough but from those who participated, the majority are in favour of all three 
recommendations.   
 
 The limited response, particularly with regard to limiting the number of dogs walked 
(113 responses in total from across the Borough) brings into question the extent of the 
problem (1 documented incident) balanced against the additional work that would be 
required to issue exemption licences to professional dog walkers who may be affected by 
the Article. On balance the restriction is not recommended. 

 
 In Okehampton with regards to Kempley Meadow public support is to allow dogs to 
be under control off the lead. 

 
 On The Down, Bere Alston, there is public support for the standard expressed in the 
original Order which is to exclude dogs from the enclosed children’s play area and the 
fenced match pitch and allow dogs to be under control off the lead on the open space 
except where and when organised sport is in play on the playing fields.  The Bere Ferrers 
Parish Council consulted on 4 options: 
 

o To exclude dogs from the fully fenced playing field  
o Dogs on leads at all times on remainder of the site   
o To exclude dogs from the site whilst organised sport is in play 
o Dogs on leads whilst organised sport is in play. 

 
 Data provided by the Parish Council indicates the match pitch will be a dog free area 
and the community preference is for dogs on leads whilst organised sport is in play on the 
remainder of The Down which is shared by dog walkers and sports clubs from time to time 
and is unfenced.   
 
 The Parish Council has agreed to permit public access onto the match pitch whilst 
excluding dogs.  The match pitch gates will remain unlocked and signage will be displayed on 
the gates indicating that the public are welcome to enjoy the space whilst dogs are excluded.   

 

Page 175



 
. . . /4 

 On the Bere Ferrers playing fields, the Parish Council did not respond to the 
consultation on options to exclude dogs or to keep dogs on leads whilst organised sport is in 
play.  To exclude from fenced tennis courts and to keep dogs on leads during organised sport 
is the recognised national standard and the standard that currently applies on the playing 
fields.  
 
 Data (which provides information and evidence on the extent of any issues) held on 
complaint levels is as follows:   
 
2010/11 dog fouling complaints received 77 
2011/12 dog fouling complaints received 87 
2012/13 dog fouling complaints received 35 
2014 51:  Tavistock 19; Okehampton 14; Bere Alston 3; Buckland Monachorum 4 

and the rest were 1’s and 2’s – from Flare records 
2015 46:  Tavistock 18; Okehampton 5; Lifton 5; Chagford 3; and the rest 1’s and 

2’s again – From Flare records 
2016 W2/360 cannot filter down to dog control issues only - Litter or dog mess 

reports 119 
2017  141 
2018 136 with 1 report through to EP – on checking W2/360 reports will go direct 

to FCC to clean so these reports are not followed up by Localities or EP 
2019  78 
2019/20  number of dog control complaints received in EP total 8:  Okehampton 3; 

North Tawton 2; Bere Alston 1; Sourton 1; and Tavistock 1 – to date. 
 
 In the 2016/17/18 and 2019 data, we have not been able to separate dog 
complaints from litter complaints which makes the data about complaint levels inconclusive 
(this is due to the way data is held on our systems).  Nevertheless, a consistent community 
view that the Order is a preventative measure that impacts on community expectation and 
is likely to improve community behaviour, appears widespread. 
 
 This report recommends the introduction of a Public Space Protection Order as set 
out in the Recommendation above.  The recommendation reflects the national standards 
that provide a framework within which whole communities can enjoy facilities whilst being 
mindful of other users with different goals.   
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 
3.1 Council Enforcement Officers provide a reactive monitoring and enforcement 
service.   
 
3.2 The Public Space Protection Order will provide the Localities Team with a uniform 
set of standards across the Borough that will make enforcement straightforward.   
 
3.3 The Localities Team have received enforcement training that allows them to issue 
Fixed Penalty Notices for offences under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 
2014.  Some refresher training has been scheduled (postponed due to COVID19) to bring the 
team up to date with current procedures and giving officers authorisation to ask for 
offenders names and addresses.   

Page 176



 
. . . /5 

3.4 Fines for Fixed Penalty Notices for dog offences are set at £100.00 per offence.  
Effectiveness of the Public Space Protection Orders can be measured through community 
satisfaction surveys on neighbourhood cleanliness (fewer complaints about dog fouling and 
out of control dogs) and income from fines.    
 
3.5 Consultation with the Police – response from local policing body and the office of 
the Chief of Police respectively indicate support for a Borough wide standard.  
 
3.6 Consultation with Dartmoor National Park Authority – DNP guidance for dog walkers 
is that owners should pick up after their pets and dispose of the waste responsibly.  DNP are 
acutely aware of the littering issue caused by poo bags being left by visitors and their wider 
messaging to the public regarding litter is to take it home or find a bin.  DNP are not 
comfortable with the idea of ‘stick and flick’ dog poo to the side of the path because of the 
risk of disease that can be passed on to both cattle and sheep from dog faeces causing 
fatalities in grazing livestock.  For consistency and a simple, clear message the DNP stance is 
to ask dog walkers to pick up after your dog wherever you are in the national park.  DNP 
policy on litter bins is not to provide dog or litter bins due to the expense of installation and 
servicing.   
 
3.7 We have made contact with other local stakeholders including the National Trust, 
the National Farmers Union, the South West Lakes Trust and South West Water, all of whom 
are keen to engage on a campaign to raise public awareness on the impact on livestock of 
littering dog poo bags in the environment.   
 
3.8  Further engagement with Town and Parish Councils – Picking up on the limited 
responses to the Consultation we gave the Parish Councils a further opportunity to engage 
with the process.   We received two responses from Councils who had provided initial 
feedback confirming approval and a further four responses also confirming approval for the 
Public Space Protection Orders as described in the Consultation.   
 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  
 
4.1 To apply a Public Space Protection Order, the Council must be satisfied on 
reasonable grounds that doing so is necessary to prevent: 
 
 Occurrence or recurrence of the activities identified in the Order, or 
 An increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities after that time. 
 
4.2 The nature of the anti-social behaviour with regard to dog controls covers activities 
that have taken place or are likely to take place that have had or will have a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality.  
 
4.3 S.18 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 remains in force.  It 
relates to litter offences and states:  A person is guilty of an offence if he throws down drops 
or otherwise deposits any litter in any place in the area of a principal litter authority which is 
open to the air to which the public has access with or without payment.   
 
 If we chose not to apply a Public Space Protection Order, we can be satisfied that we 
would be able to use this 2005 Act to address dropped poo bags but it is uncertain that s18 

Page 177



of the Act could also be relied on by the Council where a person failed to clean up after their 
dog.    
 There is no other relevant legislation in place to address dogs on leads, or on leads by 

direction or dog exclusions.   
 
4.4 The following options were considered: 

 
 Withdraw the Public Space Protection Order from sites where there are relevant 
Town and Parish by laws in place.   
 
Town and parish Councils have limited jurisdiction to tackle environmental crime and are 
permitted only to pursue enforcement action for littering, graffiti and fly posting.  Towns and 
Parishes rely on the Borough Council for enforcement action to tackle dog related offences.     
 
 Withdraw the Public Space Protection Order from all privately owned sites in favour 
of allowing landowners to manage dog related issues themselves. 
 
This is a possible option on sites where landowners actively manage sites and wish to 
impose a restriction that is above the recognised standard for the site.  Not applying a Public 
Space Protection Order in these circumstances makes the landowner directly responsible to 
the local community for a potentially controversial decision on levels of restriction.   
 
Leaving a generic PSPO in place does not prevent a landowner imposing a higher local 
restriction on privately managed sites.   
 
 Withdraw the Public Space Protection Order on the basis that the majority of dog 
owners act responsibly and there is no need for controls.   
 
This may lead to the very small percentage of irresponsible dog owners allowing their dogs 
to run out of control and not picking up after them.  There may also be a danger, as a 
consequence of such behaviour in one area, problems may escalate more generally.  The 
level and nature of consultation feedback indicates that communities would find this 
unacceptable.   
 
 Applying the recommendations as stated will reflect the majority view and reduce 
risk to a minimum. 
 

5.  Proposed Way Forward  
 

5.1 To adopt the Public Space Protection Order, attached at Appendix 1 as 
recommended based on evidence of need, following a data analysis of the consultation 
feedback and consideration of related complaints received (please see Appendix 2:  West 
Devon feedback).   
 
5.2 This will have a positive impact as described above, giving West Devon’s 
communities assurance that there is a robust mechanism in place to address dog related 
anti-social behaviour on lands within the Borough accessible to the public.   
 
5.3 There will be a negative impact on communities and on the Borough Council’s 
reputation if the Orders are not adequately enforced.  
 

Page 178



. . . /7 
5.4 Mitigation lies in maintaining the enforcement team at full strength with competent 
Mobile Locality Officers and Environmental Protection Officers actively engaged in dog 
enforcement in the Borough.   
 

5. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y 

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y Under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
(chapter 2 Public spaces protection Orders) the Borough Council 
may make a Public Space Protection Order if satisfied on 
reasonable grounds that: 
 

 activities carried on in a public place within the 
authority’s area have had a detrimental effect on the 
quality of life of those in the locality, or it is likely that 
activities will be carried on in a public place within that 
area and that they will have such an effect.  Further, 

 the effect, or likely effect, of the activities is, or is likely 
to be of a persistent or continuing nature 

 the effect, or likely effect, of the activities is, or is likely 
to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and 

 the effect, or likely effect, of the activities justifies the 
restrictions imposed by the notice. 
 

Any restrictions or prohibitions that are to be imposed must be 
both reasonable and aimed at preventing or reducing the risk of 
the detrimental effect continuing.  As indicated above, the 
decision to apply a Public Space Protection Order is 
discretionary but the consequence of not extending the current 
Public Space Protection Order may lead to the very small 
percentage of irresponsible dog owners allowing their dogs to 
run out of control and not picking up after them.   
 
The Hub Committee has powers to consider and make 
recommendations to full Council on the adoption of a Public 
Space Protection Order 
 

Financial implications 
to include reference 
to value for money 
 

N There are no direct financial implications arising from this 
report. Public Space Protection Order enforcement is provided 
by the Localities team:  the cost of the service is met by the 
existing revenue budget and there is no budget pressure for 
implementation. 
 
There are no costs associated with advertising the Order.  
 

Risk Y Applying the Public Space Protection Order requires the 
Borough Council to support it through enforcement. 

Page 179



   
Poor enforcement performance will lead to customer 
dissatisfaction which will impact on the Borough Council’s 
reputation.   
 
The Council will need to have due regard to its existing 
enforcement policy in terms of dealing with complaints of non-
compliance with the Public Space Protection Order. The Council 
will have to monitor the resources required to ensure 
compliance with the Public Space Protection Order and consider 
this in any future review. 

Supporting Corporate 
Strategy  
 

Y Environment and Wellbeing 
 

Climate Change – 
Carbon / Biodiversity 
Impact  
 

N No direct carbon/biodiversity impact arising from the 
recommendations 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 

N Registered blind and other relevant disabilities are exempt from 
the Orders. 
 

Safeguarding 
 

N There are no Safeguarding implications  

Community Safety, 
Crime and Disorder 
 

Y There is potentially a positive impact on levels of environmental 
crime. 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 
 

Y A clean environment promotes wellbeing 

Other implications 
 

Y Human Rights – In deciding whether to make a public space 
protection order and if so, what it should include, the Council 
must have particular regard to the rights of freedom of 
expression and freedom of assembly set out in articles 10 and 
11 of the European Convention on Human Rights.  
 
Environmental Impact Assessment – An extension of the generic 
Public Space Protection Orders – Dog Control Articles will 
continue to be a positive effect on local environmental quality 
through continued enforcement against dog fouling.   
 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1:  West Devon Borough Council Public Space Protection Order 2021 
Appendix 2:  West Devon feedback 

Page 180



WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
 

Public Spaces Protection Order 2021 
 

Control of Dogs 
 

This Order is made by West Devon Borough Council (“The Council”) under the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 Section 59 (“the Act”) and remains in force for a 
period of 3 years from the date of the Order. 
 

1. This Order relates to: 
 
(i) All land which is in the administrative area of the Council and which is open 

to the air (which includes land that is covered but open to the air on at least 
one side) and to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access 
(with or without payment), (“the restricted area”) 

 
Except 

 
(ii) land that is placed at the disposal of the Forestry Commissioner under 

section 39(1) of the Forestry Act 1967 and Dartmoor National Park Common 
lands – see link and map below: 

 
https://www.dartmoor.gov.uk/about-us/about-us-maps/common-land-map 
 

common_land_map.
pdf  

 
2. The Council is satisfied that the two conditions below have been met, in that: 

 
(i) Activities carried out in the restricted area as described below, have had a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or it is likely 
that these activities will be carried on in the public places and that they will 
have such an effect.  The said activities being dog fouling, dog(s) off leads, 
dogs in exclusion areas. 

 
(ii) The effect or the likely effect of the activities described above, is, or is likely 

to be of a persistent or continuing nature, is, or is likely to be such as to make 
the activities unreasonable, and justifies the restrictions imposed by the 
Order.   

. . . /2 

Page 181



BY THIS ORDER 
 

3. The effect of this Order is to impose the following prohibitions and/or requirements 
at all times: 

 
In the restricted area any person who does not comply with the following 
requirements commits an offence: 

 
A. Fouling 

 
1. If, at any time in the restricted area, as indicated in Schedule 1A below, a person 

who is in charge of the dog at the time (or if a minor, the person responsible for the 
dog) fails to carry the means (dog bags or other container) to collect dog waste. 

 
2. If, at any time in the restricted area, as indicated in Schedule 1A below, a dog 

defecates and a person who is in charge of the dog at the time (or if a minor, the 
person responsible for the dog) fails to remove the faeces from the land forthwith 
and properly dispose of it, that person shall be guilty of an offence unless: 
 
(i) He/she has reasonable excuse for failing to do so:  or 
(ii) The owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 

has consented (generally or specifically) to his/her failing to do so.   
 

For the purposes of this article:   
 

a. A person registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National 
Assistance Act 1948 shall not be guilty of an offence if they are alone with the dog 
and unable to remove the faeces; 

 
b. A person with a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical 

coordination or ability to lift and who relies for assistance on a dog trained by a 
prescribed charity shall not be guilty of an offence if they are alone with the dog and 
unable to remove the faeces.  A “prescribed charity” is: 

 
 Dogs for the Good (Registered Charity no. 1092960) 
 Support Dogs (Registered Charity no. 1088281) 
 Canine Partners for Independence (Registered Charity no. 803680) 

 
c. Taking the faeces away from the land for proper disposal elsewhere or placing the 

faeces in a receptacle on the land, either a litter bin or dog waste bin, shall be 
sufficient removal from the land. 

 
d. Being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the vicinity or 

otherwise), or not having a device or other suitable means of removing the faeces 
shall not be a reasonable excuse for failing to remove the faeces.   

.. . /3 

Page 182



e. A person who habitually has a dog in his/her possession shall be taken to be in 
charge of the dog at any time unless at that time some other person is in charge of 
the dog. 

 
B. Dogs on Leads 

 
If, at any time, on any land to which this article applies and designated as a Dogs on Leads 
Area as detailed in Schedule 1B below, a person does not keep the dog on a lead unless: 
 

(i) He/she has reasonable excuse for failing to do so:  or 
(ii) The owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 

has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so. 
(iii) Failing to have a lead in his/her possession at the time shall not be a 

reasonable excuse for failing to do so. 
 
For the purposes of this article a person who habitually has a dog in his/her possession shall 
be taken to be in charge of the dog at any time unless at that time some other person is in 
charge of the dog. 
 

C. Dogs on Leads by direction 
 

If, at any time in the restricted area a specified in Schedule 1C below, a person in charge of a 
dog (or if a minor, the person responsible for the dog) does not comply with a direction 
given to him/her by an authorised officer of the Authority to put and keep the dog on a 
lead, unless: 
 

(i) He/she has a reasonable excuse for doing so; or 
(ii) The owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 

has consented (generally or specifically) to his/her failing to do so. 
(iii) Failing to have a lead in his/her possession at the time shall not be a 

reasonable excuse for failing to do so. 
 
For the purposes of this article a person who habitually has a dog in his possession shall be 
taken to be in charge of the dog at any time unless at that time some other person is in 
charge of the dog. 
 
An Authorised Officer of the Council or a Police Officer may only give a direction under this 
Article to put and keep a dog on a lead if such restraint is reasonably necessary to prevent a 
nuisance or behaviour by the dog is likely to cause annoyance or disturbance to any other 
person (on any land to which this Article applies) or the worrying or disturbance of any 
animal or bird.   
  
 
 
 
 
           . . . /4 

Page 183



D. Dog Exclusion Areas  
 
If, at any time, on any land to which this article applies as specified in Schedule 1D below, a 
person in charge of a dog takes the dog onto, or permits the dog to enter or to remain, on 
any land to which this article applies unless:   
      

(i) He/she has a reasonable excuse for doing so; or 
(ii) The owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 

has consented (generally or specifically) to his/her failing to do so. 
 
Nothing in this article applies to a person who: 
 

a. Is registered a blind person in a register compiled under section 29 of the 
National Assistance Act 1948; or 

b. Relies upon an assistance dog that is with him/her and which has been 
trained by a registered charity to perform that role; or 

c. Is in charge of a dog for the time being employed for purposes in relation to 
agriculture, hunting, pest control, the police or rescue services. 

 
4. For the purpose of this article a person who habitually has a dog in his/her 

possession shall be taken to be in charge of the dog at any time unless at that time 
some other person is in charge of the dog.   

 
5. A person who is guilty of an offence under this Order shall be liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding Level 3 on the standard scale or a fixed penalty 
notice of £100.00 

 
Liability to conviction for the offence may be discharged by the payment of a fixed 
penalty notice issued by an authorised officer or police officer.  The amount of the 
fixed penalty notice shall be £100.00 and it shall be payable to West Devon Borough 
Council. 
 
Where a fixed penalty notice is issued no proceedings will be taken for the offence 
before the end of the period of 14 days following the date of the notice.  The person 
served may not be convicted of the offence if the fixed penalty notice is paid before 
the end of the 14 day period. 
 
An authorised officer means an employee of the Council, or other person who is 
authorised in writing by the Council, or a Police Officer for the purpose of giving 
directions or carrying out enforcement under this Order.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
          . . . /5 

Page 184



SCHEDULE 1 
 

A. Fouling 
 
1. Subject to the exception in 1(ii) above, this article applies to all land which is in the 

administrative area of the Council and which is:  
 

 Open to the air (which includes land that is covered but open to the air on at least 
one side); and 

  To which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without 
payment).  

 
 
B. Dogs on leads 

 
1. This article applies to all areas covered by Rule 56 of the Highway Code; i.e., on the road, 

or on the pavement, or on a path shared with cyclists or horse riders; within 30 mph speed 
zones 

2. Areas with retail premises designated as zone 1 under the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 i.e., where there are 2 or more commercial / shop premises 

3. Car Parks 
4. Cemeteries and Churchyards 
5. Any fenced, hedged or walled pond, area of water or nature reserve 
6. Marked sports fields whilst organised sport is in progress 
7. Areas delineated as formal gardens. 
 
 

C. Dogs on leads by direction 
 

1. Subject to the exception in 1(ii) above, this article applies to all land which is in the 
administrative area of the Council and which is:  

 
 Open to the air (which includes land that is covered but open to the air on at least 

one side); and 
  To which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without 

payment).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 185



           . . . /6 
D. Dog Exclusion Areas  

 
1. This article applies to all land within the Council’s administrative area comprising:  

 
 Any fenced, hedged or walled children’s play area 
 Any fenced, hedged or walled bowling green  
 Any fenced, hedged or walled tennis court  
 Any fenced, hedged or walled skateboard or BMX park  
 Any fenced, hedged or walled putting green  
 Any fenced, hedged or walled sporting or recreational facility pitch, and 
 Any sporting or recreational facility pitch when sport is in play.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
By resolution of West Devon Borough Council dated: 
 
The Common Seal of the West Devon Borough Council hereunto affixed this  
 
…………………………………..day of ……………………………….2021 in the presence of 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



Authorised Officer 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD:                                    
Bere Alston                                   NO DOGS

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD                        
Bere Alston                                    ON LEADS 
ALL THE TIME

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD                        
Bere Alston                                 ON LEADS 
DURING SPORT

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD Bere 
Alston DOG BAN ON FOOTBALL PITCH

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD                        
Bere Alston                                 NO 
RESTRICTIONS BERE FERRERS REC FIELD:       NO DOGS

BERE FERRERS REC FIELD: LEADS 
DURING SPORT

BERE FERRERS  REC FIELD 
NO RESTRICTIONS

BERE FERRERS REC FIELD: ON LEADS 
ALL THE TIME

SIMMONS PARK OKEHA 
DOGS ON LEADS

SIMMONS PARK OKEHA    
BANNED FROM 
PITCHES/PLAY AREAS SIMMONS PARK NO RESTRICTIONS

SIMMONNS PK DOG 
BAN

18 X X X X X
27 X

A X
31 X

B X
32 X

OKE 1 X
OKE2 X
OKE3 X
OKE4 X
OKE5 X
OKE6 X
OKE7 X
OKE8 X
OKE9 X
OKE10 X
OKE11 X
OKE12 X
OKE13 X
OKE14 X
OKE15 X
OKE16 X
OKE17 X
OKE18 X
OKE19 X
OKE20 X
OKE21 X
OKE22 X
OKE23 X Only for difficult dogs X
OKE24 UNCLEAR - TALKS ABOUT DISABILITIES
OKE25 X
OKE26 X
OKE27 X
OKE28 X
OKE29 X
OKE30 X
OKE31 X
OKE32 X
OKE33 X
OKE34 X
OKE35 X
OKE36 X
OKE37 X
OKE38 X
OKE39 X
OKE40 X
OKE41 X
OKE42 X
OKE43 X
OKE44 X
OKE45 X
OKE46 X
OKE47 X
OKE48 X
OKE49 X
OKE50 X
OKE51 X
OKE52 X
OKE53 X
OKE54 (VISUALLY IMPAIRED) X
OKE55 X EXCEPT platt meadow
OKE56 X
OKE57 X
OKE58 X
OKE59 X
OKE60 X
OKE61 X
OKE62 X
OKE63 Wants kids area fenced X
OKE64 X
OKE65 X
OKE66 X

OKE67

X Suggests designated off lead 
area which is fenced off just 
for dogs

OKE68 X
OKE69 X 
OKE70 X
OKE71 X
H X X
TOTAL 
IND 
REPLIES 1 1 N/A N/A 1 N/A 1 1 1 20 7 48 1

OKE TC • To request that a specific Dogs on Leads Order is adopted on the Kempley Meadows and Cricket Fields side of Simmons Park, incorporating the playing/pleasure field, children’s play areas, Bowling Green, Putting Green and areas used by the College 1

PLEASE SEE SEPARATE TABLE OF RESULTS FROM BERE FERRERS PARISH COUNCIL

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD:                                    
Bere Alston                                   NO 
DOGS AT ALL

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD                                  
Bere Alston                                    ON 
LEADS ALL THE TIME

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD                                
Bere Alston                                 ON LEADS 
DURING SPORT

THE DOWN RECREATION FIELD Bere 
Alston           DOG BAN DURING 
SPORT

THE DOWN RECREATION 
FIELD                                Bere 
Alston                                 NO 
RESTRICTIONS

BERE FERRERS REC FIELD:                         
NO DOGS AT ALL

BERE FERRERS REC FIELD: LEADS 
DURING SPORT

BERE FERRERS  REC FIELD 
NO RESTRICTIONS

BERE FERRERS REC FIELD: ON 
LEADS ALL THE TIME

SIMMONS PARK OKEHA 
DOGS ON LEADS

SIMMONS PARK OKEHA    
BANNED FROM 
PITCHES/PLAY AREAS SIMMONS PARK NO RESTRICTIONS

SIMMONNS PK 
DOG BAN

ALL 134 FOR   / 211 AGAINST 183 FOR    /   138 AGAINST 311 FOR / 15 AGAINST 191 FOR / 129 AGAINST N/A 122 FOR  /  213 AGAINST N/A 173 FOR  / 137 AGAINST

GRAND 
TOTAL 135 FOR  / 211 AGAINST 184 FOR  / 138 AGAINST 311 FOR / 15 AGAINST 191 FOR / 129 AGAINST 1 122 FOR / 213 AGAINST 1 1 174 FOR  / 137 AGAINST 21 7 48 1

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



REPLY
FOR:                           
30 MPH LEADS

AGAINST:                             
30 MPH  LEADS

FOR:                    
POO BAGS

AGAINST:                            POO 
BAGS

FOR:  REDUCED BEACH 
TIMINGS

AGAINST:  REDUCED 
BEACH TIMINGS

FOR:                       
4 DOG LIMIT

AGAINST:                         
4 DOG LIMIT

2 X X X X
3 X X X
4 X X
5 X X
6 X X X X
7 X
8 X X X
9 X X X
10 X X X
11 X X
12 X X X
13 X X X
14 X X X
15 X X
16 X X X
17 X X X
18 X X X
19 X X X
20 X X X
21 X X X
22 X X X
23 X X X
24 X X X
25 X X X
26 X X X
27 X X X
28 X X
29 X
30 X X
31 X X X
32 X
33 X X X
34 X X X
OKE2 X
OKE8 X X X
OKE10 X X X
OKE12 X X X

OKE32
X BUT PREFERS 2 
DOG MAX

OKE40 X X X

OKE41
WHAT ABOUT 
20MPH & 40MPH

OKE42 X X X
OKE43 X
OKE45 X X X
OKE48 X X X
OKE50 X X
OKE61 X X X
OKE70 X X X

H X X X X
TOTAL 
IND 
REPLIES 32 9 33 6 N/A 3 32 11

BERE 
FERRERS 
& BERE 
ALSTON NO RESPONSE 336 10 36 34

FOR:                           
30 MPH LEADS

AGAINST:                             
30 MPH  LEADS

FOR:                    
POO BAGS

AGAINST:                            POO 
BAGS

FOR:  REDUCED BEACH 
TIMINGS

AGAINST:  REDUCED 
BEACH TIMINGS

FOR:                       
4 DOG LIMIT

AGAINST:                         
4 DOG LIMIT

GRAND 
TOTAL 32 9 369 16 N/A 3 68 45

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 16 March 2021 

Title: Consultation & Engagement – Task and 
Finish Group Concluding Report 

Portfolio Area: Communications  

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision: N  Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 
Following the Council meeting to be held on 30 
March 2021 

 

  

Author: Cllr Ric Cheadle  

 

 

Neil Hawke 

Role: Chair Consultation & 
Engagement Task & Finish 
Group 
 

Head of Strategy 

 

Contact: Cllr.Ric.Cheadle@westdevon.gov.uk  

Neil.hawke@swdevon.gov.uk  

 
 

Recommendations:   

That the Hub Committee consider the draft Community 
Consultation & Engagement Strategy (as set out at Appendix B) 
and RECOMMEND to Council that it be adopted. 

 

1 Executive summary  

1.1 At the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 1st 
September 2020, it was resolved to form a Task and Finish Group 
to lead the development of a Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy for the Council  

1.2 A group was formed to develop the strategy with the agreed Terms 
of Reference set out in Appendix A to this report. 

1.3 Members have met a number of times in order to consider the 
principles for consultation and engagement that the Council should 
adopt.  

1.4 Having considered best practice and local barriers to participation in 
Council consultation and engagement, this report sets out the 
conclusions of the Task and Finish Group and a draft Strategy. 

Page 193

Agenda Item 13



1.5 A version of this report was considered at the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee meeting held on 2 March.  At this meeting, Members 
unanimously recommended approval of the draft Strategy (as set 
out at Appendix B). 

 

2 Background 

2.1 At the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 1 
September 2020, Committee considered a draft of the Council’s 
Covid-19 recovery plan. To build upon the positive engagement seen 
throughout the pandemic, it was proposed to establish a Task and 
Finish Group to develop a Consultation and Engagement Strategy.   

2.2 In discussion, Members were supportive of this suggestion and a 
Consultation and Engagement Strategy Task and Finish Group 
comprising of Cllrs Cheadle (Group Chairman), Daniel, Kemp, 
Kimber, Leech and Samuel was established.  

2.3 The Group was tasked with developing proposals for how the Council 
consult and engage and presenting its concluding report to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration and if supported, 
recommendation to Hub.    

 

3 Actions of the group 
3.1 On the 13th October 2020, the Task and Finish Group held its first 

meeting to consider the terms of reference for the group. These 
were agreed and are included as Appendix A to this report.  

3.2 The Task and Finish Group were clear that it would be important to 
ensure that any Consultation and Engagement Strategy specifically 
focused on how we improve engagement with those that could be 
deemed ‘Hard to Reach’. In West Devon, in addition to the usual 
hard to reach groups, there is also the issue of poor digital 
connectivity which could be a barrier to participation in Council 
matters.   

3.3 Officers engaged with the Local Government Association to 
understand best practice in Consultation and Engagement and as a 
result were able to provide the Task and Finish Group with a 
number of reference strategies from exemplar Councils.  

3.4 These strategies were considered by the group who then 
reconvened on 22nd October to share their views on what they 
considered worked well and, more importantly, what the strategy 
for West Devon should be.  

3.5 This discussion informed a first draft of priorities which were then 
refined by the group in to a final draft strategy.  

3.6 One of the actions that Members felt should be implemented quickly 
is the inclusion of a consideration of Consultation and Engagement 
activity within the Implications section of committee reports. This 
would enable Members the opportunity to understand what 
consultation and engagement is being proposed and that it is in line 
with our Consultation and Engagement Strategy.  

 

 

Page 194



4 Outcomes/outputs  
 

4.1 Task and Finish Members have created a draft Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy that they have unanimously endorsed. 

4.2 The draft Strategy is set out in Appendix B to this report. After 
consideration by both the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
then the Hub Committee, the Strategy will be finalised for Council 
to consider adoption.  

4.3 The Strategy includes a delivery plan of activities and materials that 
will be developed to support our ambitions for consultation and 
engagement. This work will be taken forward under the guidance of 
the Lead Hub Member for Communications, Cllr Samuel.  

  

5 Options available and consideration of risk – future 
recommendations; 

5.1 The Committee is asked to consider and endorse the draft Strategy 
attached at Appendix B, making any recommendations on potential 
amendments. 

5.2 The Committee is further asked to recommend that Council adopt 
the Strategy.   

 

6 Implications 

 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

 

Legal/Governance 
 

Y Effective Consultation and Engagement is a key 
aspect of good Governance.  
 
Members of the group also felt that it is important 
to review the committee report template to include 
a consideration of consultation and engagement 
activity within the implications section.  

Financial 
 

Y There may be financial implications as a result of 
the Strategy when the delivery plan is created but 
at this stage there are no financial implications.  

Risk Y There is a risk that the Council overcommits to 
consult and engage through the strategy. It is 
important to say that the Strategy sets out a wide 
range of Consultation and Engagement methods. 
The key is that the Council is upfront on the level 
of engagement and influence participants can have.  

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 

Y Developing a Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy is a positive step in ensuring that we 

Page 195



 reach out to a wide range of individuals and there 
are specific considerations of how we will take 
steps to overcome barriers to participation  

Safeguarding 
 

N  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 
 

N  
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

N   

Other 
implications 

N   
 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Background Papers: 
Appendix A - Consultation & Engagement Task and Finish group – Terms 
of Reference 
Appendix B - Consultation & Engagement draft strategy   

Page 196



Consultation and Engagement Task and Finish 

 

Terms of Reference   

1. Membership  

Task and Finish Members 

Cllr Ric Cheadle (Chair) 

Cllr Lynn Daniel  

Cllr Lois Samuel   

Cllr Tony Leech  

Cllr Clare Kemp 

Cllr Patrick Kimber   

 

Officer Support: 

Lesley Crocker, Head of Communications  

Neil Hawke, Head of Strategy  

 

2. Purpose of the group  

The purpose of a Task and Finish Group is to either review existing and/or develop new 
Policy/Strategy.  Task and Finish Group recommendations are, in the first instance, 
considered by the Overview and Scrutiny function before then being presented to either 
the Hub or Full Council for approval. 

The purpose of this Group is to develop and deliver a consultation and engagement 
strategy framework for the Council. The Group will present its concluding report to the 
Overview and Scrutiny meeting early in the New Year. 

 

3. Role & Function  
 To review current consultation and engagement practice through questioning senior 

officers and Members within the Council and reviewing previous consultation and 
engagement activity;  

 Conduct research and gather evidence of Consultation and Engagement best 
practice through table top research and engagement with representatives from 
groups such as the Local Government Association in order to inform our future 
Policy/Strategy;  

 Consider and recommend a framework for consultation and engagement to include:- 
o A set of high level principles and standards for consultation and engagement;  
o Levels of participation for Information, Consultation and Engagement being 

proportionate;  
o The role of Elected Members in consultation and engagement;  
o Inclusion – how we would engage our hard to reach residents;  

 
4. Governance Arrangements and Key Relationships  

The Consultation and Engagement Task and Finish Group is accountable to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

5. Duration  

Page 197



The Task and Finish Group will have no decision-making powers and will provide 
progress updates at every meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to ensure 
that the development of the Consultation and Engagement Strategy framework remains 
within scope. The Group will present its concluding report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting. 

 

6. Meeting and Working Practices  

The Group Chairman may call a meeting of the Group as and when required. Any such 
meetings shall be held remotely (over Skype or other such technology) until such a time 
as a Council decision is taken to reinstate face to face meetings.  

Any Member of the Council may attend a Group meeting and, at the discretion of the 
Chairman, may take part in the deliberations.  

The Quorum of the Group will be 4 Members.  

The Group may invite partners and stakeholders as appropriate to support their work.  

 

Page 198



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

Better Homes, Better Lives

www.westdevon.gov.uk

West Devon Borough Council

Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy 

P
age 199



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

Foreword

Cllr Lois Samuel

West Devon Borough Council has always been 
committed to listening to residents, businesses 
and partner organisations in shaping the area 
and our priorities. This strategy is about us 
further improving our understanding of our 
community's needs, views and experiences, 
through consultation and engagement. 

In adopting this strategy, we are making a 
clear commitment for how we will consult and 
engage in the future and the principles that 
we will use in that engagement.

We have developed this strategy during a time 
where our communities have come together 
to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic. It has 
seen the Council with a closer relationship with 
our communities and we need to ensure that 
we continue to build on this relationship. 

The lasting impacts of the pandemic will 
mean that the coming years may be tough but 
through effective communication, consultation 
and engagement, we can help to manage 
public expectations as well as understanding 
their views on our future direction.  I am 
confident that through delivery of this strategy 
we will further strengthen our engagement 
with a wider range of residents and groups 
from across the borough.

Cllr Lois Samuel

I am pleased to introduce the new 
Consultation and Engagement Strategy  
for West Devon Borough Council. 

P
age 200



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

Our communities have a central role to play in influencing 
and shaping what happens in South Hams. We recognise 
that our role as a local authority is changing, and we’re 
committed to helping people to do more for themselves, 
for each other and for their community. 

In adopting a community engagement strategy it  is our 
aim to not only reach out to the community but to ensure 
it has a sense of ownership over the future policies and 
actions of its district council.

If you want to go fast go alone,  
if you want to go far, go together  
(African Proverb) 

Why do we need a Consultation 
and Engagement Strategy?

@

news

Our communities have a central role to play in influencing 
and shaping what happens in West Devon. We recognise 
that our role as a local authority is changing, and we’re 
committed to helping people to do more for themselves, 
for each other and for their community. 

In adopting a Consultation and Engagement Strategy it  
is our aim to not only reach out to the community but  
to ensure it has a sense of ownership over the future  
policies and actions of its borough council.

P
age 201



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

What do we mean by Communities 
and Community Engagement?

Community Engagement is a planned process, which has 
the specific purpose of working with identified groups 
of people, whether they are connected by place, interest 
or identity, to encourage them to actively take part in 
making decisions about their community 

‘Communities of Place’ where people identify with a defined 
geographical area ranging from the whole borough,  a town, a parish,  
a hamlet, a street or estate.

'Communities of Identity' as defined by those people, such as  
ethnic groups, people who share a particular experience, interest or 
stake in an issue, or characteristics such as young people, older people, 
disabled people, ethnic groups, or lesbian, gay and bisexual people.

'Communities of Interest' where people share a particular experience 
or interest, which might include tenants and resident groups, parking 
permit holders, people involved in environmental projects, or people 
who come together to use services such as parks, green spaces, or 
community buildings.

Place

InterestIdentity

P
age 202



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

What are the aims and benefits of  
effective consultation and engagement?

Aims Benefits

Better communication and understanding Residents will have a better understanding and trust in the work of the council  
and the decisions we make

Stronger Communities Community members and groups are involved in work to support their area

Policy and Practice that reflects the views 
and needs of the community Innovation and change takes place through community action 

Increase customer satisfaction and sense 
of ownership of service provision 

The relationship between the council and residents is mutual, instead of residents 
being passive recipients

Increased transparency and accountability Our communities feel that we communicate honestly and openly with them, giving 
them a greater understanding of the reasons for the Council's decisions and actions 

Greater targeting of resources We have greater numbers of people interested in the change we need to make, 
and willing to help us shape that change

Stronger partnerships Residents playing a greater part in decision making 

P
age 203



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

Why is community 
engagement 
important to us? 
We are in challenging times, so it is more important 
than ever that we keep our communities informed 
and listen to their ideas. Through effective 
community engagement: 

 ¥ Residents will have a better understanding and trust in the work 
of the council and the decisions we make

 ¥ Residents playing a greater part in decision making 

 ¥ The relationship between the council and residents is mutual, 
instead of residents being passive recipients

 ¥ Community members and groups are involved in work to 
support their area

 ¥ We have greater numbers of people interested in the change we 
need to make, and willing to help us shape that change

 ¥ Innovation and change takes place through community action

Our approach  
to Community  
Engagement

 Planning – We will be clear on the purpose for the 
engagement which is based on a shared understanding of 
community needs and ambitions 

 Inclusion – we will identify and involve the people 
and organisations that are affected by the focus of the 
engagement 

 Methods – we will use methods of engagement that  
are fit for purpose (see the levels of community  
involvement below)

 Support – We will identify and overcome barriers  
to participation 

 Communication – We will communicate clearly and 
regularly with the people, organisations and communities 
affected by the engagement 

 Impact – We will assess the impact of the engagement and 
use what has been learned to improve our future community 
engagement 

 Inclusion – We will make a real effort to ensure that we 
consider how we will reach out to those in our communities 
who may struggle to be heard

P
age 204



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

What are the different  
levels of participation?

 Level Informing Consulting Involving Collaborating Empowering

A
im

 

Providing Information that 
people need to know

Capture residents views 
on issues, but the ultimate 
decision rests with the Council 

Enabling our residents to test, 
design and evaluate the work 
of the Council 

Partner with the public in 
every aspect of the decision 
including the development 
of alternatives and the 
identification of the preferred 
solution 

Promoting independence 
– enabling our residents to 
take on delivery of Council 
functions, place final decision 
making in the hands of 
community led organisations

Th
e 

In
te

nt
io

n To  keep you informed To  keep you informed, listen 
to and acknowledge concerns 
and aspirations and provide 
feedback on how public input 
influenced the decision

To work with you to ensure 
that your concerns and 
aspirations are directly 
reflected in the alternatives 
developed and provide 
feedback on how public input 
influences the decision

To  look to you for advice 
and innovative ideas in 
formulating solutions and 
incorporate your advice and 
recommendations into the 
decisions to the maximum 
possible extent

To facilitate communities 
to take responsibility for 
designing and delivering 
services themselves 

To
ol

s 

 ¥ Social media / online 
 ¥ Face-to-face local 

meetings
 ¥ Newsletters 
 ¥ Papers
 ¥ Exhibitions 
 ¥ Roadshows 
 ¥ Factsheets 
 ¥ Websites 
 ¥ Public notices

 ¥ Engagement Panel 
 ¥ Residents' Panel 
 ¥ Service User Panels
 ¥ Community Clusters
 ¥ Budget consultation 

survey 
 ¥ Corporate Strategy 

Discussions

 ¥ Budget challenge 
through community 
clusters

 ¥ Co-Production of service 
development

 ¥ Youth Council 

 ¥ Co-production 
 ¥ Residents Panel
 ¥ User involvement in 

recruitment to top posts 
 ¥ User involvement in grant 

decision making 

 ¥ Parish Plans 
 ¥ Participatory budgeting 
 ¥ User led commissioning

 

Increasing levels of community involvement 

P
age 205



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

The principles we’ll apply to 
our engagement with you

Trustworthiness

We should aim to 
build trust with 
the community by 
communicating 
clearly, honestly and 
transparently through: 

 ¥ Being clear with 
you what our 
intentions of the 
engagement are 

 ¥ Being upfront 
about how much 
influence your 
engagement will 
have 

 ¥ Reporting back 
on the results of 
the engagement 
so that you know 
what impact your 
input has had

Openness

We should be open to 
new ideas and keep 
our communities 
informed about what 
is happening at the 
Council. 

 ¥ Tell you about 
the work of the 
Council and the 
challenges faced 

 ¥ Encourage and 
listen to ideas 
about how we 
can do things 
differently 

Inclusivity

We should understand 
that innovation, vision, 
and creativity are born 
of diversity. We should 
try to consult and 
engage with a diverse 
range of people; 
especially including 
those who are often 
marginalised.

 ¥ We will identify 
and develop plans 
to reach our hard 
to reach groups 
so that your voice 
can be heard

Collaboration

We see that our 
community is facing 
many issues that 
no one group, or 
sector, can address. 
In our engagement, 
we should find 

ways of bringing 
people together 

to regenerate the 
community, and to 
build resilience for our 
borough

Learning and 
evolving

We will learn from 
the feedback we 
receive through our 
engagement to ensure 
that we continuously 
evolve 

P
age 206



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

Outcomes

KNOWLEDGE

The collective knowledge of our 
communities will help to shape ideas 
that make West Devon a great place to 
live, work and visit

AWARENESS 

Local people in our  
communities are aware of  
how and when they can  
get involved

INFLUENCE 

Our communities are able to influence 
issues that affect their communities  
and are involved in improving their 
local area

FEEDBACK 

The Council learns and evolves based 
on the engagement we undertake. 
Communities participating in 
engagement understand how their 
views have made a difference

SUPPORT

Members and staff are supported to 
involve communities effectively in 
everything we do 

INCLUSIVE

We are proactive in reaching out to 
those that are hardest to reach

news

P
age 207



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

2021/22 Delivery Plan

KNOWLEDGE

The collective knowledge of our communities helps  
to shape ideas that make West Devon a great place  
to live, work and visit.

How we'll work towards it By

Undertake mapping of partner organisations and key 
groups across the West Devon including how we currently 
engage with them and how we might engage better in  
the future

June 2021

Survey our residents and key partners to understand how 
they want to engage with the Council (linked to Corporate 
Strategy development)

May 2021

AWARENESS 

Local people in our communities are  
aware of how and when they can get involved.

How we'll work towards it By

Develop a forward plan of consultation and engagement 
activities for each year - co-ordinated with local partners  
to avoid ‘consultation fatigue’ and to join up opportunities 
to engage

April 2021

Implement a requirement for officers to consider 
Consultation and Engagement Activity through all 
Committee reports

May 2021

Review and enhance the ‘Get Involved’ web page and 
engagement portal to include greater information on 
the range of opportunities for engagement and improve 
feedback on engagement activities

September 
2021

Develop our digital communications offer through a review 
of social media to improve our reach and interaction with 
residents (use of polls etc.)

Autumn 
2021

news

The following sets out the  
specific actions that we will 
deliver during 2021/22 to support 
delivering our outcomes.

P
age 208



West Devon Borough Council | Consultation and Engagement Strategy

FEEDBACK 

The Council learns and evolves based on the  
engagement we undertake. Communities participating in 
engagement understand how their views have made a difference.

How we'll work towards it By

Introduce an online involvement tracker to provide information 
on how feedback from consultation has shaped outcomes

April 
2021

Include a review of consultation and engagement activity 
alongside the delivery plan for the following year 

May each 
year

INFLUENCE 

Our communities influence issues that affect their  
communities and are involved in improving their local area.

How we'll work towards it By

Improve access to Council committee meetings by introducing 
digital tools so that people can better follow or participate in 
meetings.

Jan 2022

INCLUSIVE

Considering how we will reach out to those in 
our communities who may struggle to be heard

How we'll work towards it By

Undertake and assessment of current barriers to 
participation in Council life and set out an action plan for 
addressing them

March 
2022

Develop approaches to reaching out to some of hardest 
to reach residents (aligned to our developing Equality 
Commitment) 

Autumn 
2021

Improve the awareness of support available to community 
groups and social enterprises in West Devon

April 
2021

SUPPORT

Councillors and officers are supported to  
involve communities effectively in everything we do.

How we'll work towards it By

Development of an officer toolkit to support delivery  
of the strategy

April 
2021

Deliver staff training on what ‘Good Engagement’ looks like – 
developing a network of staff trained in engagement across 
the Council 

May 2021

Develop a Member Engagement Toolkit to support councillors 
to promote opportunities to get involved in local activities and 
decision-making

April 
2021

Capture best practice from across the Borough and share on a 
refreshed Member Intranet

Sept 
2021

P
age 209



www.westdevon.gov.uk

P
age 210



Report to: Hub Committee   

Date: 16 March 2021 

Title: Localities Task and Finish Group Final Report 

Portfolio Area: Customer First  

Portfolio holder: Cllr Jeffrey Moody 

 

Wards Affected: All 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and clearance 
obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:  

             Upon the expiry of the Call-in period 

 

  

Authors: Cllr Barry Ratcliffe 

 

Sarah Moody  

 

Role: Chairman Localities Task and 
Finish Group 

Business Manager (Case 
Management)  

 

Contact: Sarah.moody@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Hub Committee RECOMMEND that the Business Manager for Case 
Management (in consultation with the Portfolio Holder):   

1. Carries out a review of the Locality Service structure in order to deliver 
the following: 

 
1.1 Environmental Protection Officers are incorporated into the 

Localities Service; 
1.2 close working relationships between the Localities, Parking 

Enforcement and Waste teams are formalised; 
1.3 shared officers are introduced to improve the flexibility to meet 

team demands; and  
 

Page 211



2)  Drafts a new Locality Team structure to support recommendation 1 
which will ensure: 

 
2.1 Clearly defined roles that support the delivery of scheduled tasks 

and the work of community groups, developing service level 
agreements where necessary; 

2.2 Improved office based and field support for mobile officers. 

1.       Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The Localities Task and Finish Group was set up in October 2020 to undertake 

a review of the Localities Service. 
1.2 In light of the Council’s Recovery Plan that has emerged following the COVID-

19 Pandemic, the Task and Finish Group has sought to develop a clear role 
and function for the future of the Localities Service.  The adopted Terms of 
Reference for the Task and Finish Group are set out in Appendix A to this 
report. 

1.3 Members have met several times in order to consider the strategic direction 
for the Localities team that the Council should adopt.  

1.4 The Task and Finish Group considered the roles and responsibilities of 
officers, the role of the Localities service within our community and the 
working relationships with other teams that are closely aligned to the 
Localities team. 

1.5 Having considered the current operating model and individual roles within 
the team, this report sets out the conclusions of the Task and Finish Group 
and makes recommendations as to the next steps. 

1.6 A version of this report was considered at the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee meeting held on 2 March.  At this meeting, Members 
unanimously recommended approval of each of the recommendations that 
had been generated by the Task and Finish Group. 
 

 
2.  Background  
2.1 Whilst the Overview and Scrutiny Committee receives an annual report on 

the activities of the Localities Service, the Service has not been reviewed 
since its inception in 2015. It is important to note that at this time the role of 
the Mobile Locality Officer was merely intended to “snap and send”, rather 
than resolve issues on the ground. Since then, the roles have developed into 
being much more customer focused and actively resolving issues at the first 
point of contact. 

2.2 The progress of the Task and Finish Group was delayed due to the Covid-19 
pandemic. The Localities service played an important role in the Council’s 
response to Covid-19, and were integral to the formation of Community 
Cluster groups. Their role also included the delivery of food parcels and 

Page 212



support to the most vulnerable residents. As the local and national landscape 
changed dramatically after March 2020, the Task and Finish Group reviewed 
the increased demand on Localities and considered the anticipated future 
requirements of the Service in the recovery phase of the Covid-19 response.  

2.3 It is worth noting that since the Extended Leadership Team restructure in 
December 2019, all of the teams mentioned within this report are now the 
responsibility of the Business Manager (Case Management) supported by an 
Operational team leader. 

 
3.       Actions of the Group 
3.1 Task and Finish Group Members initially met with Officers on 20 October 2020 

to review the Community Cluster response to the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
discuss the relevance of this model in shaping the future delivery of the 
Localities Service. Members determined that it would be feasible to 
incorporate some of the positive elements of the response model into 
“everyday” work routines, however feedback suggested that the Cluster model 
was more successful in some areas than others. It was acknowledged at the 
meeting that the administrative function had increased within the Team in 
recent years. 

3.2 At the Task and Finish Group meeting on 3 November 2020, Members 
considered the variety of duties that are currently carried out by the existing 
Mobile Locality officers, as well as the responsibilities of the Civil Enforcement 
team. Although the duties were deemed to be notably different, there was 
seen to be a clear overlap in the customer facing aspect of both roles, and the 
potential to create closer links between the two teams. Members also 
discussed the gaps in the current operating model for both services, and 
considered whether a change in identity/approach was needed to better fulfil 
the ambassadorial elements of the customer facing roles. Draft 
recommendations were considered on how better relationships could be 
formed between existing teams with a similar working remit. 

3.3 A final meeting was held on 21 January 2021, at which Members considered 
how the working relationships between existing teams could be formalised to 
better meet the current and future priorities of the Council. This highlighted 
the ability to facilitate a more flexible service that provided increased visibility 
within communities, as well as better support for mobile officers. Members 
also discussed the benefits of the recent structure that had been developed 
for the South Hams Localities and wider teams, and Members acknowledged 
that economies of scale would be realised by aligning the Localities services 
across both Councils. 

 
           4. Outcomes/ outputs 

4.1 Task and Finish Group Members have set out clear recommendations which 
will deliver on the emerging corporate priorities and assist Elected Members 
within their Wards to deliver a visible on street presence to our communities. 

4.2 An Operational delivery plan will be required to support the 
recommendations set out in this report with clear timescales of 
implementation. 

Page 213



4.3 As part of the Review, the Business Manager will consider the structure of the 
Localities Service in order to best achieve the recommendations as set out 
above. 

 

5 Options available and consideration of risk – future recommendations; 

5.1 The Hub Committee is asked to consider and to approve the 
recommendations as set out in this report; 

5.2 Without this review, there is a risk that efficiencies will not be achieved 
within the Localities Service and it will not deliver the service in accordance 
with the changing priorities of the Council.  

5.3 There is a reputational risk of not adopting the proposals in particular during 
the summer months when footfall in the Borough is higher. This would 
impact the street scene and public engagement with visitors and local 
Businesses. 

 
6  Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant to 
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible 
for considering and scrutinising how the Council is 
performing as an organisation and making any 
necessary recommendations to the Hub Committee. 

Financial 
 

N There are no direct implications to this report however 
Members should be aware that there may be future 
financial implications depending upon the outcome of 
the review.   

Risk N As set out in paragraph 5 above  
Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 

N  

Safeguarding N  

Community Safety, 
Crime and Disorder 

N  

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

N  

Other implications N  
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Task and Finish Group Terms of Reference 

Page 214



Localities and clusters Task and Finish group 

 

Terms of Reference – Draft  

 

1. Membership  

Task and Finish Members  

Cllr Steve Hipsey 

Cllr Nicky Heyworth 

Cllr Diana Moyse 

Cllr Barry Ratcliffe (Chair) 

Cllr Lucy Wood 

Lead Member  

Cllr Jeffrey Moody, Hub Lead Member for 
Customer First 

Officer Support: 

Steve Mullineaux, Deputy Chief Executive and 
Director of customer service 

Sarah Moody, Business Manager  

Richard Easthope, Localities Team Leader  

 

2. Purpose of the group  

The purpose of a Task and Finish Group is to either review existing and/or develop new 
Policy/Strategy.  Task and Finish Group recommendations are, in the first instance, 
considered by the Overview and Scrutiny function before then being presented to either 
the Hub or Full Council for approval. 

The purpose of this Group is to review and develop a strategic role and future function for 
the Councils Localities service. The Group will present its concluding report to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel Committee meeting.  

 

3. Role & Function  
 

 Consider options for future partnership support to the Voluntary and Community 
Sector across the West Devon. 

 Review the Locality Officers role in the Councils approach to enforcement and 
tackling environmental crime, promoting efficiencies and building better relationships 
with the Civil Enforcement Officers to improve delivery. 

 Review of Community clusters and their effectiveness to include:- 
o Elected Member engagement  
o Business engagement and support ( To include Covid-19 guidance) 
o Improved community engagement and supporting vulnerable residents 
o Deliver on the Councils objective to have a visible presence within the 

community 
o Review current tasks and roles of the Locality Engagement Officers and the 

Mobile Locality Officers 
 

 

Page 215



 

4. Governance Arrangements and Key Relationships  

The Locality Task and Finish Group is accountable to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
Committee meeting. In addition, a key relationship is that with the lead Hub Member for 
Customer First who has responsibility for Service Delivery   

5. Duration  

The Task and Finish Group will have no decision-making powers and will provide 
progress updates at every meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel to ensure that the 
development of the Localities service remains within scope and is aligned to the Councils 
recovery plan.  

 

6. Meeting and Working Practices  

The Group Chairman may call a meeting of the Group as and when required in order to 
meet deadlines and conclude the review in a timely manner. Any such meetings shall be 
held remotely (over Skype or other such technology) until such a time as a Council 
decision is taken to reinstate face to face meetings.  

Any Member of the Council may attend a Group meeting and, at the discretion of the 
Chairman, may take part in the deliberations.  

The Quorum of the Group will be 3 Members.  

 

Page 216



Document is Restricted

Page 217

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Hub Committee Forward Plan
	8 "Better Homes, Better Lives" adoption of South Hams & West Devon Housing Strategy 2021-2026
	Housing Strategy 2021_2026_final_v3
	Contents
	Foreword
	A Housing Strategy for South Hams & West Devon
	Introduction
	People
	Place

	Policy & Context
	National Housing Context
	Local Priorities
	Joint Local Plan
	Corporate Strategy
	Climate Emergency
	Other related policies and strategies


	The Evidence Base
	Better Homes, Better Lives
	Theme 1 - Housing for Place
	Place Priority 1
	Place Priority 2

	Theme 2 - Housing for People
	People Priority 1
	People Priority 2

	Resources
	How the Strategy was developed
	Monitoring of this housing strategy
	Annual Delivery Plan
	Glossary

	Appendix 2 Housing Strategy Delivery plan. Place Priority 1. pdf
	Appendix 2 Housing Strategy Delivery plan. Place Priority 2 pdf
	Appendix 2 Housing Strategy Delivery plan. People Priority 1 pdf
	Appendix 2 Housing Strategy Delivery plan. People Priority 2 pdf
	Appendix 1 West Devon Public Consultation Responses
	Appendix 2 South Hams Public Consultation Responses
	Appendix 3 Social media analysis
	Appendix 4 Supplementary responses
	EIA Housing Strategy & Homeless Strategy

	9 Community Housing - Brentor & Lamerton
	EXEMPT Community Housing Appendix 1 - Exempt Appendix
	commHousing_Appx2

	10 Month 10 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2020/2021 (to the end of January 2021)
	Appendix A Schedule of Reserves Hub Cttee 16.03.21

	11 Capital Budget Monitoring 2020/2021
	EXEMPT Appendix A WDBC 16.03.21
	EXEMPT Appendix B Cap Mon Report WDBC 16.03.21
	Appendix C - S.106 Summary WDBC as at 31.12.2020

	12 Dog Control Orders
	Appx1
	Appx2.WD Parks
	Appx2.WD generic

	13 Recommendations arising from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meeting held on 2 March 2021:
	Consultation and Engagement Appendix A - ToR
	Consultation & Engagement Appendix B  -  Strategy
	Localities Task and Finish final report
	Localities_Appx

	14 Deed of Variation in relation to Tamar Valley Mining Heritage Project

	Contents: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 27: 

	Forward Page: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 27: 

	Back page: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 27: 

	Housing for Place: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 27: 

	Housing for People: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 27: 

	Contents 1: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 26: 

	Forward Page 1: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 26: 

	Back page 1: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 26: 

	Housing for Place 1: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 26: 

	Housing for People 1: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 26: 

	Contents 2: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 31: 

	Forward Page 2: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 31: 

	Back page 2: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 31: 

	Housing for Place 2: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 31: 

	Housing for People 2: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 31: 

	Contents 3: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 32: 

	Forward Page 3: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 32: 

	Back page 3: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 32: 

	Housing for Place 3: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 32: 

	Housing for People 3: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 32: 



